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Guild Mortgage Company, a California corporation, incorporated in 1960, was our operating company prior to our initial public offering (the
“IPO”) and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Guild Holdings Company, a Delaware corporation, incorporated in 2020, in connection with a series of
reorganization transactions consummated in connection with the IPO. Prior to the consummation of the reorganization transactions and in reference to
events which took place prior to the consummation of the reorganization transactions, unless the context requires otherwise, the words “Guild,” “we,”
the “Company,” “us,” and “our” refer to Guild Mortgage Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. Subsequent to the consummation of the
reorganization transactions and in reference to events which have taken place subsequent to the consummation of the reorganization transactions,
unless the context requires otherwise, the words “Guild,” “we,” the “Company,” “us,” and “our” refer to Guild Holdings Company and its consolidated
subsidiaries.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) contains forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements reflect our
current views with respect to, among other things, future events and our financial performance. These statements are often, but not always, made
through the use of words or phrases such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “predict,” “potential,” “believe,” “will likely result,” “expect,” “continue,” “will,”
“anticipate,” “seek,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “projection,” “would” and “outlook,” or the negative version of those words or other comparable
words or phrases of a future or forward-looking nature. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts and are based on current
expectations, estimates and projections about our industry, management’s beliefs and certain assumptions made by management, many of which, by
their nature, are inherently uncertain and beyond our control. Accordingly, we caution you that any such forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, assumptions and uncertainties that are difficult to predict. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date made, actual results may prove to be materially different
from the results expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

Important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those indicated in these forward-looking statements include, but
are not limited to, those factors described below under "Summary of Risk Factors" and in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained
in this Annual Report primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks,
uncertainties and other factors described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. Moreover, we operate in a very
competitive environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that
could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report. We cannot assure you that the results, events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could differ materially
from those described in the forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this
Annual Report or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the
plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking
statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or
investments we may make.

SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This summary does not address
all of the risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, and other risks that we face, can be found below
under Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and should be carefully considered, together with other information in this Annual Report and our other filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), before making an investment decision regarding our common stock.

• A disruption in the secondary home loan market or our ability to sell the loans we originate could have a detrimental effect on our
business.

• Macroeconomic and U.S. residential real estate market conditions could materially and adversely affect our clients, origination volume,
revenue, and results of operations.
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• We highly depend on certain U.S. government-sponsored entities and government agencies, and any changes in these entities, their
guidelines or their current roles could materially and adversely affect us.

• Changes in prevailing interest rates or U.S. monetary policies may have a detrimental effect on our business. Our hedging strategies may
not be successful in mitigating interest rate risk.

• Our servicing rights are subject to termination with or without cause.
• Our existing and any future indebtedness could adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to operate our business.
• A significant disruption in the technology that supports our origination and servicing platform could harm us.
• The acquisition of Residential Mortgage Services Holdings, Inc. ("RMS") may cause our financial results to differ from expectations; we

may not be able to achieve anticipated benefits from the acquisition.
• The coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic has had, and will likely continue to have, an adverse effect on our business.
• Pressure from existing and new competitors may adversely affect us.
• Our failure to maintain or grow our historical referral relationships with our referral partners may materially and adversely affect us.
• Servicing advances can be subject to delays in recovery or may not be recoverable at all.
• From time to time our estimates of the fair value of certain assets prove to be inaccurate and we are required to write them down.
• The success and growth of our business will depend upon our ability to adapt to and implement technological changes.
• Our business may be materially and adversely affected by a cybersecurity breach or other vulnerability involving our computer systems

or those of certain of our third-party service providers.
• Operating and growing our business may require additional capital that may not be available.
• We are subject to certain operational risks, including employee or customer fraud, the obligation to repurchase sold loans in the event of

a documentation error, and data processing system failures and errors.
• We are periodically required to repurchase mortgage loans, or indemnify purchasers of our mortgage loans, including if these loans fail to

meet certain criteria or characteristics.
• Seasonality may cause fluctuations in our financial results.
• If we fail to protect our brand and reputation, our ability to grow our business and increase the volume of mortgages we originate and

service may be adversely affected.
• We may fail to comply with the complex legal and regulatory framework (including state licensing requirements) governing our mortgage

loan origination and servicing activities.
• We are controlled by McCarthy Capital Mortgage Investors, LLC (“MCMI”), and MCMI’s interests may conflict with our interests and the

interests of our other stockholders.
• We are a “controlled company” and rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements that provide protection to

stockholders of other companies.
• Our directors and executive officers have significant control over our business.
• We are a holding company and depend upon distributions from Guild Mortgage Company LLC ("GMC") to meet our obligations.
• We have a dual class common stock structure.
• We identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting.

Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Guild Holdings Company, including our consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, “Guild”, the “Company”, “we”, “us” or “our”) is a growth-oriented
mortgage company that employs a relationship-based loan sourcing strategy to execute on our mission of delivering the promise of homeownership in
neighborhoods and communities across the United States. Our business model is centered on providing a personalized mortgage-borrowing experience
that is delivered by our knowledgeable loan officers and supported by our diverse product offerings.

Guild was initially incorporated in California in 1960 as Guild Mortgage Company, and we are among the longest-operating seller-servicers in
the United States. Over the course of our operating history, we have navigated numerous economic cycles and market dislocations. We have also
expanded our retail origination operation to 49 states, and we have developed end-to-end technology systems, a reputable brand, industry expertise
and many durable relationships with our clients and members of our referral network.
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In 2007, seeing an opportunity to expand our sales and production strategy and grow our market share, a management-led partnership that
included a majority investment from Fulcrum Mortgage, LLC, now known as MCMI, acquired the Company from its founder and created a California
limited liability company, Guild Investors, LLC, as the parent entity. Following the acquisition, we embarked on a growth strategy focused on prudently
expanding our geographic footprint beyond the West Coast. In July 2021, we completed our acquisition of RMS, which expanded our local presence in
the Northeast. We expect to continue to expand our business in the geographic areas in which we already serve our clients, as well as in new markets
throughout the United States.

Immediately prior to our initial public offering in 2020, we engaged in an internal reorganization that simplified our organizational structure,
incorporating Guild Holdings Company in Delaware, making Guild Mortgage Company its wholly owned subsidiary and converted Guild Mortgage
Company to a California limited liability company.

Our business model benefits from the complementary relationship between our origination and servicing segments which, together, have
propelled our performance through interest rate and market cycles.

Our Business Model

Our origination strategy focuses on increasing our purchase-mortgage business and providing a superior personalized mortgage-borrowing
experience that encourages our clients to return to us. This is successfully executed through a combination of our experienced loan officers, our
technology platform, and diverse product offerings. Our business model provides clients with both a digital interface and an experienced team that
delivers high-tech, high-touch client service, allowing clients to engage with us in whatever format and frequency provides them the most comfort and
convenience. This strategy allows us to generate consistent origination volume through differing market environments, contributes to our servicing
segment and facilitates business from repeat clients.

Our in-house servicing platform creates opportunities to extend our relationship with clients and generates refinance and purchase volume that
replenishes run-off from our servicing portfolio. In coordination with our portfolio recapture team, our loan officers handle recapture activity for their
existing client base directly, rather than outsourcing that function through a call center. This approach creates a continuous client relationship that we
believe encourages repeat business. In addition, our scalable servicing platform provides a recurring stream of revenue that is complementary to our
origination business.

Business Segments

Origination

Retail Channel

Our retail channel, which makes up approximately 97% of our origination segment, focuses on serving our clients and referral partners in the
markets we serve. We generate revenue through gain-on-sale and fees associated with originating and selling mortgage loans to the secondary
market. We utilize warehouse facilities to fund originated loans and the mortgage loans are typically sold within 30 days of origination. After we sell
originated mortgage loans to the secondary market, we generally retain the servicing rights on mortgage loans sold.  

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 we originated $35.7 billion and $34.3 billion, respectively, in retail mortgage loan
originations.

Our loan products are underwritten using a disciplined approach that focuses on credit risk and responsible lending. Our proprietary technology
platform is regularly updated to incorporate new investor guidelines as well as state and federal regulations. These processes are designed to ensure
integrity over data and qualification requirements, facilitate the manufacturing of quality loan originations and minimize underwriting defects. The loan
products we offer include loans eligible for sale or securitization to secondary market participants such as the Federal National Mortgage Association
(“Fannie Mae”), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”) (Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, together, the “GSEs”), Government
National Mortgage Association (“GNMA” or “Ginnie Mae”), state housing agencies and other private or institutional investors. The underwriting
guidelines for these products are established by the entities that will purchase, insure or guaranty the loans (i.e., the GSEs, the United States
Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), the United States Department of Veterans Affairs (“VA”), the United States Department of
Agriculture (“USDA”), the Federal Housing Administration ("FHA"), private mortgage insurers, and institutional and private investors). The majority of
our loan products are sold to either the GSEs or Ginnie Mae.

Our success in the retail market is tied to the expertise of our loan officers and the strength of our referral partner network. We have built our
referral network by providing our clients with a personalized mortgage-borrowing experience that is delivered by a knowledgeable loan officer. Our
referral network relationships, including realtors, builders, existing clients, and financial planners, have been cultivated over
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years and are bolstered by our strong presence in the communities we serve. These referral partner network relationships enhance our ability to
generate repeat business and recapture volume.

Correspondent Channel

In addition to the retail channel of our origination segment, we maintain an active correspondent channel that purchases closed loans primarily
from small community banks and credit unions. We are able to offer a diverse product set through the correspondent channel to generate origination
volume.

We also utilize our correspondent channel to support our continued growth efforts. As we work to expand into new locations, the correspondent
channel serves as an entry point to begin building our brand, reputation, and client base.

Servicing

We have developed our in-house servicing platform and have expanded and upgraded our technology and infrastructure over time. The unique
combination of in-house servicing and proprietary technology allows for enhanced servicing practices and embedded compliance controls throughout
the system.

As of December 31, 2021, we served over 300,000 customers with an aggregate unpaid principal balance (“UPB”) of approximately $70.9
billion. Our loan servicing segment performs loan administration, collection, and default management activities, including the collection and remittance
of loan payments; response to customer inquiries; accounting for principal and interest; holding custodial (impounded) funds for the payment of
property taxes and insurance premiums; counseling delinquent borrowers; and supervising foreclosures and property dispositions.

Our servicing segment is based out of our servicing center in San Diego, California, and we are a licensed mortgage servicer in 49 states and
the District of Columbia. Our primary source of revenue for our servicing operations is based upon a stated fee per loan that varies by investor. This
fee is earned on a monthly basis as the borrower makes each payment.

As the owner of the mortgage servicing right (“MSR”), depending on the investors’ requirements and the loan program, we may be obligated to
make servicing advances to fund scheduled principal, interest, tax and insurance payments when the mortgage loan borrower has failed to make the
scheduled payments and to cover foreclosure costs and various other items required to preserve the assets being serviced.

Additionally, as the owner of the MSR, we generally have the right to solicit our clients for refinance opportunities. We leverage our technology
platform and data repository to continuously screen our servicing portfolio in an effort to anticipate borrower actions and capitalize on recapture
opportunities. When a refinance opportunity is identified, the portfolio recapture team sends that opportunity to the loan officer who originated the
existing loan and maintains the client relationship. For select refinance opportunities, our consumer direct team will originate the opportunity directly.

Our Growth Strategies

Expansion into New Markets and Products

We regularly evaluate opportunities to grow our business, including expansion into new markets through acquisitions and organic growth
through the recruitment of loan officers. Our loan officer recruitment activities leverage our technology solutions to identify and recruit purchase-
mortgage focused loan officers. We consider the needs of our clients in each of our origination channels and respond to changing circumstances in the
market for mortgage-related financing.

We have successfully completed numerous acquisitions. Historically, our potential targets have shared our values and our commitment to
innovation, creativity and collaboration. We prefer to partner with lenders that have a strong foothold in their market and a clearly defined approach to
sustaining that success. Following an acquisition, we fully integrate each business operationally, on-boarding the acquired business to our platform,
while allowing its management team to continue executing the strategy that has been successful for them in the past. After a target business has been
integrated into the Guild platform, we strive to support growth organically in the same way we do in our existing markets. We also strive to generate
synergies and support profitability by improving execution and increasing gain-on-sale margins for the businesses that we acquire.

Growing Retail Originations through Portfolio Recapture

In addition to targeting acquisitions and loan officers in new markets to grow our retail channel we also focus on recapturing our own portfolio.
Recapture exists when we refinance a current client’s loan or when we help originate a current client’s new home purchase. By doing so, we continue
the relationship with the client which presents not only an extended servicing revenue stream, but additional future origination opportunities. For the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, our recapture rate was 58% and 60%, respectively.
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Growing our Mortgage Loan Servicing Portfolio

Our strategy is to retain a client for life and one of the ways we execute this strategy is to retain the mortgage servicing right after a loan is
originated and sold to the secondary market. Through this strategy we expect to grow our overall servicing portfolio by adding new customers and
retaining current customers within the portfolio.

Internally-Developed Technology Platform Underpins Loan Officer Productivity and Fosters Repeat Business

Our technology is differentiated in that we have a proprietary integrated platform for servicing and production. As a result, we control our
lending process from start to finish and have created a personalized client experience from the time a loan officer takes an application through a loan’s
closing, and until the loan pays off and we have an opportunity to recapture the client’s next transaction. The key components of this technology stack
include:

• Guild to Go – A partner portal application that enables seamless interaction between Guild’s sales teams and our large referral partner
network by providing an easy referral process, on-demand pre-approval letters and real-time milestone tracking;

• MyKey – Our proprietary Loan Origination System (“LOS”) that facilitates program eligibility and pricing, application review,
underwriting, closing and servicing functions all on one integrated platform with built-in controls aimed to drive scalable operational
efficiencies and favorable unit economics;

• Guild360 – A sales platform that supports marketing automation, email and calendar sync, lead and loan activity tracking, portfolio,
servicing and retention campaigns, automated workflows and task assignments, texting and video functionality and predictive lead
analytics capabilities supported by third-party data integration; and    

• MyMortgage – A consumer digital interface that delivers a web- and mobile-friendly application process, document collection
capabilities, client messaging and income/asset verification options.

Our proprietary platform drives loan officer productivity, operational scale and favorable unit economics. Our experienced loan officers use this
end-to-end technology platform and our custom-built client relationship management system to find new clients, close new loans and enhance and
expand existing client relationships. This technology platform and our data repository has been developed over the course of our long operating
history. By utilizing this data to further develop our platform and to curate suggested customer touchpoints, we foster a balanced combination of
personalized and digital strategies for lead nurturing, as well as client education and communication, that we believe gives our loan officers a
competitive edge.

The majority of our technology used throughout our company is proprietary and developed internally by our own employees. We rely on a
combination of trade secret laws and contractual agreements to establish, maintain and protect our intellectual property rights and technology. We
enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and enter into confidentiality agreements with third parties,
including suppliers and other partners.

U.S. Mortgage Market and Competition

Mortgage loans are the largest class of consumer debt in the United States. According to the St. Louis Federal Reserve, there was
approximately $12.5 trillion of residential mortgage debt outstanding as of December 31, 2021. According to the Mortgage Bankers Association, 1-4
family mortgage origination volume was approximately $4.1 trillion in 2021.

The residential mortgage industry is characterized by high barriers to entry. Mortgage lenders must obtain approval from the GSEs and Ginnie
Mae and maintain various state licenses in order to originate, sell and service conventional conforming and federal and GSE-backed loans. In addition,
sophisticated technology, origination and servicing processes and regulatory expertise are required to build and manage a successful mortgage
business.

The mortgage lending market is highly competitive. We compete with large financial institutions and with other independent residential
mortgage loan producers and servicers. Competition can occur on the basis of the variety of product offerings, speed and convenience of execution in
loan origination, interest rates and fees, client experience, technical knowledge, marketing and referral relationships and recruiting of employees within
the industry. We aim to differentiate our products and services on the basis of our loan officers’ ability, leveraging our technology platform to match
customers with the loan programs that best suit their needs and providing a customer-focused and seamless borrowing experience, starting from
origination and continuing through servicing.
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The mortgage origination industry can be seasonal. Accordingly, our loan origination revenue varies from quarter to quarter and comparisons
of sequential quarters may not be meaningful.

Human Capital Resources

At the heart of our Company is our culture, grounded in strong values, innovation, creativity and collaboration. We believe our culture sets us
apart and is the backbone of our success. It has enabled us to continuously innovate and evolve to navigate the dynamic mortgage market. This has
given us the ability to attract, develop and retain top talent throughout our organization. As of December 31, 2021 we employed approximately 5,100
employees throughout the United States.

Guild is an inclusive organization and encourages open and honest dialogue across employees, clients and partners. We have a diverse
leadership team across each of our business lines. Our leadership team has an average of 18 years of industry experience, has worked at Guild for an
average of 16 years and includes top performers from the businesses that Guild has acquired. We have high employee retention, as well as a successful
recruiting program, because we empower our employees, maintain a culture that supports collaboration and development and provide our employees
with the tools and resources they need to be successful. Over the last five years, ending December 31, 2021, 79% of our originations were produced
from loan officers who are still with us today.

Employee Retention and Development

We empower our loan officers through the Company’s coaching program, Elevate, designed to support loan officers at each stage of their
careers. Elevate provides a roadmap to develop highly productive partnerships with referral networks. The program is taught by our highest producing
loan officers and allows participants to learn effective solutions from their peers. The program also furthers our goal of creating a collaborative culture
by engaging our national sales team to share best practices with their peers around the country. Participating loan officers have consistently achieved
increased average productivity following participation in the program.

We have an internal online training system, Guild University, that is focused on all aspects of employee training, including employee
development, productivity, management, and compliance.

Community Involvement

We believe strongly in supporting the communities in which we operate. To that end, Guild and its employees give back to the neighborhoods
and communities we serve through sustained investment of time and resources, including through our Guild Giving Foundation. As encouragement to
continue to give back to communities, Guild offers paid time off to our employees for volunteer hours. In addition, Guild Giving partially matches
employee contributions to charities of their choosing. Throughout our branch locations as well as our corporate headquarters in San Diego, local
community involvement is a continual part of connecting with the neighborhoods we serve. Being involved in our local communities not only drives
employee engagement, it also develops our referral network and enhances business relationships.

Employee Safety

The well-being and safety of our employees has always been a priority. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, starting in March 2020, we
moved to a remote working environment for the majority of our employees and, for those who are coming into our offices, we have instituted
additional health and safety precautions, such as restricting visitors, providing masks and mandating more frequent sanitizing of our offices. We
continue to adhere to state and local safety precautions regarding COVID-19.

Regulation

The mortgage industry is subject to a highly complex legal and regulatory framework. Our business is subject to extensive regulation and
oversight by federal, state and local governmental authorities, including the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") and various state
licensing, supervisory and administrative agencies. From time to time, we also receive requests from such governmental authorities for records,
documents and information relating to the policies, procedures and practices of our loan servicing, origination and collection activities. In addition, we
are also subject to periodic reviews and audits from the GSEs, Ginnie Mae, the CFPB, HUD, the USDA, the VA, state regulatory agencies and others.
The legal and regulatory environment in which we operate is also constantly evolving as statutes, regulations and practices, and interpretations thereof,
that are in place may be amended or otherwise change, and new statutes, regulations and practices may be enacted, adopted or implemented.

These and other laws and regulations directly affect our business and require constant compliance monitoring and internal and external audits
and examinations by federal and state regulators. We work diligently to assess and understand the implications of the complex regulatory environment
in which we operate
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and strive to meet the requirements of this constantly changing environment. We dedicate substantial resources to regulatory compliance while at the
same time striving to meet the needs and expectations of our customers, clients and other stakeholders. Notwithstanding these efforts, there can be
no assurance that we will be able to remain in compliance with these requirements. See “Risks Related to Regulatory Environment” under the section
titled “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Federal Regulation

We are subject to a number of federal consumer protection laws, including:

• the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (the “RESPA”) and Regulation X thereunder, which, among other things, (i) require certain
disclosures to borrowers regarding the costs of mortgage loans, the administration of tax and insurance escrows, the transferring of
servicing of mortgage loans, the response to consumer complaints, and payments between lenders and vendors of certain settlement
services; and (ii) prohibit giving or accepting anything of value for the referral of real estate settlement services;

• the Truth in Lending Act (the “TILA”) and Regulation Z thereunder, which, among other things, (i) require certain disclosures to
borrowers about their mortgage loans, right to rescind some transactions, notices of transfer of ownership of mortgage loans, servicing
rules involving payment processing, and adjustable rate mortgage change notices and periodic statements; (ii) require a reasonable and
good faith determination by the lender that the borrower has the ability to repay the loan; (iii) require homeownership counseling for
certain mortgage applicants and (iv) impose restrictions on loan originator compensation;

• the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (“ECOA”) and Regulation B thereunder, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of age, race, color,
sex, religion, marital status, national origin, receipt of public assistance or the exercise of any right under the Consumer Credit
Protection Act in the extension of credit and require certain disclosures to credit applicants;

• the Fair Housing Act ("Housing Act"), which prohibits discrimination in housing on the basis of race, color, sex, national origin, religion,
familial status or disability;

• Regulation N (the Mortgage Acts and Practices Advertising Rule), which prohibits deceptive claims in mortgage advertising and other
commercial communications;

• certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 ("Dodd-Frank Act"), including the
Consumer Financial Protection Act, which, among other things, prohibit unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices;

• the Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTCA"), the FTC Credit Practices Rules and the FTC Telemarketing Sales Rule, which forbids unfair or
deceptive acts or practices and certain related practices;

• the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (“TCPA”) and related laws that regulate communications via telephone, text, automatic telephone
dialing systems, and artificial and prerecorded voices;

• the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act, which establishes requirements for those who send
unsolicited commercial email;

• the Fair Credit Reporting Act ("FCRA"), as amended by the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act, and Regulation V, which, among
other things, regulate the use and reporting of information related to the credit history of borrowers;

• the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act ("HMDA") and Regulation C thereunder, which require financial institutions to collect and report
certain loan application, origination and purchase data;

• the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act ("GLBA") and Regulation P thereunder, which, among other things, require the maintenance of privacy with
respect to certain consumer data and periodic communications with consumers on privacy matters;

• the Homeowners Protection Act ("HPA"), which requires the cancellation of private mortgage insurance once certain equity levels are
reached, sets disclosure and notification requirements, and requires the return of unearned premiums;

• the Secure and Fair Enforcement for Mortgage Licensing Act (“SAFE Act”), which requires all states to enact laws requiring each
individual who originates residential mortgage loans to be licensed or registered as a mortgage loan originator;

• federal anti-money laundering laws, including the Bank Secrecy Act and the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate
Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct
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Terrorism Act, and the implementing regulations and sanctions programs of the United States Department of the Treasury;

• the Electronic Fund Transfer Act of 1978 ("EFTA") and Regulation E, thereunder, which provide certain protections for consumers
engaging in electronic fund transfers;

• federal financial protection statutes applicable to certain eligible service members, including the Military Lending Act ("MLA") and
Servicemembers Civil Relief Act ("SCRA"); and

• the Bankruptcy Code and bankruptcy injunctions and stays, which can restrict collection of debts.

We are also subject to a variety of regulatory and contractual obligations imposed by the GSEs, Ginnie Mae, the VA, the FHA, and others.

In addition, the CFPB was established on July 21, 2010 under Title X of the Dodd-Frank Act to ensure that consumers receive clear and
accurate disclosures regarding financial products and to protect consumers from unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices, among other things. The
CFPB influences the regulation of residential mortgage loan originations and servicing in several ways. The CFPB has rulemaking authority with respect
to many of the federal consumer protection laws applicable to mortgage originators and servicers, such as us, including the TILA, RESPA, and ECOA.
The CFPB has been active and continues to amend rules and regulations within its purview. For example, the CFPB has issued rules and regulations
that have expanded the scope of data required to be collected and reported for loan applicants and imposed requirements relating to repayment ability
and qualified mortgage standards. These rules impose significant compliance burdens, for example, by requiring us to collect and submit data to
regulators and to retain evidence of compliance, and any failures to comply, including any inadvertent errors, could result in the CFPB or other
regulators imposing fines on or taking other enforcement actions relating to us.

The CFPB’s jurisdiction includes those persons originating, brokering, servicing or collecting residential mortgage loans and those persons
performing loan modification or foreclosure relief services in connection with such loans. The CFPB has broad supervisory and enforcement powers with
regard to non-depository institutions, such as us, that engage in the origination and servicing of home loans. The CFPB has conducted routine
examinations of our business and we expect it to conduct future examinations. The CFPB can also bring enforcement actions, impose monetary
penalties, require remediation of practices, pursue administrative proceedings or litigation and obtain cease and desist orders for violations of
applicable federal consumer financial laws. The CFPB has been active in investigations and enforcement actions and has issued civil money penalties to
parties when the CFPB has determined that such parties have violated the laws and regulations it enforces.

State Regulation

The SAFE Act requires all states to have laws that require individual mortgage loan originators employed by non-depository institutions, such
as us, to be licensed to offer mortgage loan products. States also impose entity- and branch-level licensing obligations on us. As a result, we are
subject to various state licensing requirements. These state licensing requirements generally require individual loan originators to register in a
nationwide licensing system, submit information for a character and fitness review, submit to a criminal background check, complete a minimum
number of hours of pre-licensing education, complete an annual minimum number of hours of continuing education and successfully complete an
examination. Upon issuance of a license, we become subject to regulatory oversight, supervision, and enforcement activity to determine compliance
with applicable law. To conduct our residential mortgage operations in the United States, we are licensed in 49 states and the District of Columbia.

In addition to the above, state laws and regulations, among other things:

• require the filing of reports with regulators and compliance with state regulatory capital requirements;

• impose maximum terms, amounts and interest rates, and limit other charges;

• impose consumer privacy rights and other obligations that may require us to notify customers, employees, state attorneys general,
regulators, and others in the event of a security breach;

• regulate servicing activities, including disclosures, payment processing, loss mitigation and foreclosure, servicing fees, and escrow
account administration;

• prohibit discrimination and various forms of “predatory” lending and place obligations on lenders to substantiate that a client will derive a
tangible benefit from the proposed home financing transaction and/or have the ability to repay the loan;

• regulate whether and under what circumstances we may offer insurance and other ancillary products in connection with a lending
transaction; and
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• provide for additional consumer protections.

State laws and regulations, and interpretations thereof, vary from state to state, and these laws, regulations and interpretations may change
and/or may be vague or interpreted only rarely.

Additionally, our business is subject to numerous state laws that are continuously changing, including laws related to mobile- and internet-
based businesses, data privacy (including the California Consumer Privacy Act and similar or other data privacy laws enacted by other states) and
advertising laws. One of our subsidiaries, Mission Village Insurance Agency, is also subject to certain laws and regulations governing insurance
activities.

State attorneys general, state licensing regulators and state and local consumer protection offices also have the authority to investigate
consumer complaints, commence investigations and other formal and informal proceedings, and take enforcement actions and impose remedies on or
regarding our operations and activities.

See also “Risks Related to Regulatory Environment” under the section titled “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Available Information

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”), and file or furnish
reports, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports,
proxy statements, and other information with the SEC. These reports are available free of charge on our website at https://www.guildmortgage.com as
soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish them to the SEC. The content of our website is not intended to be incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report or in any other report or document we file and any references to these websites are intended to be inactive textual
references only. These reports are also available free of charge on the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our Class A common stock involves risks. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with
all of the other information included in this Annual Report, including the financial statements and the related notes included in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report. Our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flow, and prospects could be materially and adversely affected by any of these
risks or uncertainties. In that case, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. The
risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of or that we currently
see as immaterial may also adversely affect our business. Some statements in this Annual Report, including statements included in the following risk
factors, constitute forward-looking statements. Please refer to “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Risks Related to Our Business

A disruption in the secondary home loan market or our ability to sell the loans that we originate could have a detrimental effect on our
business.

Demand in the secondary market for home loans and our ability to sell the mortgages that we originate depend on many factors that are
beyond our control, including general economic conditions, the willingness of lenders to provide funding for and purchase home loans and changes in
regulatory requirements. Our inability to sell the mortgages that we originate in the secondary market in a timely manner and on favorable terms could
be detrimental to our business. In particular, we sell the majority of the mortgages that we originate to the GSEs and Ginnie Mae, and the gain
recognized from these sales represents a significant portion of our revenues and net earnings. If it is not possible or economical for us to continue
selling mortgages to the GSEs or other loan purchasers, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected.

Macroeconomic and U.S. residential real estate market conditions could materially and adversely affect our revenue and results of
operations.

Our business has been, and will continue to be, affected by a number of factors that are beyond our control, including the health of the U.S.
residential real estate industry, which is seasonal, cyclical, and affected by changes in general economic conditions, including the effects of the COVID-
19 pandemic. Furthermore, our clients’ and potential clients’ income, and thus their ability and willingness to make home purchases and mortgage
payments, may be negatively affected by macroeconomic factors such as inflation, unemployment, wage deflation, changes in property values and
taxes, and the availability and cost of credit. As a result, these macroeconomic factors can adversely affect our origination volume.
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Increased delinquencies could also increase the cost of servicing existing mortgages and could be detrimental to our business. Lower servicing
fees could result in decreased cash flow, and also could decrease the estimated value of our MSRs, resulting in recognition of losses when we write
down those values. In addition, an increase in delinquencies lowers the interest income we receive on cash held in collection and other accounts and
increases our obligation to advance certain principal, interest, tax, and insurance obligations owed by the delinquent mortgage loan borrower.

We highly depend on certain U.S. government-sponsored entities and government agencies, and any changes in these entities or their
current roles could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A substantial portion of the loans we originate are loans eligible for sale to the GSEs, and government insured or guaranteed loans, such as
loans backed by the FHA, the VA and the USDA, eligible for Ginnie Mae securities issuance. The future of GSEs is uncertain, including with respect to
how long they will continue to be in existence, the extent of their roles in the market and what forms they will have, and whether they will be
government agencies, government-sponsored agencies or private for-profit entities. If the operation of the GSEs is discontinued or reduced, if there is
a significant change in their capital structure, financial condition, activity levels or roles in the primary or secondary mortgage markets or in their
underwriting criteria or if we lose approvals with those agencies or our relationships with those agencies is otherwise adversely affected, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Changes in prevailing interest rates or U.S. monetary policies may have a detrimental effect on our business. Our hedging strategies
may not be successful in mitigating interest rate risk.

Our profitability is directly affected by changes in interest rates. The market value of closed loans held for sale and interest rate locks generally
changes along with interest rates. As such, volatility in prevailing interest rates may have a detrimental effect on our financial performance and results
of operations. Many factors beyond our control impact interest rates, including economic conditions, governmental monetary policies, inflation,
recession, changes in unemployment, the money supply, and disorder and instability in domestic and foreign financial markets. Changes in monetary
policies of the Federal Reserve System could influence not only consumer demand for mortgages but also the fair value of our financial assets and
liabilities.

We pursue hedging strategies to mitigate our exposure to adverse changes in interest rates, including with respect to loans held for sale and
interest rate locks. Hedging interest rate risk, however, is a complex process, requiring sophisticated models and constant monitoring, and is not a
perfect science. Due to interest rate fluctuations, hedged assets and liabilities will appreciate or depreciate in market value. The effect of this unrealized
appreciation or depreciation will generally be offset by income or loss on the derivative instruments that are linked to the hedged assets and liabilities.
If we engage in derivative transactions, we will be exposed to credit and market risk. If a counterparty fails to perform, counterparty risk exists to the
extent of the fair value gain in the derivative. Interest rate risk exists to the extent that interest rates change in ways that are significantly different
from what we expected when we entered into the derivative transaction. In addition, we may not engage in hedging strategies with respect to all or a
portion of our exposure to changes in interest rates at any given time, or may engage in hedging strategies to a degree or in a manner that is different
from that of other companies in our industry. Failure to manage interest rate risk could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our servicing rights are subject to termination with or without cause.

The servicing agreements under which we service mortgage loans for GSE and non-GSE loan purchasers require that we comply with certain
servicing guidelines and abide by certain financial covenants. Under the terms of our master servicing agreements with the GSEs and non-GSEs that
purchase the loans we originate, the loan purchasers generally retain the right to terminate us as servicer of the loans we service on their behalf, with
or without cause. If we were to have our MSRs terminated on a material portion of our servicing portfolio, or if our costs related to servicing mortgages
were increased by the way of additional fees, fines or penalties or an increase in related compliance costs, this could materially and adversely affect
our business.

Our mortgage loan origination and servicing activities rely on our loan funding facilities to fund mortgage loans and otherwise operate
our business. If one or more of those facilities are terminated, we may be unable to find replacement financing at commercially
favorable terms, or at all, which could be detrimental to our business.

We fund substantially all of the mortgage loans we close through borrowings under our loan funding facilities and funds generated by our
operations. Our borrowings are in turn generally repaid with the proceeds we receive from mortgage loan sales. We currently, and may in the future
continue to, depend upon several lenders to provide the primary funding facilities for our loans. As of the date of this Annual Report, we had twelve
warehouse lines of credit pursuant to master repurchase agreements, which provide us with an aggregate maximum borrowing capacity of
approximately $3.5 billion. Additionally, as of December 31, 2021,
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we were party to (i) a term loan credit agreement with one of our warehouse banks, which agreement is collateralized by our Fannie Mae MSRs and
provides for a term loan facility of $125.0 million (which can be increased to up to $175.0 million), (ii) a loan and security agreement with one of our
warehouse banks, which agreement is collateralized by our Ginnie Mae MSRs and provides for a revolving facility of up to $135.0 million (which can be
increased to up to $200.0 million) and (iii) a loan and security agreement with one of our warehouse banks, which agreement is collateralized by our
Freddie Mac MSRs and provides for a revolving facility of up to $65.0 million.

In the event that any of our loan funding facilities is terminated or is not renewed, or if the principal amount that may be drawn under our
funding agreements were to decrease significantly, we may be unable to find replacement financing on commercially favorable terms, or at all, which
could be detrimental to our business. Further, if we are unable to refinance or obtain additional funds for borrowing, our ability to maintain or grow our
business could be limited.

Our ability to refinance existing debt and borrow additional funds is affected by a variety of factors, including:

• limitations imposed under existing and future financing facilities that contain restrictive covenants and borrowing conditions that may
limit our ability to raise additional debt;

• a decline in liquidity in the credit markets;

• prevailing interest rates;

• the financial strength of the lenders from whom we borrow;

• the decision of lenders from whom we borrow to reduce their exposure to mortgage loans due to a change in such lenders’ strategic plan,
future lines of business or otherwise;

• the amount of eligible collateral pledged on advance facilities, which may be less than the borrowing capacity of the facility;

• the large portion of our loan funding facilities that is uncommitted;

• more stringent financial covenants in our refinanced facilities, with which we may not be able to comply; and

• accounting changes that impact calculations of covenants in our debt agreements.

If the refinancing or borrowing guidelines become more stringent and those changes result in increased costs to comply or decreased
origination volume, those changes could be detrimental to our business.

Our loan funding facilities contain covenants that include certain financial requirements, including maintenance of maximum adjusted leverage
ratio, minimum net worth, minimum tangible net worth, minimum current ratio, minimum liquidity, positive quarterly income, and other customary
debt covenants, as well as limitations on additional indebtedness, dividends, sales of assets, and declines in the mortgage loan servicing portfolio’s fair
value. A breach of these covenants can result in an event of default under these facilities and as such allow the lenders to pursue certain remedies. In
addition, our loan facilities include cross default or cross acceleration provisions that could result in most, if not all, facilities terminating if an event of
default or acceleration of maturity occurs under a facility. If we are unable to meet or maintain the necessary covenant requirements or satisfy, or
obtain waivers for, the continuing covenants, we may lose the ability to borrow under all of our financing facilities, which could be detrimental to our
business.

Our business depends on our ability to maintain and improve the technology infrastructure that supports our origination and servicing
platform, and any significant disruption in service on our platform could harm our business, brand, operating results, financial
condition and prospects.

Our ability to serve our clients depends on the reliable performance of our technology infrastructure. Interruptions, delays or failures in these
systems, whether due to adverse weather conditions, natural disasters, power loss, computer viruses, cybersecurity attacks, physical break-
ins, terrorism, hardware failures, errors in our software or otherwise, could be prolonged and could affect the security or availability of our platform
and our ability to originate and service mortgages. Furthermore, we may incur significant expense maintaining, updating, and adapting our technology
infrastructure, and our disaster recovery planning may be insufficient to prevent or mitigate these and other events or occurrences. The reliability and
security of our systems, and those of certain third parties, is important not only to facilitating our origination and servicing of mortgages, but also to
maintaining our reputation and ensuring the proper protection of our confidential and proprietary information and the data of mortgage borrowers and
other third parties that we possess or control or to which we have access. Operational failures or prolonged disruptions or delays in the availability of
our systems could harm our business, brand, reputation, operating results, financial condition, and prospects.
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The RMS acquisition may cause our financial results to differ from our expectations or the expectations of the investment community;
we may not be able to achieve anticipated benefits from the acquisition.

The ultimate success of the RMS acquisition will depend, in part, on our ability to successfully combine and integrate the businesses of RMS and
Guild, and realize the synergies and anticipated strategic, financial and other benefits from the acquisition. If we are unable to achieve these objectives
within the anticipated time frame, or at all, the value of our Class A common stock may decline.

The integration of the two companies may result in material challenges, including, without limitation:

• coordinating geographically separate organizations with increased operations in jurisdictions in which the Company previously did not
operate and subject to regulations and regulatory authorities to which the Company previously was not subject;

• undisclosed liabilities that were not discovered during the diligence process;

• managing a larger combined business;

• retaining key management and other employees and maintaining employee morale, and retaining existing business relationships with
customers, real estate professionals and other counterparties;

• the possibility of faulty assumptions underlying expectations regarding the integration process and/or our inability to integrate RMS in the
same manner, or with the same degree of success, as we have integrated past acquisitions;

• unanticipated issues in integrating information technology, communications and other systems;

• the failure of RMS to continue to grow under our ownership; and

• unforeseen expenses, costs, liabilities or delays associated with the acquisition.

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted, and could further adversely impact or disrupt our business, and its ultimate effect on our
business and financial results will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the
scope and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and its variants, actions taken or to be taken by government authorities in response to
the pandemic and the distribution of the COVID-19 vaccine.

The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected, and continues to negatively affect, the national economy and the local economies in the
communities in which we operate and has created unprecedented economic, financial, and health disruptions that have, and will likely continue to have,
an adverse effect on our business. The pandemic has also caused significant volatility and disruption in the financial markets. In the event of a
prolonged economic downturn or other economic disruption or changes in the broader economy, housing market, debt markets or otherwise, real
estate transactions, the volume of mortgages we originate, and the value of the homes that serve as collateral for the loans that we service may
decrease significantly.

The COVID-19 pandemic is also affecting our mortgage servicing operations. The federal government enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and
Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”), which allowed borrowers with federally backed loans to request a temporary mortgage forbearance. In
February 2021, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”), HUD, the VA, and the USDA announced an extension of the forbearance period of three
to six months depending on the loan type. In September 2021, HUD, the VA, and the USDA announced an extension of the period for FHA-insured,
VA-guaranteed or USDA direct loan holders to request forbearance to run concurrently with the duration of the COVID-19 national emergency. As a
result of the CARES Act forbearance requirements and the subsequent extension of federal forbearance programs, we have recorded, and expect to
record additional, increases in delinquencies in our servicing portfolio, which may require us to finance substantial amounts of advances of principal
and interest, property taxes, insurance premiums and other expenses to protect investors’ interests in the properties securing the loans. We expect
that a borrower who has experienced a loss of employment or a reduction of income may not repay the forborne payments at the end of the
forbearance period, or at all. Additionally, we were prohibited through December 31, 2021, from collecting certain servicing-related fees, such as late
fees, and initiating foreclosure proceedings. As a result, the effects of the CARES Act forbearance requirements reduced our servicing income,
increased our servicing expenses, and required significant unreimbursed cash outlays.

The COVID-19 pandemic may also affect our liquidity. We fund substantially all of the mortgage loans we close through borrowings under our
loan funding facilities. Given the broad impact of COVID-19 on the financial markets, our future ability to borrow money to fund our current and future
loan production and other cash needs is unknown. Our mortgage origination liquidity could also be affected if our lenders curtail access to uncommitted
mortgage warehouse financing capacity or impose higher costs to access such capacity. Our liquidity may be further constrained as there may be less
demand by investors to acquire our mortgage loans in the secondary market. In addition, we may be required to use significant amounts of cash to
fund advances for loans subject to forbearance requirements or that are delinquent.
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Our business operations may also be disrupted if significant portions of our workforce are unable to work effectively, including because of
illness, quarantines, government actions or other restrictive measures in connection with the pandemic. As a result of the pandemic, a significant
portion of our employees continue to work remotely. Although government authorities are in varying stages of lifting or modifying some of these
measures, partly due to the COVID-19 vaccine rollout, some may in the future reinstitute these measures or impose new, more restrictive measures if
the risks, or the perception of the risks, related to the COVID-19 pandemic worsen at any time or we experience surges from new variants. Such
restrictive measures could also slow certain aspects of our operations that depend on third parties such as appraisers, closing agents, and others for
loan-related verifications.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic affects our business, results of operations, and financial condition will ultimately depend on future
developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and duration of the pandemic and actions taken by governmental
authorities and other third parties in response to the pandemic.

Pressure from existing and new competitors may adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

We operate in a highly competitive industry that could become even more competitive due to economic, legislative, regulatory, and
technological changes. We face significant competition for clients from bank and nonbank competitors, including national and regional banks, mortgage
banking companies, financial technology companies, and correspondent lenders. Many of our competitors are significantly larger and have significantly
more resources, greater name recognition, and more extensive and established retail footprints than we do.

Our ability to compete successfully will depend on a number of factors, including our ability to build and maintain long-term client relationships
while ensuring high ethical standards and sound lending and servicing practices, the scope, relevance and pricing of products and services that we
offer, our clients’ satisfaction with our products and services, industry and general economic trends, and our ability to keep pace with technological
advances in the industry.

Our failure to compete effectively in our markets could restrain our growth or cause us to lose market share, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations. Although we have expanded our presence in the northeast
United States with our recent acquisition of RMS, we may face a competitive disadvantage as a result of our concentration primarily in the northwest
United States and will be unable, as compared to our more geographically diversified peers, to spread our operating costs across a broader market.
Furthermore, a cyclical decline in the industry’s overall level of originations, or decreased demand for loans due to a higher interest rate environment,
may lead to increased competition for remaining loan originations. Any increase in these competitive pressures could have an adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our failure to maintain or grow our historical referral relationships with our referral partners may materially and adversely affect our
business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

A substantial portion of our mortgage origination leads are sourced through an established network of referral partners with which we have
longstanding relationships. We rely on being a preferred provider to realtors, builders, and other partners with whom we have relationships. Our failure
to maintain or grow these relationships could significantly decrease our origination volume and materially and adversely affect our business, operating
results, financial condition, and prospects. In addition, changes in the real estate and home construction industries, or in the relationships between
those industries and the mortgage industry, could adversely affect our business and operating results, financial condition, and prospects. For example,
in recent years, there has been an increase in products and services designed to facilitate home sales without the involvement of realtors, and if the
role of realtors in the sales process declines, our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to adapt to that development in a manner that
preserves our loan origination leads.

We are required to make servicing advances that can be subject to delays in recovery or may not be recoverable in certain
circumstances.

During any period in which our clients are not making payments on loans we service, including during defaults, delinquencies, forbearances,
and in certain circumstances where a client prepays a loan, we generally are required under our servicing agreements to advance our own funds to pay
principal and interest, property taxes and insurance premiums, legal expenses, and other expenses. In addition, in the event a loan serviced by us
defaults or becomes delinquent, or to the extent a mortgagee under such loan is allowed to enter into a forbearance by applicable law or regulation,
the repayment to us of any advance related to such events may be delayed until the loan is repaid or refinanced or liquidation occurs. Any delay or
impairment in our ability to collect an advance may materially and adversely affect our liquidity, and delays in reimbursements of us, or our inability to
be reimbursed, for advances could be detrimental to our business. Market disruptions such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the response, including
through the CARES Act and the temporary period of
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forbearance that is being offered for clients unable to pay on certain mortgage loans, may also increase the number of defaults, delinquencies or
forbearances related to the loans we service, increasing the advances we make for such loans, which we may not recover in a timely manner or at all.
In addition, any regulatory actions that lengthen the foreclosure process could increase the amount of servicing advances that we are required to
make, lengthen the time it takes for us to be reimbursed for such advances, and increase the costs incurred during the foreclosure process. While we
have in the past utilized prepayments and payoffs to make advances, such sources, and other sources of liquidity available to us, may not be sufficient
in the future, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected as a result. As of December 31,
2021, loans representing approximately 1.1% of the loans in our servicing portfolio were in forbearance.

A substantial portion of our assets are measured at fair value. From time to time our estimates of their value prove to be inaccurate and
we are required to write them down.

We record the value of our MSRs, interest rate lock commitments (“IRLCs”), mortgage loans held for sale (“MLHS”), the contingent liabilities
related to our completed acquisitions, and our inventory of loans for which we have repurchase rights at fair value. Fair value determinations require
many assumptions and complex analyses for which we cannot control many of the underlying factors. From time to time our estimates prove to be
incorrect and we are required to write down the value of these assets, which could adversely affect our earnings, financial condition, and liquidity.

In particular, our estimates of the fair value of our MSRs are based on the cash flows projected to result from the servicing of the related
mortgage loans and continually fluctuate due to a number of factors, including prepayment rates and other market conditions that affect the number of
loans that ultimately become delinquent or are repaid or refinanced. These estimates are calculated by a third party using complex financial models
that account for a high number of variables that drive cash flows associated with MSRs and anticipate changes in those variables over the life of the
MSR. As such, the accuracy of our estimates of the fair value of our MSRs are highly dependent upon the reasonableness of the results of such models
and the variables and assumptions that we build into them. If loan delinquencies or prepayment speeds are higher than anticipated or other factors
perform worse than modeled, the recorded value of certain of our MSRs may decrease, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The success and growth of our business will depend upon our ability to adapt to and implement technological changes.

The mortgage industry is continually undergoing rapid technological change with frequent introductions of new products and services. We seek
to differentiate ourselves by the range of mortgage programs we offer and rely on our internally-developed technology to make our platform available
to our loan officers, evaluate mortgage applicants, and service loans. Our future success and growth depend, in part, upon our ability to develop new
products and services that satisfy changing client demand and use technology to provide a desirable client experience and to create additional
efficiencies in our operations. If we fail to predict demand and develop, commercially market, and achieve acceptance of attractive products and
services, our business and prospects could be adversely affected. In addition, the implementation of technological changes and upgrades to maintain
current systems and integrate new ones may also cause service interruptions, transaction processing errors and system conversion delays, may cause
us to fail to comply with applicable laws, and may cause us to incur additional expenses, which may be substantial. Failure to keep pace successfully
with technological change affecting the mortgage industry and avoid interruptions, errors and delays could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Adverse events to our clients could occur, which can result in substantial losses that could adversely affect our financial condition.

A client’s ability or willingness to repay his or her mortgage may be adversely affected by numerous factors, including a loss of or change in
employment or income, weak macro-economic conditions, increases in payment obligations to other lenders and deterioration in the value of the home
that serves as collateral for the loan. Increases in delinquencies or defaults related to these and other factors may adversely affect our business,
financial condition, liquidity and results of operations and may also cause decreased demand in the secondary market for loans originated through
Guild. In addition, higher risk loans incur greater servicing costs because they require more frequent interaction with clients and closer monitoring and
oversight. We may not be able to pass along these additional servicing costs associated with higher-risk loans to our clients and they could result in
substantial losses that could adversely affect our financial condition.

Our business could be materially and adversely affected by a cybersecurity breach or other vulnerability involving our computer
systems or those of certain of our third-party service providers.

Our systems and those of certain of our third-party service providers could be vulnerable to hardware and cybersecurity issues. Our operations
depend upon our ability to protect our computer equipment against
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damage from fire, power loss, telecommunications failure or a similar catastrophic event. We could also experience a breach by intentional or negligent
conduct on the part of employees or other sources. Any damage or failure that causes an interruption in our operations or those of our third-party
service providers could have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects. In addition, our operations depend
upon our ability to protect the computer systems and network infrastructure we use against damage from cybersecurity attacks by sophisticated third
parties with substantial computing resources and capabilities and other disruptive problems caused by the internet or other users. These disruptions
could jeopardize the security of information stored in and transmitted through our computer systems and network infrastructure, including personal or
confidential information of our clients, employees and others, which may result in significant liability and damage our reputation.

It is difficult or impossible to defend against every risk being posed by changing technologies as well as criminals intent on committing cyber-
crime and any measures we employ may not be successful in preventing, detecting or stopping attacks. The increasing sophistication and resources of
cyber criminals and other non-state threat actors and increased actions by nation-state actors make keeping up with new threats difficult and could
result in a breach of security. Controls employed by our information technology department and our third-party service providers, including cloud
vendors, could prove inadequate. A breach of our security that results in unauthorized access to our data could expose us to a disruption or challenges
relating to our daily operations, as well as to data loss, litigation, damages, fines and penalties, significant increases in compliance costs and
reputational damage, any of which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

As a result of the continuing COVID-19 pandemic, a significant portion of our employees continue to work remotely. This transition to a
prolonged remote work environment may exacerbate certain risks to our business, including increasing the stress on, and our vulnerability to
disruptions of, our technology infrastructure and computer systems, increased risk of phishing and other cybersecurity attacks, and increased risk of
unauthorized dissemination of personal or confidential information.

To the extent we or our systems rely on third-party service providers through either a connection to, or an integration with, those third-parties’
systems, the risk of cybersecurity attacks and loss, corruption or unauthorized publication of our information or the confidential information of our
clients, employees, and others, may increase. Third-party risks may include ineffective security measures, data location uncertainty, and the possibility
of data storage in inappropriate jurisdictions where laws or security measures may be inadequate.

Any or all of the issues described above could adversely affect our ability to attract new clients and continue our relationship with existing
clients and could subject us to governmental or third-party lawsuits, investigations, regulatory fines or other actions or liability, thereby harming our
business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

Operating and growing our business may require additional capital, and if capital is not available to us, our business, operating results,
financial condition, and prospects may suffer.

Operating and growing our business is expected to require further investments in our technology and operations. We may be presented with
opportunities that we want to pursue, and unforeseen challenges may present themselves, any of which could cause us to require additional capital. If
our cash needs exceed our expectations or we experience rapid growth, we could experience strain in our cash flow, which could adversely affect our
operations in the event we were unable to obtain other sources of liquidity. If we seek to raise funds through equity or debt financing, those funds may
prove to be unavailable, may only be available on terms that are not acceptable to us or may result in significant dilution to you or higher levels of
leverage. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to pursue
our business objectives and to respond to business opportunities, challenges or unforeseen circumstances could be significantly limited, and our
business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

We are subject to certain operational risks, including, but not limited to, employee or customer fraud, the obligation to repurchase sold
loans in the event of a documentation error, and data processing system failures and errors.

Employee errors and employee and client misconduct could subject us to financial losses or regulatory sanctions and seriously harm our
reputation. Misconduct by our employees could include, among other things, improper use of confidential information and fraud. It is not always
possible to prevent employee errors and misconduct or documentation errors, and the precautions we take to prevent and detect this activity may not
be effective in all cases. In addition, we rely heavily upon information supplied by third parties, including the information contained in credit
applications, property appraisals, title information and valuation, and employment and income documentation, in deciding which loans we will originate
as well as the terms of those loans. If any of the information upon which we rely is misrepresented, either fraudulently or inadvertently, and the
misrepresentation is not detected prior to the mortgage being funded, the value of that mortgage may be significantly lower than expected, or we may
fund a mortgage that we would not have funded or on terms we
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would not have extended. Whether a misrepresentation is made by the mortgage applicant or another third party, we generally bear the risk of loss
associated with such misrepresentation. A loan subject to a material misrepresentation is typically unsellable or subject to repurchase if it is sold prior
to detection of the misrepresentation. The sources of the misrepresentations are often difficult to identify, and it is often difficult to recover any of the
monetary losses we may suffer. These risks could adversely affect our business, results of operation, financial condition, and reputation.

We are periodically required to repurchase mortgage loans that we have sold, or indemnify purchasers of our mortgage loans, if these
loans fail to meet certain criteria or characteristics or under other circumstances.

At the time a loan is sold to an investor, we make certain representations and warranties. If defects are subsequently discovered in these
representations and warranties that cause a loan to no longer satisfy the applicable investor eligibility requirements, we may be required to repurchase
that loan. We are also required to indemnify several of our investors for borrowers’ prepayments and defaults. In addition, with respect to delinquent
Ginnie Mae mortgage loans that we service, we are required to repurchase such loans prior to foreclosing and liquidating the mortgaged properties
securing such loans. For the year ended December 31, 2021, Ginnie Mae accounted for 29.4% of the UPB of our servicing portfolio.

As of December 31, 2021, we have a reserve of $18.4 million for repurchase and indemnification obligations. Actual repurchase and
indemnification obligations could materially exceed the reserves we have recorded in our financial statements. There can be no guarantee that future
losses will not be in excess of the recorded liability.

Seasonality may cause fluctuations in our financial results.

The mortgage origination industry can be seasonal. We typically experience an increase in our mortgage origination activity during the second
and third quarters and reduced activity in the first and fourth quarters as homebuyers tend to purchase their homes during the spring and summer in
order to move to a new home before the start of the school year. Accordingly, our loan origination revenues vary from quarter to quarter and
comparisons of sequential quarters may not be meaningful.

If we fail to protect our brand and reputation, our ability to grow our business and increase the volume of mortgages we originate and
service may be adversely affected.

Maintaining strong brand recognition and a reputation for trustworthiness and for delivering a superior client experience is important to our
business. If we fail to protect our brand and deliver on these expectations, or if negative public opinion relating to Guild or other mortgage industry
participants resulting from actual or alleged conduct in mortgage origination, servicing or other activities, government oversight or regulation, litigation
or other matters should occur, these events could harm our reputation and damage our ability to attract and retain clients or maintain our referral
network, which could adversely affect our business.

We could be forced to incur greater expense marketing our brand or maintaining our reputation in the future to preserve our position in the
market and, even with such greater expense, we may not be successful in doing so. Many of our competitors have more resources than we do and can
spend more advertising their brands and services. If we are unable to maintain or enhance consumer awareness of our brand cost-effectively and
maintain our reputation, or otherwise experience negative publicity, our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects could be
materially and adversely affected.

We are subject to certain risks associated with investing in real estate and real estate related assets, including risks of loss from
adverse weather conditions, man-made or natural disasters, pandemics, terrorist attacks and the effects of climate change and, which
may cause disruptions in our operations and could materially and adversely affect the real estate industry generally and our business,
financial condition, liquidity and results of operations.

Weather conditions and man-made or natural disasters such as hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, pandemics,  floods, droughts, fires, and
other environmental conditions can adversely impact properties that we own or that collateralize loans we own or service, as well as properties where
we conduct business. Future adverse weather conditions and man-made or natural disasters could also adversely impact the demand for, and value of,
our assets, as well as the cost to service or manage such assets, directly impact the value of our assets through damage, destruction or loss, and
thereafter materially impact the availability or cost of insurance to protect against these events. Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence including
Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 and the resulting sanctions against Russia and certain Russian citizens, may cause consumer confidence
and spending to decrease or result in disruptions in U.S. financial markets and negatively impact the U.S. economy in general. It is not possible to
predict the broader consequences of this conflict, which could include further sanctions, embargoes, regional instability, geopolitical shifts and adverse
effects on
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macroeconomic conditions, currency exchange rates and financial markets, all of which could impact our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Potentially adverse consequences of global warming and climate change, including rising sea levels and increased intensity of extreme weather
events, could similarly have an impact on our properties and the local economies of certain areas in which we operate. Although we believe the
properties collateralizing our loan assets or underlying our MSR assets are appropriately covered by insurance, we cannot predict at this time if we or
our borrowers will be able to obtain appropriate coverage at a reasonable cost in the future, or if we will be able to continue to pass along all of the
costs of insurance. There also is a risk that one or more of our property insurers may not be able to fulfill their obligations with respect to claims
payments due to a deterioration in its financial condition or may even cancel policies due to increasing costs of providing insurance coverage in certain
geographic areas.

Certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, that result from events described above such as earthquakes, floods, hurricanes,
tornados, terrorism, acts of war, and pandemics, may also be uninsurable or not economically insurable. Inflation, changes in building codes and
ordinances, environmental considerations and other factors, including terrorism or acts of war, also might make the insurance proceeds insufficient to
repair or replace a property if it is damaged or destroyed. Under these circumstances, the insurance proceeds received might not be adequate to
restore our economic position with respect to the affected real property. Any uninsured loss could result in the loss of cash flow from, and the asset
value of, the affected property, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, liquidity, and results of operations.

Risks Related to Regulatory Environment

Our mortgage loan origination and servicing activities are subject to a highly complex legal and regulatory framework, and non-
compliance with or changes in laws and regulations governing our industry could harm our business, operating results, financial
condition, and prospects.

The mortgage industry is subject to a highly complex legal and regulatory framework. In addition to the licensing requirements for each of the
jurisdictions in which we originate or service loans, we must comply with a number of federal, state, and local consumer protection and other laws
including, among others, the TILA, RESPA, ECOA, FCRA, Housing Act, TCPA, GLBA, EFTA, SCRA, MLA, HPA, HMDA, SAFE Act, FTCA, Dodd-Frank Act,
CARES Act, federal, state and local laws designed to discourage predatory lending and servicing practices, prohibit unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or
practices, protect customer privacy, and regulate debt collection and consumer credit reporting, and state foreclosure laws. These and other laws and
regulations directly affect our business and require constant compliance monitoring, internal and external audits, and examinations by federal and
state regulators. Changes to the laws, regulations, and guidelines relating to the origination and servicing of mortgages, including those already
adopted and those that may be adopted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, their interpretation or the manner in which they are enforced, could
render our current business practices non-compliant or make compliance more difficult or expensive.

As a non-depository lending and servicing institution, we are subject to the regulatory authority of the CFPB, including, without limitation, its
authority to conduct investigations, bring enforcement actions, impose monetary penalties, require remediation of practices, pursue administrative
proceedings or litigation, and obtain cease and desist orders for violations of applicable federal consumer financial laws. The CFPB has been active in
investigations and enforcement actions, and has issued civil money penalties to parties when the CFPB has determined that such parties have violated
the laws and regulations it enforces. Our failure to comply with the federal consumer protection laws and regulations to which we are subject, whether
that failure is actual or alleged, could expose us to enforcement actions or potential litigation liabilities.

It is possible that we are not, and will not in the future be, in full compliance with current and future laws and regulations, or interpretations of
the foregoing. Our failure, or the failure of our loan officers, other employees, correspondent sellers or others with whom we have business
relationships, to operate in compliance with any of the laws, regulations, and guidelines relating to the origination, servicing, and collection of
mortgages could result in, among other things, the loss of licenses and approvals required for us to engage in the business of originating, servicing,
and collecting mortgage loans, governmental investigations and enforcement actions, damage to our brand and reputation, civil and criminal liability
and administrative penalties, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects.

The Financial Stability Oversight Council (“FSOC”) has recommended that federal and state regulators strengthen the prudential regulation of
nonbank mortgage origination and servicing companies. The FSOC has also been conducting a review of the secondary mortgage market focused on
the regulation of the GSEs. Additionally, the Conference of State Bank Supervisors (“CSBS”) has issued a proposal for enhancing regulatory prudential
standards for nonbank mortgage servicers subject to licensing and supervision by state financial regulators. The CSBS prudential regulatory proposal
includes standards for capital, liquidity, risk management, data standards and integrity, data protection and cyber risk, corporate governance, servicing
transfer requirements, and change of control requirements. To the extent that the FSOC and other regulators move
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forward with new prudential reforms of nonbank mortgage originators or servicers (including designating nonbank mortgage companies for heightened
prudential regulation by the Federal Reserve), the markets they serve, or the secondary mortgage market, it could materially affect the operating
costs, competitiveness, business plan, and prospects of our business.

Failure to comply with fair lending laws and regulations could lead to a wide variety of sanctions that could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Anti-discrimination statutes, such as the Housing Act, ECOA, and other fair lending laws and regulations prohibit creditors from discriminating
against loan applicants and borrowers based on certain characteristics, such as race, religion, and national origin. The Department of Justice and other
federal agencies, including the CFPB, are responsible for enforcing these laws and regulations. The Department of Justice has recently announced an
initiative pledging to crack down on discriminatory lending practices. In 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court confirmed that the “disparate impact” theory
applies to cases brought under the Housing Act, while emphasizing that a causal relationship must be shown between a specific policy of the defendant
and a discriminatory result that is not justified by a legitimate objective of the defendant. Although it is still unclear whether the theory applies under
the ECOA, regulatory agencies and private plaintiffs can be expected to continue to apply it to both the Housing Act and ECOA in the context of
mortgage loan lending and servicing. Compliance with anti-discrimination prohibitions, and particularly the disparate impact theory, creates a
significant administrative burden and potential liability for failure to comply. A successful regulatory challenge to our performance under these fair
lending laws and regulations could result in a wide variety of sanctions, including damages, injunctive or equitable relief, and civil money penalties. In
addition to reputational harm, such sanctions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. More
restrictive laws and regulations may be adopted in the future, and governmental bodies or courts may interpret existing laws or regulations in a more
restrictive manner, which could make compliance more difficult or expensive. Any such changes in laws, regulations or interpretations could have a
detrimental effect on our business.

We are subject to state licensing and operational requirements. Our failure to obtain and maintain the appropriate state licenses would
prohibit us from originating or servicing mortgages in those states and adversely affect our operations.

Because we are not a federally chartered depository institution, we do not benefit from exemptions to state mortgage lending, loan servicing or
debt collection licensing and regulatory requirements. In most states in which we operate, a regulatory agency or agencies regulates and enforces laws
relating to mortgage servicing companies and mortgage origination companies such as us. These rules and regulations generally require that we seek
and maintain certain licenses and comply with certain business practice standards, including requirements as to the form and content of contracts and
other documentation and the licensing of our employees. As a nonbank mortgage lender, we are subject to licensure, regulation, and supervision by
every state and district in which we do business. States examine nonbank mortgage lenders and servicers periodically, depending on state law
requirements and other factors such as the lender’s size and compliance history. These examinations may include a review of the nonbank lender’s
compliance with all federal and state consumer protection laws, compliance management system, and internal controls. Complying with this regulatory
framework requires a meaningful dedication of management and financial resources. Changes to existing state legislation or the adoption of new state
legislation, as well as our entry into new markets in states in which we had not previously operated, could increase our compliance costs. This could
render business in any one state or states cost-prohibitive and could materially affect our business and our growth strategy. Any failure to comply with
these licensing and operational requirements could have a material and adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, and
prospects.

Changes in the guidelines of the GSEs, FHA, VA, USDA, and Ginnie Mae could adversely affect our business.

We are required to follow specific guidelines and eligibility standards that impact the way we service and originate GSE and U.S. government
agency loans, including guidelines and standards with respect to credit standards for mortgage loans, our staffing levels, and other servicing practices,
and the servicing and ancillary fees that we may charge. In addition, we are required to meet certain minimum financial requirements relating to our
net worth, capital ratio, and liquidity in order to sell the loans that we originate to certain investors, including the GSEs. A change in these guidelines
could require us to expend additional resources to originate and service mortgages or make it more difficult for us to do so profitably or at all, and a
failure to meet applicable financial requirements could materially impair our ability to originate and service loans, any of which could have a material
and adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects.

In addition, changes in the nature or extent of the guarantees provided by the GSEs, Ginnie Mae, the USDA or the VA, or the insurance
provided by the FHA, or coverage provided by private mortgage insurers, could also have broad adverse market implications. Any future increases in
guarantee fees or changes to their structure or increases in the premiums we are required to pay to the FHA or private mortgage insurers for
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insurance, or to the VA or the USDA for guarantees, could increase mortgage origination costs and insurance premiums for our clients. These industry
changes could result in reduced demand for our mortgage services, resulting in reduced origination volume and profitability for us, which could
materially and adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects.

Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

We are controlled by MCMI, and MCMI’s interests may conflict with our interests and the interests of our other stockholders.

MCMI holds all of our issued and outstanding Class B common stock and controls approximately 95% of the combined voting power of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, MCMI controls any action requiring the general approval of our stockholders, including the election of our
Board of Directors, the adoption of amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and the approval of any merger or sale of substantially
all of our assets. So long as MCMI continues to directly or indirectly own a significant amount of our equity, even if such amount is less than a majority
of the combined voting power of our outstanding common stock, MCMI will continue to be able to substantially influence the outcome of votes on all
matters requiring approval by the stockholders. The interests of MCMI could conflict with or differ from our interests or the interests of our other
stockholders. For example, the concentration of ownership held by MCMI could delay, defer or prevent a change of control of our Company or impede a
merger, takeover or other business combination that may otherwise be attractive to us or our other stockholders.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") rules and, as a result, we are permitted,
and elect, to rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements that provide protection to stockholders of other
companies.

Because MCMI controls a majority of the combined voting power of our outstanding common stock, we are considered a controlled company
under the applicable rules of the NYSE. As a controlled company, we are permitted to elect not to comply with certain corporate governance
requirements of the NYSE, including the requirements that:

• a majority of our Board of Directors consist of independent directors;

• we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors; and

• we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors.

These requirements will not apply to us as long as we remain a controlled company. Accordingly, investors in our Class A common stock may
not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of the NYSE.

Our directors and executive officers have significant control over our business.

Our directors and executive officers beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, approximately 35.0% of the outstanding shares of
our Class A common stock and 100% of the outstanding shares of our Class B common stock (to the extent the Chairman of our Board of Directors
may be deemed to beneficially own all of the shares of our Class B common stock beneficially owned by MCMI), representing an aggregate of
approximately 96.8% of the combined voting power of our outstanding common stock. As a result, in addition to their day-to-day management roles,
our executive officers and directors will be able to exercise significant influence on our business as stockholders, including influence over election of
members of the Board of Directors and the authorization of other corporate actions requiring stockholder approval.

We are a holding company and depend upon distributions from GMC to meet our obligations.

We are a holding company with no material assets other than our ownership of equity interests in GMC, which is our wholly owned subsidiary.
Our ability to pay dividends and to pay taxes and cover other expenses depends on the financial results and cash flows of GMC. As the sole member of
GMC, we intend to cause GMC to make distributions to us in amounts sufficient to meet our obligations. Certain laws and regulations, however, may
result in restrictions on GMC’s ability to make distributions to us. To the extent that we need funds and GMC is restricted from making such
distributions under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of any of its financing arrangements, we may not be able to obtain funds on terms
acceptable to us or at all and as a result could suffer an adverse effect on our liquidity and financial condition.

Risks Related to our Class A Common Stock

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by our existing stockholders in the public market could cause the price of
our Class A common stock to fall.
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Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur, could
significantly reduce the market price of our Class A common stock. If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts
of our common stock (including shares of our Class B common stock that would convert to Class A common stock in connection with such sales) in the
public market, the trading price of our Class A common stock could substantially decline. Furthermore, if MCMI or our executive officers and directors
were to sell a substantial portion of the shares they hold, it could cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Our issuance of capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity incentive plans or otherwise would
dilute all other stockholders.

We may issue capital stock in the future. Any such issuance would result in dilution to all other stockholders. In the future, we may issue stock,
including as a grant of equity awards to employees, directors, and consultants under our equity incentive plans, to raise capital through equity
financings or to acquire or make investments in companies, products or technologies for which we may issue equity securities as consideration or for
financing purposes. Any such issuances of capital stock in the future may cause stockholders to experience significant dilution of their ownership
interests and the per share value of our Class A common stock to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring or paying regular cash dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future. Instead, we anticipate
that most or all of our future earnings will be retained to support our operations and finance the growth and development of our business. Any future
determination to declare and pay cash dividends, if any, will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on a variety of
factors, including applicable laws, our financial condition, results of operations, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects,
general business or financial market conditions, and other factors our Board of Directors may deem relevant. Investors should not purchase our Class
A common stock with the expectation of receiving cash dividends.

Certain provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and of Delaware law may prevent or delay an acquisition of Guild,
which could decrease the trading price of our Class A common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, and Delaware law contain provisions that are intended to deter coercive takeover practices and
inadequate takeover bids by making such practices or bids unacceptably expensive to the bidder and to encourage prospective acquirers to negotiate
with our Board of Directors rather than to attempt a hostile takeover. These provisions include, among others, those establishing:

• a dual class common stock structure, which provides MCMI with the ability to control the outcome of matters requiring stockholder
approval, even if it beneficially owns significantly less than a majority of the shares of our outstanding common stock;

• the division of our Board of Directors into three classes of directors, with each class serving a staggered three-year term, which could
have the effect of making the replacement of incumbent directors more time-consuming and difficult;

• the inability of our stockholders to call a special meeting;

• the inability of our stockholders to act by written consent after MCMI and its affiliated private equity funds cease to beneficially own a
majority of the combined voting power of our capital stock;

• rules regarding how stockholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election at stockholder meetings;

• the right of our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval;

• the inability of stockholders to remove directors without cause after MCMI, any other investment funds affiliated with MCMI, and any
company or other entity controlled by, controlling or under common control with MCMI or any such investment fund (other than any
portfolio company)cease to beneficially own a majority of the combined voting power of our capital stock; and

• the ability of our directors, not our stockholders, to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors.

In addition, because we have not elected to be exempt from Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), this provision
could also delay or prevent a change of control that stockholders may favor. Section 203 of the DGCL provides that, subject to limited exceptions, a
person that acquires, or is affiliated with a person that acquires, more than 15% of the outstanding voting stock of a Delaware corporation (an
“interested stockholder”) must not engage in any business combination with that corporation, including by
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merger, consolidation or acquisitions of additional shares, for a three-year period following the date on which the person became an interested
stockholder, unless (i) prior to such time, the board of directors of such corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that
resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder; (ii) upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming
an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of such corporation at the time the transaction
commenced (excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested
stockholder) the voting stock owned by directors who are also officers or held in employee benefit plans in which the employees do not have a
confidential right to tender or vote stock held by the plan); or (iii) on or subsequent to such time the business combination is approved by the board of
directors of such corporation and authorized at a meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock
of such corporation not owned by the interested stockholder.

We believe these provisions protect our stockholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics by requiring potential acquirers to
negotiate with our Board of Directors and by providing our Board of Directors with more time to assess any acquisition proposal. These provisions are
not intended to make Guild immune from takeovers. However, these provisions will apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some
stockholders and could delay or prevent an acquisition that our Board of Directors determines is not in the best interests of Guild and its stockholders.
These provisions may also prevent or discourage attempts to remove and replace incumbent directors.

Our Board of Directors has the ability to issue blank check preferred stock, which may discourage or impede acquisition attempts or
other transactions.

Our Board of Directors has the power, subject to applicable law, to issue series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of the
series, impede the completion of a merger, tender offer or other takeover attempt. For instance, subject to applicable law, a series of preferred stock
may impede a business combination by including class voting rights, which would enable the holder or holders of such series to block a proposed
transaction. Our Board of Directors will make any determination to issue shares of preferred stock based on its judgment as to our and our
stockholders’ best interests. Our Board of Directors, in so acting, could issue shares of preferred stock having terms which could discourage an
acquisition attempt or other transaction that some, or a majority, of the stockholders may believe to be in their best interests or in which stockholders
would have received a premium for their stock over the then-prevailing market price of the stock.

Our certificate of incorporation contains an exclusive forum provision that may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors and
officers.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that, unless the Board of Directors otherwise determines, the state courts in the State of Delaware or,
if no state court located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal court for the District of Delaware, will be the sole and exclusive forum
for any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of Guild, any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director or
officer of Guild to Guild or Guild’s stockholders, any action asserting a claim against Guild or any director or officer of Guild arising pursuant to any
provision of the DGCL or Guild’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws, or any action asserting a claim against Guild or any director or officer of Guild
governed by the internal affairs doctrine under Delaware law (collectively, the “covered actions”). This exclusive forum provision applies to all covered
actions, including any covered action in which the plaintiff chooses to assert a claim or claims under federal law in addition to a claim or claims under
Delaware law, although stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations
thereunder. This exclusive forum provision does not apply to actions that do not assert any covered Delaware state law claims, such as, for example,
any action asserting solely federal securities law claims, and the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ organizational
documents has been challenged in legal proceedings and it is possible that, in connection with claims arising under federal securities laws or otherwise,
a court could find this exclusive forum provision to be inapplicable or unenforceable.

This exclusive forum provision may limit the ability of Guild’s stockholders to bring a claim in a judicial forum that such stockholders find
favorable for disputes with Guild or Guild’s directors or officers, which may discourage such lawsuits against Guild and Guild’s directors and officers.
Alternatively, if a court were to find this exclusive forum provision inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of
actions or proceedings described above, Guild may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions or forums, which
could materially and adversely affect Guild’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

The dual class structure of our common stock may adversely affect the trading market for our Class A common stock.

We cannot predict the potential effects our dual class structure may have on our Class A common stock, such as a lower or more volatile
market price. In 2017, S&P Dow Jones and FTSE Russell announced that they
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would begin excluding most newly public companies with multiple classes of shares of common stock from being added to certain indices, including the
Russell 2000, the S&P 500, the S&P MidCap 400 and the S&P SmallCap 600. As a result, our dual class capital structure would make us ineligible for
inclusion in any of these indices, and mutual funds, exchange-traded funds and other investment vehicles that attempt to passively track these indices
likely will not invest in our stock. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that other stock indices will not take a similar approach to S&P Dow Jones or
FTSE Russell in the future. It is unclear what effect, if any, these policies will have on the valuations of publicly traded companies excluded from these
indices. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into passive strategies that seek to track certain indices, however, it is possible that exclusion
from such indices could make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could
be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company

Our quarterly and annual operating results or other operating metrics may fluctuate significantly and may not meet expectations of
research analysts, which could cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Our quarterly and annual operating results and other operating metrics have fluctuated in the past and may in the future fluctuate as a result of a
number of factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict. Period-to-period variability or unpredictability of our results
could result in our failure to meet our expectations or those of any analysts that cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other operating
results for a particular period. If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our Class A common
stock could decline significantly, and we could face litigation, including securities class action litigation.

We identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and any failure to maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting may have a material and adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting and for evaluating and
reporting on our system of internal control. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. As a public
company, we are required to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) and other rules that govern public companies. In
particular, we are required to certify our compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act beginning with this Annual Report, which requires us
to furnish annually a report by management on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, our independent
registered public accounting firm is required to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, beginning as of this Annual
Report. In connection with the preparation of our financial statements, material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting were
identified as of December 31, 2021. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected
on a timely basis.

Our management’s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting in connection with the audit of our December 31, 2021 financial
statements and internal control over financial reporting identified that we did not have a sufficient complement of personnel with requisite experience in
the design and operation of controls and did not perform an effective risk assessment, including risk of fraud. This resulted in ineffective general
information technology controls over user access and change management within the general ledger and loan systems. The deficiencies also
contributed to ineffective monitoring of consistent operation of internal control over financial reporting and ineffective evaluation of the reliability of
information used in controls. The material weaknesses described above did not result in a misstatement to our annual consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2021. However, each of these material weaknesses could in the future result in a misstatement of our financial
statement accounts or disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would
not be prevented or detected. We have taken certain measures to remediate the material weaknesses described above, including the following: (1)
investing in and continuing to hire additional finance, accounting and IT resources with appropriate knowledge and expertise to effectively operate
financial reporting processes and internal controls, (2) enhancing risk assessment, including over source systems to identify the appropriate
complement of controls to address access and other information technology specific risks, (3) designing and implementing controls to formalize roles
and review responsibilities to align with our team’s skills and experience, including over segregation of duties and information technology solutions, (4)
implementing and monitoring our approach to remediation of control activities, and (5) reporting regularly to the audit committee on the progress and
results of the remediation plan, including the identification, status, and resolution of internal control deficiencies.

We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date and may take in the future, will be sufficient to remediate the control
deficiencies that led to the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting or that they will prevent or avoid potential future material
weaknesses. These actions and
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planned actions are subject to ongoing management evaluation and will require validation and testing of the design and operating effectiveness of
internal controls over a sustained period of financial reporting cycles. In addition, even if we are successful in strengthening our controls and
procedures, in the future those controls, and procedures may not be adequate to prevent or identify irregularities or errors or to facilitate the fair
presentation of our consolidated financial statements. As a result, investors, counterparties and consumers may lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports. As a result, access to capital markets and perceptions of our creditworthiness could be adversely affected, and
the market price of our Class A common stock could decline. In addition, we could become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which
our securities are listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources. Also, the
existence of any material weakness could require management to devote significant time and incur significant expense to remediate any such material
weakness, and management may not be able to remediate any such material weakness in a timely manner, or at all. These events could have a
material and adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

If we fail to implement and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, we may not be able to meet applicable reporting
requirements, which could materially and adversely affect us.

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and are required to file reports and other information with the SEC. As a
publicly-traded company, we are required to maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports that we file with, or submit to, the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in
the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in reports filed with, or submitted to, the SEC is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Effective disclosure controls and procedures are
necessary for us to provide reliable reports, effectively prevent and detect fraud, and to operate successfully as a public company. Designing and
implementing effective disclosure controls and procedures is a continuous effort that requires significant resources and devotion of time. In designing
and evaluating disclosure controls and procedures, our management recognizes that any system of controls, however well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance, and not absolute assurance, that the desired control objectives of the system are met. In addition, the design of
any control system is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events. Because of these and other inherent limitations of
control systems, there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals in all future circumstances. We may discover
deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures that may be difficult or time consuming to remediate in a timely manner. Any failure to maintain
effective disclosure controls and procedures or to timely effect any necessary improvements thereto could cause us to fail to meet our reporting
obligations (which could affect the listing of our Class A common stock on the NYSE). Additionally, ineffective disclosure controls and procedures could
also adversely affect our ability to prevent or detect fraud, harm our reputation, and cause investors to lose confidence in our reports filed with, or
submitted to, the SEC, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our Class A common stock.

General Risk Factors

Our existing and any future indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to operate our business, our financial condition or the
results of our operations.

Our existing and any future indebtedness could have important consequences, including:

• requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow to payments on our indebtedness, which would reduce the amount of cash
flow available to fund working capital, capital expenditures or other corporate purposes;

• increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic, industry and market conditions;

• subjecting us to restrictive covenants that may reduce our ability to take certain corporate actions or obtain further debt or equity
financing;

• limiting our ability to plan for and respond to business opportunities or changes in our business or industry; and

• placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt servicing options.

Failure to make payments or comply with other covenants under our existing debt instruments could result in an event of default. If an event of
default occurs and the lender accelerates the amounts due, we may need to seek additional financing, which may not be available on acceptable terms,
in a timely manner or at all. In that event, we may not be able to make accelerated payments, and the lender could seek to enforce security interests
in the collateral securing such indebtedness, which includes substantially all of our assets.
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Our risk management strategies may not be fully effective in mitigating our risk exposures in all market environments or against all
types of risk.

We have devoted significant resources to develop our risk management policies and procedures and expect to continue to do so in the future.
Nonetheless, our risk management strategies may not be fully effective in mitigating our risk exposure in all market environments or against all types
of risk, including market, interest rate, credit, liquidity, operational, cybersecurity, legal, regulatory and compliance risks, as well as other risks that we
may not have identified or anticipated. As our products and services change and grow and the markets in which we operate evolve, our risk
management strategies may not always adapt to those changes in a timely or effective manner. Some of our methods of managing risk are based
upon our use of observed historical market behavior and management’s judgment. As a result, these methods may not predict future risk exposures,
which could be different or significantly greater than the historical measures indicate. Although we employ a broad and diversified set of risk
monitoring and risk mitigation techniques, those techniques and the judgments that accompany their application cannot anticipate every economic and
financial outcome or the timing of such outcomes. Any of these circumstances could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

If we are unable to attract, integrate and retain qualified personnel, our ability to develop and successfully grow our business could be
harmed.

Our business depends on our ability to retain our key executives and management and to hire, develop and retain qualified loan officers and
other employees. Our ability to expand our business depends on our being able to hire, train and retain sufficient numbers of employees to staff our in-
house servicing centers, as well as other personnel. Our success in recruiting highly skilled and qualified personnel can depend on factors outside of
our control, including the strength of the general economy and local employment markets and the availability of alternative forms of employment.
Furthermore, the spread of COVID-19 may adversely affect our ability to recruit and retain personnel. If the services of any of our key personnel
should become unavailable for any reason, we may not be able to identify and hire qualified persons on terms acceptable to us, which could have a
material and adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

We may from time to time be subject to litigation, which may be extremely costly to defend, could result in substantial judgment or
settlement costs and could subject us to other remedies.

From time to time, we have been, and may continue to be, involved in various legal proceedings, including, but not limited to, actions related
to our lending and servicing practices as well as alleged violations of the local, state and federal laws to which our business is subject. See "Part I,
Item 3 – Legal Proceedings.” Claims may be expensive to defend and may divert management’s time away from our operations, regardless of whether
they are meritorious or ultimately lead to a judgment against us. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully defend or resolve any
current or future litigation matters, and the resolution of such matters may result in significant financial payments by, or penalties imposed upon, us,
restrictions on our business and operations, or other remedies, in which case those litigation matters could have a material and adverse effect on our
business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office is located in San Diego, California. In addition to our San Diego office, we operate from approximately 260 branch
offices and 157 satellite offices located throughout the United States. We lease our principal executive office and each of our branch and satellite
offices. The square footage of our principal executive office is 141,696 square feet and the average square footage of our branch and satellite offices is
approximately 2,462 square feet and approximately 1,760 square feet, respectively.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are, and from time to time may become, involved in legal and regulatory proceedings or subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of
our business. We operate within highly regulated industries on a federal, state and local level and are routinely subject to various examinations and
legal and regulatory proceedings in the normal and ordinary course of business. We are not presently a party to any legal or regulatory proceedings
that in the opinion of our management, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

See Note 17 Commitments and Contingencies - Legal in Part II, Item 8 for additional information.
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information

The Company has two classes of common stock:  Class A and Class B. Class A common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol “GHLD.” There is no public market for the Company’s Class B common stock. However, under the terms of the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation, the holder of Class B common stock may convert any portion or all of the holder’s shares of Class B common stock into an equal
number of shares of Class A common stock at any time.

Holders of Record

As of March 7, 2022, there were 20,723,912 issued and outstanding shares of our Class A common stock held by 18 stockholders of record,
including Cede & Co., the nominee of the Depository Trust Company, and there were 40,333,019 issued and outstanding shares of our Class B common
stock held by one stockholder of record. The number of record holders of our Class A common stock was determined from the records of our transfer
agent and does not include beneficial owners of shares of our Class A common stock whose shares are held in the names of various security brokers,
dealers, and registered clearing agencies.

Dividends

On May 6, 2021 and November 4, 2021 our board of directors authorized and declared cash dividends (the "Special Dividends") of $1.00 per
share to the holders of our Class A and Class B common stock. The Special Dividends were paid on May 28, 2021 and December 8, 2021 to holders of
the Class A and Class B common stock of record as of the close of business on May 21, 2021, and November 22, 2021, respectively. The Company
funded the Special Dividends from cash distributions of approximately $121.1 million by GMC to the Company.

The payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent upon our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general
financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends will be within the discretion of our Board of Directors at such time. Further, our ability to
declare dividends may be limited by restrictive covenants in connection with our indebtedness.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We did not have any sales of unregistered equity securities during the year ended December 31, 2021 other than those that have been
previously reported.

Use of Proceeds

None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to highlight and supplement
data and information presented elsewhere in this Annual Report, including the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in
Part II, Item 8. The following discussion includes forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and assumptions and involve numerous
risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those described in the “Item 1A. Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report. See also “Cautionary
Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Future results could differ significantly from the historical results presented in this section.

Business and Executive Overview

We started our business in 1960 and are among the longest-operating seller servicers in the United States. We are a growth-oriented mortgage
company that employs a relationship-based loan sourcing strategy to execute our mission of delivering the promise of homeownership in
neighborhoods and communities across the United States. Our business model is centered on providing a personalized mortgage-borrowing experience
that is delivered by our knowledgeable loan officers and supported by our diverse product offerings. Throughout these individualized interactions, we
work to earn our clients’ trust and confidence as a financial partner that can help them find their way through life’s changes and build for the future.
Through steady organic growth and a series of targeted acquisitions, we grew our annual origination volume from $1.4 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2007 to $36.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021 and grew our servicing portfolio from $2.5 billion of UPB as of
December 31, 2007 to $70.9 billion of UPB as of December 31, 2021. Unless otherwise indicated, the UPB of our servicing portfolio excludes any
subserviced loans. The historical information below is provided to show compounded annual growth since 2007, when Guild Mortgage Company was
purchased from its founder by a management-led partnership that included a majority investment from MCMI.

Guild's Annual Origination Volume

___________________________
(1) CAGR is equal to the compound annual growth rate of Guild’s annual origination volume for the year ended December 31, 2007 through the year

ended December 31, 2021.
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Servicing Portfolio Growth

(UPB as of period end)

Executive Summary

This executive summary highlights selected financial information that should be considered in the context of the additional discussions below.

• Originated $36.9 billion and $35.3 billion of mortgage loans for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Lower interest rates
led to historically higher volumes across the industry throughout 2021 and 2020.

• Servicing portfolio as of December 31, 2021 was $70.9 billion of UPB compared to $60.0 billion of UPB as of December 31, 2020, with the
average size of the portfolio increasing 19.8%% over that time.

• Generated $283.8 million and $370.6 million of net income for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

• Generated $258.5 million and $523.8 million of Adjusted Net Income for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

• Generated $366.2 million and $714.3 million of Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Please see “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for further information regarding our use of the non-GAAP measures Adjusted Net Income and
Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of such measures to net income, the nearest comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

The decreases in net income, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to December 31,
2020 were primarily due to a decrease in loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net of $279.4 million. This decrease was primarily driven by a
decrease in gain on sale margins on originated loans of 98 basis points or 19.6% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to December 31,
2020. While low interest rates and increased demand for mortgage financing characterized each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
capacity constraints in the mortgage origination market were more pronounced during the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021, leading to higher gain on sale margins during the year ended December 31, 2020. Margins may continue to decrease in the future
due to increasing competition among mortgage providers which has placed additional
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pressure on pricing, but such changes will depend on future market demand, capacity and other macroeconomic factors.

The decrease in net income for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was partly offset by a
decrease in the loss related to the fair value of our MSRs, which was $101.6 million and $296.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. The fair value of our MSRs is affected by changes in mortgage rates. Declines in average mortgage rates generally results in higher
prepayment speeds and a subsequent downward adjustment to the fair value of our MSRs for the loans that still exist in our portfolio. However, when
rates decline, our origination volume generally increases as refinance opportunities increase.

According to the Mortgage Finance Forecast from the Mortgage Bankers Association (the “MBA Mortgage Finance Forecast”), average 30-year
mortgage rates increased by 30 basis points during the year ended December 31, 2021 and decreased by 90 basis points for the year ended December
31, 2020. Although interest rates increased during the year ended December 31, 2021 this increase was mostly during the fourth quarter. As such,
there was still a high volume of refinance activity throughout 2021 which resulted in a downward adjustment to the fair value of our MSRs during
2021. This was partially offset by a decrease in prepayment speeds, which resulted in an increase to the fair value of our MSRs due to model inputs
and assumptions.

Management believes that maintaining both an origination segment and a servicing segment provides us with a more balanced business model
in both rising and declining interest rate environments, compared to other industry participants that predominately focus on either origination or
servicing, instead of both. In addition, one of our business strategies is to seek to recapture mortgage transactions when our borrowers prepay their
loans. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we had a 32% purchase recapture rate, a 63% refinance recapture rate and a 58% overall recapture
rate, compared to 26%, 66% and 60%, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2020. Recapture rate is calculated as the UPB of our clients
that originated a new mortgage with us in a given period, divided by the UPB of our clients that paid off their existing mortgage and originated a new
mortgage in the same period. Purchase recapture is calculated based on those clients who originate a new mortgage for the purchase of a home, and
refinance recapture is calculated based on those clients who originate a new mortgage to refinance an existing mortgage. Overall recapture rate is
calculated as the total of our clients that originate a new mortgage with us divided by the total of our clients that paid off their existing mortgage and
originated a new mortgage. This calculation excludes clients to whom we did not actively market due to contractual prohibitions or other business
reasons.

Recent Developments

Market and Economic Overview

The Federal Reserve announced in December 2021 their intention to begin raising interest rates in 2022 and have forecasted rate hikes in
2023. We are closely monitoring interest rate movements and anticipate the increases in mortgage interest rates will lead to fewer refinancings and
lower prepayment activity in 2022. The Mortgage Bankers Association forecasted mortgage originations for purchases to grow 8% in 2022, to a record
of $1.77 trillion and they are predicting refinance originations to slow in 2022, decreasing by 63% to $861 billion from $2.35 trillion in 2021.

Supply chain challenges, including higher costs and delivery delays in building materials, and a tightening labor market continue to impact
housing starts. We expect with the limited supply of inventory for both new and existing homes we may experience lower origination in future periods.
We continue to experience intense competition in the housing and mortgage markets, and we expect this competition will continue to put pressure on
gain on sale margins and profitability.

Acquisition of RMS

On July 1, 2021, we completed our acquisition of RMS, which expanded our local presence in the Northeast. The acquisition was funded with a
combination of $185.8 million in cash and the issuance of 996,644 shares of our Class A Common stock. See Note 3 - Acquisition in Part II, Item 8 for
additional information.

Since the acquisition date our business has increased and we are integrating RMS with our ongoing operations. The integration of RMS'
operations is ongoing and is expected to be substantially complete by the end of the first quarter of 2022 and we expect to incur acquisition and
integration-related costs throughout the process. Going forward, we expect to realize cost synergies through integration.
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COVID-19 Pandemic

Business Operations and Liquidity

We continue to closely monitor the economic impact resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Although we experienced record origination
volume and increased profit margins in our origination segment during the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has had
a slight negative impact on the financial results of our servicing segment. The federal government enacted the CARES Act, which allowed borrowers
with federally backed loans to request a temporary mortgage forbearance. In February 2021, FHFA, HUD, the VA, and the USDA announced an
extension of the forbearance period of three to six months depending on the loan type. In June 2021, the CFPB finalized a rule that effectively
prohibited foreclosures before January 1, 2022, with certain limited exceptions. The final rule became effective on August 31, 2021. As a result of the
CARES Act forbearance requirements and the subsequent extension of federal forbearance programs, we may experience increases in our foreclosure
loss expenses in the future, depending on future delinquency rates in our servicing portfolio. As of December 31, 2021 the 60-plus day delinquency
rate on our servicing portfolio was 1.9%, compared to a 60-plus day delinquency rate of 3.5% as of December 31, 2020.

If we were to experience an increased delinquency rate on our servicing portfolio we may be required to finance substantial amounts of
advances of principal and interest, property taxes, insurance premiums and other expenses to protect investors’ interests in the properties securing the
loans. Although we have decreased our foreclosure loss reserve due to the decrease in the delinquency rate during the year ended December 31, 2021,
this is partially offset by an increase in our estimated per-loan losses due to expected longer foreclosure times as described further below. These
advances and payments, coupled with increased servicing costs and lower servicing revenue, have negatively affected and we expect will continue to
negatively affect our cash position. We continuously monitor the requirements around these advances and how, if at all, they impact our liquidity.
Additionally, we were prohibited through December 31, 2021 from collecting certain servicing-related fees, such as late fees, and initiating foreclosure
proceedings. As a result, the effects of the CARES Act forbearance requirements and the subsequent federal forbearance programs reduced our
servicing income and increased our servicing expenses.

As of January 31, 2022, approximately 1.1% of the loans in our servicing portfolio had elected the forbearance option compared to the industry
average of 1.3%, as reported by the Mortgage Bankers Association and, as of December 31, 2021, approximately 1.1% of the loans in our servicing
portfolio had elected the forbearance option compared to the industry average of 1.4%, as reported by the Mortgage Bankers Association. Of the 1.1%
of the loans in our servicing portfolio that had elected forbearance as of January 31, 2022, approximately 11.1% remained current on their January
payments and, of the 1.1% of the loans in our servicing portfolio that had elected forbearance as of December 31, 2021, approximately 9.8%
remained current on their December payments. We believe our portfolio has performed better than the industry average because of our in-house
servicing capabilities and timely response to the COVID-19 pandemic and that our performance is a testament to the strength of our client
relationships. Our in-house servicing team and local loan officers continue to work with our clients to understand forbearance plans and determine the
best paths forward for their unique circumstances. By maintaining relationships with our clients throughout the loan lifecycle, and supporting our
clients during times of uncertainty, we position ourselves to capture future business.

Servicing Portfolio Forbearance
(as of period end)

Source: Mortgage Bankers Association.
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Increased Liquidity

During 2021, we added one additional loan funding facility with a total facility size of $250.0 million. Effective July 1, 2021, we completed our
acquisition of RMS. RMS had approximately $400.0 million of warehouse lines of credit outstanding, which were recognized at the date of acquisition at
fair value with no change in terms. As of December 31, 2021, the aggregate available amount under our loan facilities was approximately $3.5 billion.
See “—Liquidity, Capital Resources and Cash Flows” for further information regarding our funding facilities.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic affects our business, results of operations and financial condition will ultimately depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the scope and duration of the pandemic and actions taken by
governmental authorities and other third parties in response to the pandemic.

Description of Certain Components of Financial Data

The primary components of our revenue and expenses are described below.

Our Components of Revenue

Loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net — This represents all income recognized from the time when a loan is originated until
the time when a loan is subsequently sold to an investor and includes cash and non-cash components. Each component is described below:

• Gain (loss) on sale of loans — Net proceeds from the difference between the quoted loan price committed to the client and the price
received from the investor at loan sale, net of miscellaneous investor fees charged.

• Loan origination fees — Fees collected from the client, which typically include processing, underwriting, funding, credit report, tax
service, flood certification and appraisal fees, net of any associated third-party costs.

• The fair value of the MSRs at time of sale — After a loan for which we continue to act as the servicer is sold to an investor, we record the
value of the MSR at fair value. Fair value is estimated based on the present value of future cash flows. We utilize a third-party valuation
service to determine this estimated value based on variables such as contractual servicing fees, ancillary fees, estimated prepayment
speeds, discount rate and the cost to service.

• Changes in the fair value of IRLC and MLHS — When the client accepts an interest rate lock, we record the estimated fair value of the
loan. We also evaluate several factors to determine the likelihood of the loan closing and discount the value of any interest rate lock
commitments we consider having a lower probability of closing. The probability of the loan ultimately closing changes as the stage of the
loan progresses from application to underwriting submission, loan approval and funding. Loans that close and are held for sale are
commonly referred to as mortgage loans held for sale. MLHS are also recorded at fair value. We typically determine the fair value of our
MLHS based on investor committed pricing; however, we determine the fair value of any MLHS that is not allocated to a commitment
based on current delivery trade prices.

• Changes in the fair value of forward delivery commitments — We enter into forward delivery commitments to hedge against changes in
the interest rates associated with our IRLCs and MLHS. Our hedging policies are set by our risk management function and are monitored
daily. Typically, when the fair value of an IRLC or MLHS increases, the fair value of any related forward contract decreases.

• Provision for investor reserves — At the time a loan is sold to an investor, we make certain representations and warranties. If defects are
subsequently discovered in these representations and warranties that cause a loan to no longer satisfy the applicable investor eligibility
requirements, we may be required to repurchase that loan. We are also required to indemnify several of our investors for borrowers’
prepayments and defaults. We estimate the potential for these losses based on our recent and historical loan repurchase and
indemnification experience and our success rate on appeals. We also screen market conditions for any indications of a rise in delinquency
rates, which may result in a heightened exposure to loss.

• Early pay-off fees – The amount of gain on sale premium received from the investors who purchase our loans that we must return to
those investors when loans sold to them are repaid before a specified point in time.

Loan servicing and other fees — Loan servicing and other fees consist of:
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• Loan servicing income — This represents the contractual fees that we earn by servicing loans for various investors. Fees are calculated
based on a percentage of the outstanding principal balance and are recognized into revenue as related payments are received.

• Other ancillary fees — We may also collect other ancillary fees from the client, such as late fees and nonsufficient funds fees.

• Impound interest — We are required to pay interest to our clients annually based on the average escrow account balances that we hold
in trust for the payment of their property taxes and insurance.

Valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights — We have elected to recognize MSRs at fair value. This requires that we periodically
reevaluate the valuation of our MSRs following our initial analysis at the time of sale. A third party conducts a monthly valuation of our MSRs, and we
record any changes to the fair value of our MSRs that result from changes in valuation model inputs or assumptions and collections of servicing cash
flows in accordance with such third-party analysis. Changes in the fair value of our MSRs result in an adjustment to the value of our MSRs. See
“Critical Accounting Estimates—Mortgage Servicing Rights” for additional information regarding the valuation of our MSRs.

Interest income — Interest income consists primarily of interest earned on MLHS.

Interest expense — Interest expense consists primarily of interest paid on funding and non-funding debt facilities collateralized by our MLHS
and MSRs. We define funding debt as all other debt related to operations, such as warehouse lines of credit and our early buyout facility, which we use
to repurchase certain delinquent GNMA loans. Non-funding debt includes the note agreements collateralized by our MSRs (our “MSR notes payable”).
We also record related bank charges and payoff interest expense as interest expense. Payoff interest expense is equal to the difference between what
we collect in interest from our clients and what we remit in interest to the investors who purchase the loans that we originate. For loans sold through
Agency MBS, we are required to remit a full month of interest to those investors, regardless of the date on which the client prepays during the payoff
month, resulting in additional interest expense.

Other income, net — Other income, net typically includes non-operating gains and losses.

Our Components of Expenses

Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits — Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits expense includes all payroll, incentive
compensation and employee benefits paid to our employees, as well as expenses incurred in connection with our use of employment and temporary
help agencies. Our loan officers are paid incentive compensation based on origination volume, resulting in a variable pay structure that fluctuates.

General and administrative — General and administrative expense primarily includes costs associated with professional services, attendance
at conferences and meetings, office expenses, liability insurance, business licenses and other miscellaneous costs.

In addition, within general and administrative expense, we record any adjustments to the fair value of the contingent liabilities related to our
completed acquisitions, commonly known as “earn-out payments.” These payments are estimated based on the present value of future cash flows
during the earn-out period. The current earn-out periods for our acquisitions span from three to four years, and the earn-out periods for three of our
acquisitions are still ongoing.

Occupancy, equipment and communication — Occupancy, equipment and communication includes expenses related to the commercial
office spaces we lease, as well as telephone and internet service and miscellaneous leased equipment used for operations.

Depreciation and amortization — We depreciate furniture and equipment on a straight-line basis for a period of up to five years and we
record amortization expense related to our leasehold improvements on rented space. That amortization expense is recognized over the shorter of the
lease term or the useful life of the asset. We record costs related to the maintenance of software, which consist of both internal and external costs
incurred in connection with software development and testing, as well as any costs associated with the implementation of new software. These costs
are amortized over a three-year period. We also record amortization expense related to our acquired intangible assets, which are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Provision for foreclosure losses — We may incur a loss on government loans related to unreimbursed interest and costs associated with
foreclosure. We reserve for government loans based on historical loss experience as well as for loan-specific issues related to foreclosure.

Income tax expense — We are subject to federal and state income tax. We record this expense based on our statutory federal and state tax
rates. These statutory rates are adjusted for permanent non-deductible differences and reconciliation differences from prior years. We also evaluate
material temporary differences to determine whether any additional adjustments to this expense are required.
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Key Performance Indicators

Management reviews several key performance indicators to evaluate our business results, measure our performance and identify trends to
inform our business decisions.

We use these key performance indicators to develop operational goals for managing our business. We believe that these key performance
indicators provide useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results, enhancing the overall
understanding of our past performance and future prospects. Summary data for these key performance indicators is listed below. Please refer to
“Results of Operations” for additional metrics that management reviews in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended
December 31,

Change
%

Change($ and units in thousands) 2021 2020

Origination Data
$ Total in-house origination $ 36,808,682 $ 35,185,528 $ 1,623,154 4.6 %
# Total in-house origination 124 125 (1) (0.8)%
$ Retail in-house origination $ 35,732,380 $ 34,277,631 $ 1,454,749 4.2 %
# Retail in-house origination 119 121 (2) (1.7)%
$ Retail brokered origination $ 110,101 $ 80,368 $ 29,733 37.0 %

Total originations $ 36,918,783 $ 35,265,896 $ 1,652,887 4.7 %
Gain-on-sale margin (bps) 402 500 (98) (19.6)%
Gain-on-sale margin on pull-through adjusted locked

volume (bps) 417 449 (32) (7.1)%
30-year conventional conforming par rate 3.1 % 2.8 % 0.3 % 10.7 %
Servicing Data

UPB (period end) $ 70,938,588 $ 59,969,653 $ 10,968,935 18.3 %
Loans serviced (period end) 301 271 30 11.1 %
MSR multiple (period end) 3.3 2.7 0.6 22.2 %
Weighted average coupon rate 3.3 % 3.6 % (0.3)% (8.3)%
Loan payoffs $ 18,182,882 $ 19,605,379 $ (1,422,497) (7.3)%
Loan delinquency rate 60-plus days (period end) 1.9 % 3.5 % (1.6)% (45.7)%

__________________________
Includes retail and correspondent loans and excludes brokered loans.
Brokered loans are defined as loans we originate in the retail channel that are processed by us but underwritten and closed by another lender.
These loans are typically for products we choose not to offer in-house.
Represents loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net divided by total in-house origination to derive basis points.
Represents loan origination fees and gain on sales of loans, net divided by pull-through adjusted locked volume. Pull-through adjusted locked
volume is equal to total locked volume multiplied by pull-through rates of 91.5% and 87.8% as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
We estimate the pull-through rate based on changes in pricing and actual borrower behavior using a historical analysis of loan closing data and
“fallout” data with respect to the number of commitments that have historically remained unexercised. For additional information regarding our
total locked volume and pull-through adjusted locked volume for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, see “—Results of Operations for
the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020—Revenue—Loan Origination Fees and Gain on Sale of Loans, Net.”
Represents the 30-year average conventional conforming note rate published monthly according to the MBA Mortgage Monthly Finance Forecast.
Excludes subserviced portfolios of $844.6 million as of December 31, 2020. During 2021, we sold our subservicing portfolios.
Represents a metric used to determine the relative value of our MSRs in relation to our annualized retained servicing fee. It is calculated by
dividing (a) the fair market value of our MSRs as of a specified date by (b) the weighted average annualized retained servicing fee for our
servicing portfolio as of such date. We exclude purchased MSRs from this calculation because our servicing portfolio consists primarily
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of originated MSRs and, consequently, purchased MSRs do not have a material impact on our weighted average service fee.
Represents the gross amount of UPB paid off from our servicing portfolio.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our financial statements presented in accordance with GAAP and to provide investors with additional information regarding our
GAAP financial results, we have presented in this Annual Report Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Return on Equity, which are non-
GAAP financial measures. These non-GAAP financial measures are not based on any standardized methodology prescribed by GAAP and are not
necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.

Adjusted Net Income. We define Adjusted Net Income as earnings attributable to Guild before the change in the fair value measurements
related to our MSRs, contingent liabilities related to completed acquisitions due to changes in valuation assumptions, amortization of acquired
intangible assets and stock-based compensation. We exclude these items because we believe they are non-cash expenses that are not reflective of our
core operations or indicative of our ongoing operations. Adjusted Net Income is also adjusted by applying an implied tax effect to these adjustments.
In addition we exclude the change in the fair value of MSRs due to changes in model inputs and assumptions from Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted
EBITDA below because we believe this non-cash, non-realized adjustment to net revenues is not indicative of our operating performance or results of
operations but rather reflects changes in model inputs and assumptions (e.g., prepayment speed, discount rate and cost to service assumptions) that
impact the carrying value of the Company’s MSRs from period to period.

Adjusted EBITDA. We define Adjusted EBITDA as earnings before interest (without adjustment for net warehouse interest related to loan
fundings and payoff interest related to loan prepayments), taxes, depreciation and amortization and net income attributable to the non-controlling
interest exclusive of any change in the fair value measurements of the MSRs due to valuation assumptions, contingent liabilities from business
acquisitions and stock-based compensation. We exclude these items because we believe they are non-cash expenses that are not reflective of our core
operations or indicative of our ongoing operations.

Adjusted Return on Equity. We define Adjusted Return on Equity as annualized Adjusted Net Income as a percentage of average beginning
and ending stockholders’ equity during the period.

We use these non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate our operating performance, to establish budgets and to develop operational goals for
managing our business. These non-GAAP financial measures are designed to evaluate operating results exclusive of fair value adjustments that are not
indicative of management’s operating performance. Accordingly, we believe that these financial measures provide useful information to investors and
others in understanding and evaluating our operating results, enhancing the overall understanding of our past performance and future prospects.

Our non-GAAP financial measures are not prepared in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered in isolation of, or as an alternative
to, measures prepared in accordance with GAAP. There are a number of limitations related to the use of these non-GAAP financial measures rather
than net income (loss) or net income (loss) attributable to Guild, which are the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP for Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA, and Return on Equity, which is the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP for Adjusted Return on Equity. These limitations include that these non-GAAP financial measures are
not based on a comprehensive set of accounting rules or principles and many of the adjustments to the GAAP financial measures reflect the exclusion
of items that are recurring and may be reflected in the Company’s financial results for the foreseeable future. In addition, other companies may use
other measures to evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of our non-GAAP financial measures as tools for comparison.

(8)
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The following tables reconcile Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA to net income attributable to Guild, net income and Adjusted Return
on Equity to Return on Equity, the most directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.

Reconciliation of Net Income Attributable to Guild to Adjusted Net Income
Year Ended

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020

Net income attributable to Guild $ 283,773 $ 370,577 

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest 9 — 

Net income $ 283,782 $ 370,577 
Add adjustments:

Change in fair value of MSRs due to model inputs and assumptions (49,382) 171,565 
Change in fair value of contingent liabilities due to acquisitions 4,957 31,705 

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 3,975 — 
Stock-based compensation 5,982 1,045 

Tax impact of adjustments 9,203 (51,079)

Adjusted Net Income $ 258,517 $ 523,813 

___________________________
Implied tax rate used is 26.7% and 25.0% for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA
Year Ended

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020

Net income $ 283,782 $ 370,577 
Add adjustments:

Interest expense on non-funding debt 6,180 8,417 
Income tax expense 103,149 123,493 
Depreciation and amortization 11,488 7,501 
Change in fair value of MSRs due to model inputs and assumptions (49,382) 171,565 
Change in fair value of contingent liabilities due to acquisitions 4,957 31,705 
Stock-based compensation 5,982 1,045 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 366,156 $ 714,303 

Reconciliation of Return on Equity to Adjusted Return on Equity
Year Ended

December 31,

($ in thousands, except where in percentages) 2021 2020

Numerator: Adjusted Net Income $ 258,517 $ 523,813 
Denominator: Average stockholders' equity 828,003 571,012 

Adjusted Return on Equity 31.2 % 91.7 %

Return on Equity 34.3 % 64.9 %

The following table reconciles the valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights from the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income
to the change in fair value of MSRs due to model inputs and assumptions included in the reconciliation tables above.

Reconciliation of valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights to
change in fair value of MSRs due to model inputs and assumptions

Year Ended
December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020

Valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights $ (101,572) $ (296,307)
Subtract adjustment:

Change in fair value of MSRs due to collection/realization of cash flows (150,954) (124,742)

Change in fair value of MSRs due to model inputs and assumptions $ 49,382 $ (171,565)

(1)

(1)
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Consolidated Statement of Operations
Year Ended

December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change

Revenue
Loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net $ 1,480,516 $ 1,759,871 $ (279,355) (15.9)%
Loan servicing and other fees 194,759 160,237 34,522 21.5 %
Valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights (101,572) (296,307) 194,735 (65.7)%
Interest income 64,110 57,649 6,461 11.2 %
Interest expense (61,590) (60,168) (1,422) 2.4 %
Other income, net 87 765 (678) (88.6)%

Net revenue 1,576,310 1,622,047 (45,737) (2.8)%
Expenses
Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits 1,019,790 953,758 66,032 6.9 %
General and administrative 91,291 101,948 (10,657) (10.5)%
Occupancy, equipment and communication 67,328 57,070 10,258 18.0 %
Depreciation and amortization 11,488 7,501 3,987 53.2 %
Provision for foreclosure losses (518) 7,700 (8,218) (106.7)%

Total expenses 1,189,379 1,127,977 61,402 5.4 %
Income before income tax expense 386,931 494,070 (107,139) (21.7)%
Income tax expense 103,149 123,493 (20,344) (16.5)%
Net income 283,782 370,577 (86,795) (23.4)%
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest 9 — 9 NM

Net income attributable to Guild $ 283,773 $ 370,577 $ (86,804) (23.4)%

The decrease in net income for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by
decreased revenue from loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans. This decrease in gain on sale of loans was primarily due to a decrease in the
secondary marketing spread because of greater competition within the mortgage industry and slightly higher interest rates. According to the MBA
Mortgage Finance Forecast, average 30-year mortgage rates declined approximately 90 basis points during the year ended December 31, 2020, which
led to an increase in refinance activity, and increased approximately 30 basis points during the year ended December 31, 2021, leading to slightly
lower refinance activity. Refinance activity represented 58.8% of origination volume in the U.S. mortgage market during the year ended December 31,
2021 compared to 61.4% of origination volume during the year ended December 31, 2020, according to the MBA Mortgage Finance Forecast. As
consumer demand for refinancing decreased, our gain on sale margins decreased. Our origination volume increased by $1.6 billion, or 4.6%, for the
year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, which was attributable to the acquisition of RMS. Additionally, our
income from loan servicing and other fees increased by $34.5 million or 21.5% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020. We experienced a loss in our valuation adjustments of mortgage servicing rights for each of the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020; however, this loss was lower in 2021 due to a gain of $49.4 million on the change in fair value of MSRs due to model inputs and
assumptions as compared to a loss of $171.6 million in 2020. In an increasing mortgage interest rate environment, it is typical for us to experience
upward MSR valuation adjustments due to the decreased likelihood of prepayments for the loans that still exist in our MSR portfolio. However, when
rates increase, originations tend to decrease as refinance opportunities decrease.  

Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020 primarily due to increased salaries. The increase in salaries was primarily due to an increase in the number of employees as a
result of the RMS acquisition, as well as the full year impact of the employees we hired in 2020. General and administrative expense decreased for the
year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to a downward adjustment to the fair value of the
contingent liabilities related to our completed acquisitions. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded $5.0 million of expense related to
earn-out valuation adjustments compared to $31.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2020. Conversely, there was an increase in legal,
accounting, and other costs related to becoming a public company. Occupancy, equipment and occupation expense increased primarily due to our
expanded presence in the northeast United States with our recent acquisition of RMS.
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Revenue

Loan Origination Fees and Gain on Sale of Loans, Net

The table below provides additional detail regarding the loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net for the periods presented.

Year Ended
December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change

Gain on sale of loans $ 1,190,807 $ 1,229,852 $ (39,045) (3.2)%
Loan origination fees 109,413 111,010 (1,597) (1.4)%
Fair value of originated MSRs 319,072 308,042 11,030 3.6 %
Fair value adjustment to MLHS and IRLCs (170,720) 151,465 (322,185) NM
Changes in fair value of forward commitments 42,033 (33,407) 75,440 NM
Provision for investor reserves (10,089) (7,091) (2,998) 42.3 %
Total loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net $ 1,480,516 $ 1,759,871 $ (279,355) (15.9)%

The table below provides additional detail regarding the composition of our origination volume and other key performance indicators for the
periods presented.

Year Ended
December 31,

($ and units in thousands) 2021 2020 Change % Change

Loan origination volume by type:
Conventional conforming $ 25,305,881 $ 24,479,231 $ 826,650 3.4 %
Government 8,526,290 8,340,279 186,011 2.2 %
State housing 1,697,737 1,916,033 (218,296) (11.4) %
Non-agency 1,278,774 449,985 828,789 184.2 %

Total in-house originations $ 36,808,682 $ 35,185,528 $ 1,623,154 4.6 %

Brokered loans $ 110,101 $ 80,368 $ 29,733 37.0 %
Total originations $ 36,918,783 $ 35,265,896 $ 1,652,887 4.7 %
In-house loans closed 124 125 (1) (0.8) %
Average loan amount $ 297 $ 281 $ 16 5.7 %
Purchase 54.6 % 46.2 % 8.4 % 18.2 %
Refinance 45.4 % 53.8 % (8.4)% (15.6) %
Service retained 84.1 % 90.4 % (6.3)% (7.0) %
Service released 15.9 % 9.6 % 6.3 % 65.6 %
Gain-on-sale margin on originations (bps) 402 500 (98) (19.6) %
Total locked volume $ 38,833,082 $ 44,668,986 $ (5,835,904) (13.1) %
Pull-through adjusted lock volume $ 35,537,505 $ 39,200,359 $ (3,662,854) (9.3) %
Gain on sale margin on pull-through adjusted locked

volume (bps) 417 449 (32) (7.1) %
Weighted average loan-to-value 78.8 % 79.9 % (1.1)% (1.4) %
Weighted average credit score 742 747 (5) (0.7) %
Weighted average note rate 3.1 % 3.2 % (0.1)% (3.1) %
Days application to close 52 51 1 2.0 %
Days close to purchase by investors 16 15 1 6.7 %
Purchase recapture rate 32.2 % 25.8 % 6.4 % 24.8 %
Refinance recapture rate 62.8 % 65.6 % (2.8)% (4.3) %

___________________________
Includes retail and correspondent loans and excludes brokered loans.
Represents loans sold for which we continue to act as the servicer.
Represents loans sold for which we do not continue to act as the servicer.
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Represents loan origination fees and gain on sales of loans, net divided by total in-house origination to derive basis points.
Total locked volume represents the aggregate dollar value of the potential loans for which the Company has agreed to extend credit to
consumers at specified rates for a specified period of time, subject to certain contingencies that are described in the IRLCs between the
Company and each of those consumers. The total locked volume for a given period is representative of the IRLCs that the Company has initially
entered into during that period.
Pull-through adjusted lock volume is equal to total locked volume multiplied by pull-through rates of 91.5% and 87.8% for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. We estimate the pull-through rate based on changes in pricing and actual borrower
behavior using a historical analysis of loan closing data and “fallout” data with respect to the number of commitments that have historically
remained unexercised.
Represents loan origination fees and gain on sales of loans, net divided by pull-through adjusted locked volume.

The decrease in total loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net for the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by a
$170.7 million loss in the recorded fair value of our MLHS and IRLCs compared to a gain of $151.5 million in the recorded fair value for the year ended
December 31, 2020. This was partially offset by an increase in loan sales of $3.2 billion or 9.4%. Total volume of IRLCs during the year ended
December 31, 2021 was $38.8 billion compared to $44.7 billion for the year ended December 31, 2020. In 2020, interest rates decreased which led to
significant increases in volume across the mortgage industry. This also led to capacity constraints amongst mortgagors and higher gain on sale
margins. In 2021, volume across the industry began to decrease especially towards the end of the year. The capacity constraints amongst mortgagors
started to diminish and, as a result, such companies started to lower their margins through pricing. This is reflective in our gain on sale decreasing
from 500 basis points during the year ended December 31, 2020 to 402 basis points during the year ending December 31, 2021.

Loan Servicing and Other Fees

The table below provides additional details regarding our loan servicing and other fees for the periods presented.

Year Ended 
December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change
Servicing fee income $ 189,097 $ 155,362 $ 33,735 21.7 %
Other ancillary fees 5,997 5,659 338 6.0 %
Loan modification fees 1,502 1,008 494 49.0 %
Interest on impound accounts (1,837) (1,792) (45) 2.5 %
Total loan servicing and other fees $ 194,759 $ 160,237 $ 34,522 21.5 %
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The table below provides additional details regarding our servicing portfolio composition and key performance indicators for the period
presented.

Year Ended
December 31,

($ and units in thousands) 2021 2020 Change % Change
Beginning UPB of servicing portfolio $ 59,969,653 $ 49,326,579 $ 10,643,074 21.6 %
New UPB origination additions 36,808,682 35,185,528 1,623,154 4.6 %
Less:
UPB originations sold service released $ 5,621,708 $ 3,377,997 $ 2,243,711 66.4 %

Loan payoffs 18,182,882 19,605,379 (1,422,497) (7.3)%
Loan principal reductions 2,013,859 1,512,002 501,857 33.2 %
Loan foreclosures 21,298 47,076 (25,778) (54.8)%

Ending UPB of servicing portfolio $ 70,938,588 $ 59,969,653 $ 10,968,935 18.3 %
Average UPB of servicing portfolio $ 65,454,121 $ 54,648,116 $ 10,806,005 19.8 %
Weighted average servicing fee 0.30 % 0.30 % — 0.0 %
Weighted average coupon rate 3.3 % 3.6 % (0.3)% (8.3)%
Weighted average prepayment speed 13.5 % 18.8 % (5.3)% (28.2)%
Weighted average credit score 734 730 4.0 0.5 %
Weighted average loan age (in months) 20.8 23.1 (2.3) (10.0)%
Weighted average loan-to-value 80.0 % 82.1 % (2.1)% (2.6)%
MSR multiple (period end) 3.3 2.7 0.6 22.2 %
Loans serviced (period end) 301 271 30.0 11.1 %
Loans delinquent 60-plus days (period end) 5.7 10.0 (4.3) (43.0)%
Loan delinquency rate 60-plus days (period end) 1.9 % 3.5 % (1.6)% (45.7)%

___________________________
Excludes subserviced portfolios of $844.6 million at December 31, 2020. During 2021, we sold our subservicing portfolios.
Includes all in-house loans originated in period, irrespective if it is eventually sold, service retained or service released.
Represents loans sold for which we do not continue to act as the servicer of the loan.
Represents the percentage of UPB that will pay off ahead of time in each period, calculated as an annual rate. This estimate is calculated by our
third-party valuation provider.
Represents a metric used to determine the relative value of our MSRs in relation to our annualized retained servicing fee. It is calculated by
dividing (a) the fair market value of our MSRs as of a specified date by (b) the weighted average annualized retained servicing fee for our
servicing portfolio as of such date. We exclude purchased MSRs from this calculation because our servicing portfolio consists primarily of
originated MSRs and, consequently, purchased MSRs do not have a material impact on our weighted average service fee.

Total loan servicing and other fees increased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 due to
the 19.8% increase in our average servicing portfolio over the same time period and the increase in the number of loans serviced. The number of
customers in our servicing portfolio who requested forbearance relief under the CARES Act steadily declined during 2021. As customers exited
forbearance, we resumed collecting servicing fees and ancillary income from those customers.

Valuation Adjustment of Mortgage Servicing Rights

The table below presents our MSR valuation adjustment for the periods presented.
Year Ended

December 31,
($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change
MSR valuation adjustment $ (101,572) $ (296,307) $ 194,735 (65.7)%

The fair value of our MSRs generally declines as interest rates decline and prepayments increase. Conversely, the fair value of our MSRs
generally increases as interest rates increase and prepayments decrease. The valuation adjustments related to MSRs also include losses related to loan
prepayments. During the year
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ended December 31, 2020, interest rates declined 90 basis points, which contributed to the higher valuation losses, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021 when interest rates increased 30 basis points. However, the increase in the fair value of our MSRs from slightly higher interest
rates was more than offset by high loan prepayments due to a low interest rate environment throughout the first three quarters of 2021, resulting in an
overall decrease in the fair value of our MSRs during the year ended December 31, 2021. The fair value of our mortgage servicing rights asset was 95
basis points of our servicing portfolio at December 31, 2021 compared to 75 basis points at December 31, 2020.

Interest Income

 
Year Ended

December 31,
($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change

Interest income, funding $ 55,395 $ 48,205 7,190 14.9 %

Interest income earnings credit 3,044 3,292 (248) (7.5)%

Wire transfer fees 5,671 6,152 (481) (7.8)%

Total interest income $ 64,110 $ 57,649 $ 6,461 11.2 %

The increase in interest income, funding for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020 is primarily due to higher
daily average loan balances in our mortgage loans held for sale and increases in origination volume.

Interest Expense

 
Year Ended

December 31,
($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change
Interest expense, funding facilities $ (33,182) $ (31,007) (2,175) 7.0 %
Interest expense, other financing (7,415) (9,441) 2,026 (21.5)%
Bank servicing charges (11,205) (8,559) (2,646) 30.9 %
Payoff interest expense (9,691) (10,352) 661 (6.4)%
Miscellaneous interest expense (97) (809) 712 (88.0)%
Total interest expense $ (61,590) $ (60,168) $ (1,422) 2.4 %

The increase in interest expense, funding facilities for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was
due to increased borrowings on our warehouse lines of credit facilities to support our increased origination volume. The increase in bank servicing
charges was due to higher facility fees associated with increasing our warehouse capacity along with additional fees incurred with our change in GNMA
custodian during 2021. These increases were partly offset by a decrease in interest expense, other financing due to negotiating more favorable terms
on our MSR notes payable.

Summary of Expenses

Year Ended
December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change

Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits $ 1,019,790 $ 953,758 $ 66,032 6.9 %
General and administrative 91,291 101,948 (10,657) (10.5)%
Occupancy, equipment and communication 67,328 57,070 10,258 18.0 %
Depreciation and amortization 11,488 7,501 3,987 53.2 %
Provision for foreclosure losses (518) 7,700 (8,218) (106.7)%
Total expenses $ 1,189,379 $ 1,127,977 $ 61,402 5.4 %
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Salaries, Incentive Compensation and Benefits

Salaries, Incentive Compensation and Benefits
Year Ended

December 31,
($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change
Incentive compensation $ 558,565 $ 558,240 $ 325 0.1 %
Salaries 353,793 279,482 74,311 26.6 %
Benefits 107,432 116,036 (8,604) (7.4) %
Total salaries, incentive compensation and benefits expense $ 1,019,790 $ 953,758 $ 66,032 6.9 %

Salaries expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to an
increase in the number of employees following the RMS acquisition and increased payments for variable bonus and overtime to support the increase in
our servicing volume during the period. We also hired additional permanent and temporary employees throughout 2020.

Benefits expense decreased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to a
decrease in the fair value of the deferred compensation plan for certain executive employees of the Company of $26.1 million. Prior to becoming a
public company, the fair value of the deferred compensation plan was based on the Company's net worth. Subsequent to becoming a public company,
the fair value of the deferred compensation plan is based on investments held in money market funds, which did not experience a significant change
during 2021. Additionally, employment taxes increased approximately $8.0 million and group health insurance and related employee benefits increased
approximately $15.4 million due to increased headcount.

General and Administrative

General and Administrative Expense
Year Ended

December 31,
($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change
Contingent liability fair value adjustment $ 4,957 $ 31,705 $ (26,748) (84.4)%
Professional fees 51,204 36,593 14,611 39.9 %
Advertising and promotions 17,856 17,249 607 3.5 %
Office supplies, travel and entertainment 10,976 8,553 2,423 28.3 %
Miscellaneous 6,298 7,848 (1,550) (19.8)%
Total general and administrative expense $ 91,291 $ 101,948 $ (10,657) (10.5)%

The decrease to the contingent liability fair value adjustment for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020 was
due to revisions made to the estimated fair value of earn-out obligations as well as the completion of the earn-out period for two of our acquisitions in
2020.

Professional fees increased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily due to
approximately $5.2 million in transaction costs in connection with the acquisition of RMS. Additionally, corporate liability insurance expenses increased
$3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, related to becoming a public company and we have incurred additional legal, accounting, and
other costs related to becoming a public company.

Office supplies, travel and entertainment increased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020,
primarily due to an increase in the number of employees following the acquisition of RMS.

Miscellaneous expense decreased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to a
reduction in property inspection costs that are no longer required by certain investors.
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Occupancy, Equipment and Communication

Occupancy, Equipment and Communication Expense
Year Ended

December 31,
($ in thousands) 2021 2020 $ Change % Change
Occupancy $ 37,173 $ 34,082 $ 3,091 9.1 %
Equipment 8,712 7,671 1,041 13.6 %
Communication 21,443 15,317 6,126 40.0 %
Total occupancy, equipment and communication expense $ 67,328 $ 57,070 $ 10,258 18.0 %

Occupancy costs generally consist of fixed costs and remain consistent except for any increases associated with new acquisitions, expansion
into new territories and entry into new material building leases.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, equipment expense increased compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 due to additional
costs for hardware and software licenses and costs for computer hardware to support additional headcount.

Communication expense increased during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 due to
additional communication services incurred from the RMS acquisition as well as higher vendor costs to support additional headcount and overall
increasing costs for technology services and products.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020,
primarily due to $4.0 million in amortization expense related to intangible assets acquired in the RMS acquisition.

Provision for Foreclosure Losses

Although we have experienced a decrease in overall foreclosure starts and sales due to the CARES Act’s foreclosure moratorium and the federal
government’s subsequent extension of its mortgage forbearance programs, once the moratorium has ended we anticipate an increase in the time
needed to complete a foreclosure due to expected delays throughout the foreclosure process, which in turn increases our estimated per-loan losses.
Our reserves decreased for the year ended December 31, 2021 due to decreases in delinquency rates of loans in our servicing portfolio and an increase
in loan workouts completed through the year, partially offset by an increase in expected per-loan losses. We continue to monitor foreclosure reserves
and potential losses regularly to assess if further changes are needed.

Segment Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Our operations are comprised of two distinct but related reportable segments that we refer to as our origination and servicing segments. We
operate our origination segment from approximately 260 office locations. Our licensed sales professionals and support staff cultivate deep relationships
with our referral partners and clients and provide a customized approach to the loan transaction, whether it is a purchase or a refinance. Although our
origination and servicing segments are separated for this presentation, management sees the two segments as intricately related and interdependent.
We believe that our servicing segment provides a steady stream of revenue to support our origination segment and that, more importantly, our
servicing segment positions us to build longstanding client relationships that drive repeat and referral business back to the origination segment to
recapture our clients’ future mortgage transactions. In particular, the growth of our servicing segment is dependent on the continued growth of our
origination volume because our servicing portfolio consists primarily of originated MSRs.

We measure the performance of our segments primarily based on their net income (loss). We integrated RMS into our two existing reportable
segments for the period after the close of the acquisition on July 1, 2021. Revenues and expenses from our acquisition of RMS are allocated primarily
to our origination segment. See below for an overview and discussion of each of our segments’ results for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020. These results do not include unallocated corporate costs. See Note 21 - Segments in Part II, Item 8 for additional information about our
segments.
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Origination

Year Ended
December 31,

($ and units in thousands) 2021 2020

Total in-house originations $ 36,808,682 $ 35,185,528 
Funded loans 124 125 

Loan origination fees and gain on sale, net $ 1,468,465 $ 1,753,517 
Interest income 16,582 13,993 
Other income, net (4) 25 
Net revenue 1,485,043 1,767,535 
Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits 953,772 864,322 
General and administrative 71,480 84,999 
Occupancy, equipment and communication 57,718 48,233 
Depreciation and amortization 9,319 4,644 
Total expenses 1,092,289 1,002,198 
Net income allocated to origination $ 392,754 $ 765,337 

The decrease in net income allocated to the origination segment for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to December 31, 2020 was
driven by a decrease in gain on sale of loans and an increase in salaries, incentive compensation and benefits as described further below. Additionally,
while lower interest rates contributed to an increase in loan sales of $3.2 billion during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same
period in 2020, gain on sale margins decreased 98 basis points or 19.6% for the same time period. In comparison, capacity constraints in the
mortgage origination market led to higher gain on sale margins in 2020.

Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020
due to increased salaries and benefits expense from hiring additional employees in connection with the acquisition of RMS. We also hired additional
employees throughout 2020 to support the increase in our origination volume; therefore, the full effect of these additional salaries is reflected during
2021.

General and administrative expense decreased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020 primarily due to a
$26.7 million decrease in the adjustment to the fair value of the contingent liabilities related to our acquisitions, offset by an increase in production
technology expenses due to continued investment in our technology resources and additional costs incurred related to the integration of RMS.
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Servicing

Year Ended
December 31,

($ and units in thousands) 2021 2020
UPB of servicing portfolio (period end) $ 70,938,588 $ 59,969,653 
Loans serviced (period end) 301 271 
Loan servicing and other fees $ 194,759 $ 160,237 
Loan origination fees and gain on sale, net 12,051 6,354 
Other income, net 110 133 
Total revenue 206,920 166,724 
Valuation adjustment of MSRs (101,572) (296,307)
Interest expense (7,882) (8,068)
Net revenue 97,466 (137,651)
Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits 27,697 25,075 
General and administrative 9,722 9,270 
Occupancy, equipment and communication 4,196 3,524 
Depreciation and amortization 742 777 
Provision for foreclosure losses (518) 7,700 
Total expenses 41,839 46,346 
Net income (loss) allocated to servicing $ 55,627 $ (183,997)

We recorded a $101.6 million downward adjustment to the fair value of our MSRs, compared to a $296.3 million downward adjustment for the
same time period in 2020. See discussion above under "Valuation Adjustment of Mortgage Servicing Rights". This resulted in an improvement to net
revenue and net income for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

Loan servicing and other fees increased due to the increase in our UPB of our servicing portfolio throughout 2021.

Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits increased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31,
2020 due to our hiring of additional employees throughout 2020 to support the increase in our servicing volume and those clients electing to accept
forbearance relief under the CARES Act.

During the fourth quarter of 2020, we increased our provision for foreclosure losses in anticipation of increased foreclosures in 2021 from
COVID 19. The delinquency rate decreased during the year ended December 31, 2021; therefore, we have decreased our provision for foreclosure
losses accordingly.

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Cash Flows

Historically, our primary sources of liquidity have included:

• cash flows from our operations, including:

◦ sale of whole loans into the secondary market;

◦ loan origination fees;

◦ servicing fee income; and

◦ interest income on MLHS;

• borrowings on warehouse lines of credit to originate mortgage loans; and

• borrowings on our MSR notes payable.

Historically, our primary uses of funds have included:

• cash flows from our operations, including but not limited to:

◦ origination of MLHS;

◦ payment of interest expense; and

◦ payment of operating expenses, including personnel costs and IT infrastructure;
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• repayments on warehouse lines of credit;

• distributions to shareholders prior to our IPO; and

• acquisitions of other mortgage businesses.

We are also subject to contingencies which may have a significant effect on the use of our cash. We believe that our cash flows from operations
and other available sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our operations and meet our material cash requirements for the next 12 months. We
believe we will meet longer-term expected future cash requirements and obligations through a combination of existing cash and cash equivalent
balances, cash flow from operations, and amounts available for borrowing under our loan funding facilities.

Debt Obligations

We fund substantially all of the mortgage loans we close through borrowings under our loan funding facilities. Given the uncertainty in the
financial markets, our future ability to borrow money to fund our current and future loan production and other cash needs is unknown. Our mortgage
origination liquidity could also be affected if our lenders curtail access to uncommitted mortgage warehouse financing capacity or impose higher costs
to access such capacity. Our liquidity may be further constrained as there may be less demand by investors to acquire our mortgage loans in the
secondary market. In addition, we may be required to use significant amounts of cash to fund advances for loans subject to forbearance requirements
or that are delinquent.

In order to originate and aggregate loans for sale into the secondary market, we use our own working capital and borrow or obtain money on a
short-term basis, primarily through committed and uncommitted loan funding facilities that we have established with large national and global banks.

Our loan funding facilities are primarily in the form of master repurchase agreements, which we refer to as “warehouse lines of credit.” Loans
financed under these facilities are generally financed at approximately 97% to 98% of the principal balance of the loan (although certain types of loans
are financed at lower percentages of the principal balance of the loan), which requires us to fund the balance from cash generated from our operations.
Once closed, the underlying residential mortgage loan that is held for sale is pledged as collateral for the borrowing or advance that was made under
these loan funding facilities. In most cases, the loans will remain in one of the loan funding facilities for only a short time, generally less than one
month, until the loans are pooled and sold. During the time the loans are held for sale, we earn interest income from the borrower on the underlying
mortgage loan. This income is partially offset by the interest and fees we must pay under the loan funding facilities.

When we sell a pool of loans in the secondary market, the proceeds received from the sale of the loans are used to pay back the amounts we
owe on the loan funding facilities. We rely on the cash generated from the sale of loans to fund future loans and repay borrowings under our loan
funding facilities. Delays or failures to sell loans in the secondary market could have an adverse effect on our liquidity position.

As discussed in Note 12, Warehouse Lines of Credit to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, as of December 31,
2021, we had twelve different loan funding facilities in different amounts and with various maturities. As of December 31, 2021, the aggregate
available amount under our loan facilities was approximately $3.5 billion, with combined outstanding balances of approximately $1.9 billion.

As discussed in Note 13, Notes Payable to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, as of December 31, 2021, we had
three different MSR notes payable in different amounts with different maturities. As of December 31, 2021, the aggregate available amount under our
MSR notes payable was $440.0 million, with combined outstanding balances of $250.0 million and unutilized capacity of $61.1 million, based on total
committed amounts and our borrowing base limitations. The borrowing capacity under our MSR notes payable is restricted by the valuation of our
servicing portfolio.

The amount of financing advanced on each individual loan under our loan funding facilities is determined by agreed upon advance rates but
may be less than the stated rate due to fluctuations in the market value of the mortgage loans securing the financings. If the lenders providing the
funds under our loan funding facilities determine that the value of the loans serving as collateral for our borrowings under those facilities has
decreased, they can initiate a margin call to require us to provide additional collateral or reduce the amount outstanding with respect to those loans.
Our inability or unwillingness to satisfy such a request could result in the termination of the related facilities and a potential default under our other
loan funding facilities. In addition, a large unanticipated margin call could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity.

The amount owed and outstanding under our loan funding facilities fluctuates significantly based on our origination volume, the amount of time
it takes us to sell the loans we originate and the amount of loans we are self-funding with cash. We may from time to time post surplus cash as
additional collateral to buy-down the effective interest rates of certain loan funding facilities or to self-fund a portion of our loan originations. As of
December 31, 2021, we had posted $46.7 million in cash as additional collateral. We have the ability to draw
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back this additional collateral at any time unless a margin call has been made or a default has occurred under the relevant facilities.

We also have an early buyout facility which is included in our warehouse lines of credit. This facility allows us to purchase certain delinquent
GNMA loans that we service and finance them on the facility until the loan is cured or subsequently sold. The capacity of this uncommitted facility is
$75.0 million and, at December 31, 2021, the outstanding balance on the facility was $33.5 million.

Our loan funding facilities and MSR notes payable generally require us to comply with certain operating and financial covenants and the
availability of funds under these facilities are subject to, among other conditions, our continued compliance with these covenants. These financial
covenants include, but are not limited to, maintaining a certain (i) minimum tangible net worth, (ii) minimum liquidity and (iii) a maximum ratio of
total liabilities or total debt to tangible net worth and satisfying certain pre-tax net income requirements. A breach of these covenants could result in an
event of default under our funding facilities, which would allow the related lenders to pursue certain remedies. In addition, each of these facilities
includes cross default or cross acceleration provisions that could result in all of our funding facilities terminating if an event of default or acceleration of
maturity occurs under any one of them. We were in compliance with each of these covenants as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

Our debt obligations are summarized below by facility as of December 31, 2021:

Facility
($ in thousands)

Outstanding
Indebtedness

Total Facility
Size

Maturity
Date

Warehouse lines of credit $ 472,646 $ 800,000 January 2023
147,750 250,000  August 2022
295,444 500,000 February 2022
146,182 200,000 June 2022
133,772 300,000 September 2022
377,416 500,000 July 2022
117,935 200,000 April 2022
136,173 250,000 N/A
26,947 200,000 January 2022
35,099 110,000 N/A
5,727 75,000 March 2022

33,452 75,000 March 2025
MSR notes payable 125,000 175,000 March 2024

60,000 200,000 June 2022
65,000 65,000 July 2022

___________________________
Subsequent to December 31, 2021, this facility was reduced to $600.0 million.
Subsequent to December 31, 2021, this facility was extended to March 2022 and is anticipated to undergo a full renewal at that time.
Amounts drawn on the MSR notes payable with this lender reduce the facility size available under the warehouse line of credit with this lender by
an equal and offsetting amount.
This facility's maturity date is 30 days from written notice by either the financial institution or the Company.
Subsequent to December 31, 2021, this facility matured and was not renewed.
This facility agreement is due on demand. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, this facility was increased to $300.0 million.
Subsequent to December 31, 2021, this facility was terminated.
Each buyout transaction carries a maximum term of four years from the date of repurchase.
Facility provides for committed amount of $125.0 million, which can be increased up to $175.0 million.
Facility provides for committed amount of $135.0 million, which can be increased up to $200.0 million.

Secondary Market Investors

The investors to whom we sell mortgage loans we originate in the secondary market require us to abide by certain operating and financial
covenants. These covenants include maintaining (i) a certain minimum net worth, (ii) a certain minimum liquidity, (iii) a certain minimum of total liquid
assets, (iv) a certain maximum ratio of adjusted net worth to total assets and (v) fidelity bond and mortgage servicing errors and omissions coverage.
A breach of these covenants could result in an event of default and could disallow us to continue selling mortgage loans to one or all of these investors
in the secondary market which, in turn, could have a
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significant impact on our liquidity and results of operations. We were in compliance with each of these covenants as of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020.

When we sell loans in the secondary market, we have the option to sell them service released or service retained. The decision whether to sell
a loan that we originated service released or service retained is based on factors such as execution and price, liquidity needs and the desire to retain
the related client relationship. When we sell a loan service retained, we continue to act as the servicer for the life of the loan. We rely on income from
loan servicing and other fees over the life of the loan to generate cash. Certain investors have different rules for the servicer to follow should a loan go
into default. As the servicer, we may be legally obligated to make cash payments to the investor who purchased the loan, should the borrower
discontinue making payments on the loan. This could have a negative impact to our cash and liquidity; however, we may be able to use other borrower
prepayments to cover delinquencies. Should delinquencies significantly increase, or prepayments significantly decrease, we could be forced to use our
own cash or borrow on other types of financing in order to make the required monthly payments to the investors who have purchased loans from us.
We may also be contractually required to repurchase or indemnify loans with origination defects.

Cash Flows

Our cash flows are summarized below:

Year Ended
December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 680,459 $ (468,041)
Net cash used in investing activities (104,660) (18,025)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (667,312) 718,964 
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (91,513) $ 232,898 

Operating activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are primarily influenced by changes in the levels of inventory of loans held for sale, as shown below:

Year Ended
December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020
Loans held for sale $ 629,581 $ (863,935)
Other operating sources 50,878 395,894 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 680,459 $ (468,041)

Cash provided by loans held for sale increased due to a larger increase in proceeds on sale and payments from mortgage loans held for sale
compared to cash used for origination of mortgage loans held for sale. The decrease in cash provided by other operating sources was primarily due to
increases in valuation adjustments of mortgage servicing rights.

Investing activities

Our investing activities primarily consist of purchases of property and equipment and acquisitions. Cash used in investing activities increased
for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the prior year period, which was primarily due to $100.2 million used to fund the acquisition of
RMS, offset by decreases in cash used for purchases of property and equipment of $3.6 million and certain payments totaling $9.8 million made to
Guild Mortgage Company LLC's former parent entity during the year ended December 31, 2020, prior to our restructuring and initial public offering. 

Financing activities

Our cash flows from financing activities are primarily influenced by changes in the levels of warehouse lines of credit used to fund loan
originations, which were consistent with the increase in loan origination volume.
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Year Ended
December 31,

($ in thousands) 2021 2020
Warehouse lines of credit $ (648,222) $ 841,178 
Other financing sources (19,090) (122,214)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities $ (667,312) $ 718,964 

The decrease in cash provided by warehouse lines of credit was primarily due to higher net repayments on our warehouse lines of credit. Cash
used in other financing sources decreased for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020, which was primarily driven by
net borrowings of $104.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to net repayments of $72.3 million during the year ended
December 31, 2020 on our MSR notes payable and cash dividend payments of $121.1 million during 2021 compared to $37.2 million during 2020.

Material Cash Requirements

Our material cash requirements include servicing our debt obligations as described above and the following contractual obligations.

Repurchase and indemnification obligations

In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to liability with respect to certain representations and warranties that we make to the
investors who purchase the loans that we originate. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to repurchase mortgage loans, or indemnify the
purchaser of such loans for losses incurred, if there has been a breach of these representations and warranties, or in the case of early payment
defaults. In addition, in the event of an early payment default, we are contractually obligated to refund certain premiums paid to us by the investors
who purchased the related loan. See Note 17, Commitments and Contingencies to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.

Interest rate lock commitments, loan sale and forward commitments

We enter into IRLCs with clients who have applied for residential mortgage loans and who meet certain credit and underwriting criteria. These
commitments expose us to market risk if interest rates change during the period of time in which the loan is not economically hedged or committed to
be sold to an investor. We are also exposed to credit loss if a loan for which we entered into an IRLC is originated and is not sold to an investor and
the related client does not perform. The collateral upon extension of credit typically consists of a first deed of trust in the mortgagor’s residential
property. Commitments to originate loans do not necessarily reflect future cash requirements as some commitments are expected to expire without
being drawn upon. Total commitments to originate loans, adjusted for pull-through, were approximately $2.2 billion and $4.5 billion as of December
31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

49



Table of Contents

Balance Sheet Analysis

The following is a summary of key balance sheet items as of the dates presented.

December 31,

2021 2020
($ in thousands)
Assets
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 248,120 $ 339,633 
Mortgage loans held for sale 2,204,216 2,368,777 
Mortgage servicing rights, net 675,340 446,998 
GNMA loans subject to repurchase right 728,978 1,275,842 
Other 526,550 386,837 

Total assets $ 4,383,204 $ 4,818,087 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity  
Warehouse lines of credit $ 1,927,478 $ 2,143,443 
Notes payable 250,227 145,750 
GNMA loans subject to repurchase right 729,260 1,277,026 
Deferred tax liability 142,245 89,370 
Other 413,981 426,506 

Total liabilities 3,463,191 4,082,095 
Stockholders' equity 920,013 735,992 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 4,383,204 $ 4,818,087 

Total assets decreased by $434.9 million primarily due to the decrease in GNMA loans subject to repurchase right of $546.9 million and an
increase in MSRs of $228.3 million. The decrease in GNMA loans subject to repurchase right resulted from decreased delinquency on loans in
forbearance under the CARES Act. As of December 31, 2021, approximately $331.0 million of our GNMA loans subject to repurchase right was related
to loans in forbearance under the CARES Act. The increase in MSRs was primarily the result of favorable changes in the fair value due to changes in
valuation model inputs or assumptions for December 2021 compared to December 2020. Other assets increased due to increases in goodwill and
intangibles recorded in connection with the acquisition of RMS.

Total liabilities decreased by $618.9 million primarily due to a $216.0 million decrease in the balances under our warehouse lines of credit and
a $547.8 million decrease in GNMA loans subject to repurchase right, partly offset by a $104.5 million increase in notes payable used to fund MSRs.
The $547.8 million decrease in GNMA loans subject to repurchase right resulted from decreased delinquency on loans in forbearance under the CARES
Act.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Certain of these estimates significantly influence the portrayal of our financial
condition and results, and they require us to make difficult, subjective or complex judgments. Although we believe that the judgments, estimates and
assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements were appropriate given the circumstances at the time they were made,
actual results could materially differ from those estimates. Our critical accounting estimates primarily relate to the fair value estimates of our MLHS,
MSRs, IRLCs, forward delivery commitments and contingent liabilities due to acquisitions.

See Note 2, Fair Value Measurements to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 for additional information. Below is a
summary of our assets recorded at fair value compared to our total assets and stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Percentage of Percentage of

Level/Description ($ in thousands)

Carrying
Value of
Assets

Total
Assets

Stockholders'
Equity

Carrying
Value of
Assets

Total
Assets

Stockholders'
Equity

Level One: Prices determined using
quote prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities $ 107 0 % 0 % $ 78 0 % 0 %
Level Two: Prices determined using
other significant observable inputs that
other market participants would use in
pricing an asset or liability and are
developed based on market data
obtained from sources independent of
us. 2,210,058 50 % 240 % 2,368,777 49 % 322 %
Level Three: Prices determined using
significant unobservable inputs that
reflect our judgements about the
factors that market participants use in
pricing an asset or liability and are
based on the best information
available in the circumstances. 697,459 16 % 76 % 577,336 12 % 78 %

Total assets measured at or based on
fair value 2,907,624 66 % 316 % 2,946,191 61 % 400 %

Total assets 4,383,204 4,818,087 
Total stockholders' equity $ 920,013 $ 735,992 

As shown above, our consolidated balance sheet is substantially comprised of assets that are measured at or based on their fair values. The
increases in the percentage of assets carried at fair value compared to total assets from 2020 to 2021 is due to the increase in the fair value of MSRs
of $228.3 million, offset by the decrease in the fair value of IRLCs of $108.2 million at December 31, 2021. The increase in the fair value of MSRs was
primarily the result of $337.3 million in capitalized MSRs partially offset by $101.6 million from changes in fair value and $7.4 million decrease from
the sale of servicing rights during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The fair value of our contingent liabilities due to acquisitions was $59.5 million and $18.1 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The increase in the fair value of the contingent consideration during the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily due to our acquisition of RMS in
July 2021. The percentage of contingent liabilities due to acquisitions was not material to our total liabilities or total stockholders' equity for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

We believe these critical accounting estimates are subject to uncertainty because of the difficulty in observing certain significant inputs
affecting our fair value assets and liabilities. As a result, we are required to make subjective judgments regarding the fair values of these items.
Different persons in possession of the same facts may reasonably arrive at different conclusions as to the inputs used in valuing these assets and
liabilities and their fair values. Such differences may result in significantly different fair value measurements. Likewise, due to the general illiquidity of
some of these assets, subsequent transactions with respect to them may be at values significantly different from those we record.

Due to the difficulty and complexity in measuring certain of our fair value assets and liabilities, we engage third parties to assist management
in determining their values. We have also established controls in which management reviews and discusses these valuations with our accounting
department and any third parties that we have engaged for this purpose to ensure accuracy over financial reporting. We re-measure the fair value of
these assets and liabilities on a monthly or quarterly basis by evaluating certain observable information, which may include current market pricing,
recent trade activity, and industry data.
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Mortgage Loans Held for Sale

MLHS are classified within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy because we determine their fair value based on secondary market pricing for
loans with similar characteristics. We determine the fair value of our MLHS based on either: (i) the fair value of securities backed by similar mortgage
loans, adjusted for certain other factors, including credit risk and the value attributable to the related servicing rights, (ii) our investors’ current
commitments to purchase loans or (iii) recent observable market trades for similar loans, adjusted for credit risk and other individual loan
characteristics.

Mortgage Servicing Rights

MSRs are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy because we determine their fair value based on unobservable inputs and
because there is no active market for MSRs. To determine the fair value of our MSRs when they are created, we use our valuation model that calculates
the present value of the future cash flows related to them. Our MSR valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants would use in
estimating future net servicing income, including estimates of contractual service fees, ancillary income and late fees, the cost of servicing, the
discount rate, float value, the inflation rate, estimated prepayment speeds and default rates. A third party conducts a monthly valuation of our MSRs,
and we record any changes to the fair value of our MSRs that result from changes in valuation model inputs or assumptions and collections of servicing
cash flows in accordance with such third-party analysis and GAAP. Changes in economic and other relevant conditions could cause the assumptions
used in valuing our MSRs, such as those with respect to prepayment speeds, to be incorrect and such changes could result in fluctuations in the
recorded value of our MSRs. We provide more detailed information on our MSRs in Note 7, Mortgage Servicing Rights to the consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8.

The following tables illustrate the impact of adverse and favorable changes on the prepayment speeds, discount rate and cost to service at two
different data points at December 31, 2021:

Prepayment Speeds Discount Rate Cost to Service (per loan)
10% Adverse

Change
20% Adverse

Change
10% Adverse

Change
20% Adverse

Change
10% Adverse

Change
20% Adverse

Change
$ (35,704) $ (69,207) $ (23,135) $ (45,139) $ (7,875) $ (16,288)

Prepayment Speeds Discount Rate Cost to Service (per loan)
10% Favorable

Change 20% Favorable Change
10% Favorable

Change 20% Favorable Change
10% Favorable

Change 20% Favorable Change
$ 39,880 $ 82,735 $ 26,067 $ 53,673 $ 8,949 $ 17,361 

Interest Rate Lock Commitments

IRLCs are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy because we determine their value based upon unobservable inputs and
because there is no active market for IRLCs. We determine the fair value of our IRLCs based upon the estimated fair value of the underlying mortgage
loan, including the expected net future cash flows related to servicing that mortgage loan, net of estimated incentive compensation, and adjusted for:
(i) estimated costs to complete and originate the loan and (ii) an adjustment to reflect the estimated percentage of IRLCs that will result in a closed
mortgage loan under the original terms of the agreement (the “pull-through rate”). We estimate the pull-through rate based on changes in pricing and
actual borrower behavior using a historical analysis of loan closing data and “fallout” data with respect to the number of commitments that have
historically remained unexercised.

Our estimate of the probability that a loan will be funded and market interest rates are updated as the loans move through the funding or
purchase process and as market interest rates change and may result in significant changes in our estimates of the fair value of the IRLCs. Such
changes are reflected in the change in fair value of IRLCs which is a component of our loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net. The financial
effects of changes in these inputs are generally inversely correlated. Increasing interest rates have a positive effect on the fair value of the MSR
component of IRLC fair value but increase the pull-through rate for the loan principal and interest payment cash flow component, which decreases in
fair value.

We believe that the most significant Level Three input to the measurement of IRLCs is the pull-through rate. At December 31, 2021, we held
$22.1 million of IRLC assets at fair value. The following is a quantitative summary of the effect of changes in the pull-through rate input on the fair
value of IRLCs at December 31, 2021:
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Change in input
Effect on fair value of IRLC of a change in pull-through rate

(in thousands)
(10)% $ (5,181)
(5)% $ (2,590)
5% $ 2,246 
10% $ 3,546 

___________________________
The upward shift in input amount on a per-loan basis is limited to the amount of shift required to reach a 100% pull-through rates.

Forward Delivery Commitments

Forward delivery commitments are classified within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy. We determine the fair value of our forward delivery
commitments based upon the current agency mortgage-backed security market To-Be-Announced ("TBA") pricing specific to the related loan program,
delivery coupon and delivery date of the trade. We also enter into best efforts sales commitments for certain loans at the time the borrower
commitment is made. These best-efforts sales commitments are valued by comparing the committed price to the counterparty against the current
market price of the IRLC or MLHS.

Business Combinations

Accounting for business combinations requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition date with respect
to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. We use our best estimates and assumptions to accurately assign fair value to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date as well as the useful lives of those acquired intangible assets.
Significant estimates and assumptions that we must make in estimating the fair value of the intangible assets and goodwill we have acquired include
future cash flows that we expect to generate from the acquired assets and discount rates. In addition, we have estimated the economic lives of certain
acquired intangible assets and these lives are used to calculate amortization expense. Unanticipated events and circumstances may occur that may
affect the accuracy or validity of such assumptions, estimates or actual results.

Contingent Liabilities Due to Acquisitions

Contingent liabilities due to acquisitions are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy. The fair value of the contingent liabilities
due to acquisitions in connection with our acquisitions were initially determined as of the acquisition dates using unobservable inputs. These inputs
included the estimated amount and timing of future cash flows, the probability of success (achievement of the various contingent events) and a risk-
adjusted discount rate to adjust the probability-weighted cash flows to their present value. Subsequent to the acquisition dates, at each reporting
period, the contingent liabilities due to acquisitions will be re-measured with changes recorded in general and administrative expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. We engaged an independent, third-party valuation specialist to assist in determining the initial and subsequent
fair value of the contingent consideration related to our acquisition of RMS during 2021. See Note 3, Acquisition to the consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 for additional information.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 – Business, Basis of Presentation, and Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 in this
Annual Report for a discussion of recent accounting developments and their expected effects on Guild.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information for this item.

(1)

(1)
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Guild Holdings Company:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Guild Holdings Company and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period
ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 11, 2022 expressed an adverse
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits
included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit
matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the
critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Fair value of Mortgage Servicing Rights

As discussed in Notes 1, 2 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the fair value of the Company’s Mortgage Servicing Rights (MSRs) as
of December 31, 2021 is $675.3M. The Company recognizes MSRs when loans are sold, and the associated servicing rights are retained. The
Company maintains one class of MSR asset and has elected the fair value option with the changes in fair value being recorded in current period
income. To determine the fair value of the MSR when created, the Company uses a third-party valuation firm and its valuation model that
calculates the present value of future cash flows. The valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants would use in estimating
future net servicing income, including estimates of contractual service fees, ancillary income and late fees, the cost of servicing, float value, the
inflation rate, estimated prepayment speeds, and default rates. These estimated cash flows are present valued using a discount rate which is
reflective of
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the servicer’s required return on capital in addition to a premium for market liquidity, funding cost, and operational risk.

We identified the assessment of the fair value of the MSRs as a critical audit matter. A high degree of subjective and complex audit judgment
was required, including the use of professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, to assess the estimated fair value of the MSRs.
Specifically, the assessment encompassed the evaluation of the MSR valuation methodology, including the methods and models used to estimate
the following key assumptions because they are unobservable and the sensitivity of changes to those assumptions have a significant effect on
the valuation: (1) estimated prepayment speeds, (2) the cost of servicing, and (3) the discount rate. There was also a high degree of
subjectivity and potential for management bias related to updates made to key assumptions due to changes in market conditions, mortgage
interest rates, and servicing standards.
To address this critical audit matter, we evaluated the Company’s process to develop the fair value of the MSRs by testing certain sources of
data and assumptions. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge who assisted in:

• assessing the design of the valuation model used to estimate the fair value of the MSRs in accordance with relevant U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles

• evaluating the Company’s fair value of the MSRs by benchmarking the value against industry surveys and by performing trend
analyses with market data

• assessing the key assumptions by benchmarking against ranges obtained from comparable entities and industry surveys
• determining an independent fair value range and evaluating the Company’s MSR value against that range

Initial fair value measurement of the contingent consideration liability and the acquired referral network intangible

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company applies certain methodologies that include estimates and
assumptions to accurately measure initial fair value to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination. The Company completed its acquisition of Residential Mortgage Services Holdings, Inc. (the acquiree) on July 1, 2021 for total
purchase consideration of $265.0 million. This acquisition resulted in the recognition of a contingent consideration liability of $64.0 million and a
referral network intangible of $42.3 million.

We identified the evaluation of the initial fair value measurement of the contingent consideration liability and the referral network intangible as a
critical audit matter. Evaluating the methodology used to measure the fair value of the contingent consideration liability and the referral network
intangible, including the key assumptions and the inputs used to develop those key assumptions required a high degree of subjective auditor
judgment, and the involvement of valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge. Specifically, key assumptions included estimated
future revenues, volatility factors and discount rate for the contingent consideration liability and estimated future revenues, long-term growth
rate, retention rate, contributory asset charges and discount rate for the referral network intangible. In addition, subjective auditor judgment
was required to evaluate the sufficiency of the audit evidence obtained.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the reasonableness of certain data
and assumptions used to determine the valuation of the contingent consideration liability and the referral network intangible by evaluating the
relevance and reliability of such data and assumptions and comparing to independent sources. We assessed estimated future revenues by
evaluating the accuracy of projections made in previous periods. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and
knowledge, who assisted in:

• evaluating the overall fair value methodologies used by the Company to estimate the fair value of the contingent consideration liability
and the referral network intangible

• assessing the estimate of fair value for the contingent consideration liability by developing independent assumptions for the volatility
factors and discount rate, utilizing market data

• re-creating management’s valuation of the referral network intangible and assessing whether the model includes all key elements of the
model’s methodology

• assessing the estimate of fair value for the referral network intangible by 1) comparing the long-term growth rate to publicly available
data, 2) recalculating the retention rate used in
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determining the expected economic life, and 3) developing independent assumptions for the contributory asset charges and discount
rate, utilizing market data.

We also assessed the sufficiency of the audit evidence obtained related to the valuation of the     contingent consideration liability and the
referral network intangible by evaluating the:

• cumulative results of the audit procedures

• qualitative aspects of the Company’s accounting practice

• potential bias in the accounting estimates.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.

Los Angeles, California
March 11, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Guild Holdings Company:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Guild Holdings Company and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses, described below, on the achievement of the objectives of the control
criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial
statements), and our report dated March 11, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s assessment:

The Company did not have a sufficient complement of personnel with requisite experience in the design and operation of controls and did not perform
an effective risk assessment, including risk of fraud. This resulted in ineffective general information technology controls over user access and change
management within the general ledger and loan systems. The deficiencies also contributed to ineffective monitoring of consistent operation of internal
control over financial reporting and ineffective evaluation of the reliability of information used in controls. As a consequence of the material weaknesses
described above, internal control deficiencies related to the design and operation of process-level controls and general information technology controls
were determined to exist throughout the Company’s financial reporting processes.

The material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2021 consolidated
financial statements, and this report does not affect our report on those consolidated financial statements.

The Company acquired Residential Mortgage Services Holdings, Inc. during 2021, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, Residential Mortgage Services Holdings, Inc.’s internal control over
financial reporting associated with approximately 5% of total assets and 7% of total net revenues included in the consolidated financial statements of
the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an
evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Residential Mortgage Services Holdings, Inc.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 11, 2022
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GUILD HOLDINGS COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,
2021 2020

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 243,108 $ 334,623 
Restricted cash 5,012 5,010 
Mortgage loans held for sale 2,204,216 2,368,777 
Ginnie Mae loans subject to repurchase right 728,978 1,275,842 
Accounts and interest receivable 68,359 43,390 
Derivative assets 27,961 130,338 
Mortgage servicing rights, net 675,340 446,998 
Intangible assets, net 41,025 — 
Goodwill 175,144 62,834 
Other assets 214,061 150,275 

Total assets $ 4,383,204 $ 4,818,087 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Warehouse lines of credit $ 1,927,478 $ 2,143,443 
Notes payable 250,227 145,750 
Ginnie Mae loans subject to repurchase right 729,260 1,277,026 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 56,836 41,074 
Accrued compensation and benefits 75,079 106,313 
Investor reserves 18,437 14,535 
Income taxes payable — 19,454 
Contingent liabilities due to acquisitions 59,500 18,094 
Derivative liabilities 2,079 38,270 
Operating lease liabilities 97,836 94,891 
Note due to related party 2,614 4,639 
Deferred compensation plan 101,600 89,236 
Deferred tax liabilities 142,245 89,370 

Total liabilities 3,463,191 4,082,095 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17) — — 
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding — — 
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized; 20,723,912 and 19,666,981

shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively 207 197 
Class B common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 40,333,019 shares issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020 403 403 
Additional paid-in capital 42,175 18,035 
Retained earnings 877,194 717,357 
Non-controlling interest 34 — 

Total stockholders’ equity 920,013 735,992 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 4,383,204 4,818,087 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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GUILD HOLDINGS COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Revenue
Loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net $ 1,480,516 $ 1,759,871 
Loan servicing and other fees 194,759 160,237 
Valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights (101,572) (296,307)
Interest income 64,110 57,649 
Interest expense (61,590) (60,168)
Other income, net 87 765 

Net revenue 1,576,310 1,622,047 
Expenses

Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits 1,019,790 953,758 
General and administrative 91,291 101,948 
Occupancy, equipment and communication 67,328 57,070 
Depreciation and amortization 11,488 7,501 
Provision for foreclosure losses (518) 7,700 

Total expenses 1,189,379 1,127,977 
Income before income tax expense 386,931 494,070 
Income tax expense 103,149 123,493 
Net income 283,782 370,577 
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest 9 — 

Net income attributable to Guild $ 283,773 $ 370,577 

Net income per share attributable to Class A and Class B Common Stock:
Basic $ 4.69 $ 6.18 
Diluted $ 4.67 $ 6.17 

Weighted average shares outstanding of Class A and Class B Common Stock:
Basic 60,511 60,000 
Diluted 60,825 60,056 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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GUILD HOLDINGS COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Class A Shares
Class A 
Amount Class B Shares

Class B 
Amount Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Non-controlling
Interests Total

Balance at 12/31/2019 — $ — — $ — 928 $ 93 $ 21,992 $ 383,946 $ — $ 406,031 

Common stock dividends
($40,050 per share) — — — — — — — (37,166) — (37,166)

Effect of reorganization
transactions — — — — (928) (93) 93 — — — 

Issuance of common
stock 14,766,709 148 45,233,291 452 — — (600) — — — 

Conversion of Class B
common stock 4,900,272 49 (4,900,272) (49) — — — — — — 

Offering costs — — — — — — (4,495) — — (4,495)

Stock-based
compensation — — — — — — 1,045 — — 1,045 

Net income — — — — — — — 370,577 — 370,577 

Balance at 12/31/2020 19,666,981 $ 197 40,333,019 $ 403 — $ — $ 18,035 $ 717,357 $ — $ 735,992 

Dividends paid on Class
A and Class B common
stock ($2.00 per share) — — — — — — — (121,057) — (121,057)

Dividend equivalents on
unvested restricted stock
units, net of forfeitures — — — — — — 2,879 (2,879) — — 

Issuance of Class A
shares for acquisition of
RMS 996,644 10 — — — — 15,279 — — 15,289 

Vesting of restricted
stock units 60,287 — — — — — — — — — 

Stock-based
compensation — — — — — — 5,982 — — 5,982 

Non-controlling interest
contributions — — — — — — — — 25 25 

Net income — — — — — — — 283,773 9 283,782 

Balance at 12/31/2021 20,723,912 $ 207 40,333,019 $ 403 $ — $ — $ 42,175 $ 877,194 $ 34 $ 920,013 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

61



Table of Contents

GUILD HOLDINGS COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities

Net income $ 283,782 $ 370,577 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 11,488 7,501 
Valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights 101,572 296,307 
Valuation adjustment of mortgage loans held for sale 67,773 (56,083)
Unrealized loss (gain) on derivatives 82,668 (77,009)
Amortization of right-of-use assets 21,705 18,599 
Provision for investor reserves 10,089 7,091 
(Relief) provision for foreclosure losses (518) 7,700 
Valuation adjustment of contingent liabilities due to acquisitions 4,957 31,705 
Gain on sale of mortgage loans excluding fair value of other financial instruments, net (1,289,465) (1,323,482)
Deferred income taxes 36,644 3,092 
Other 4,473 146 
Benefit from investor reserves (7,694) (9,077)
Foreclosure loss reserve (1,529) (3,167)
Stock-based compensation 5,982 1,045 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Origination of mortgage loans held for sale (37,178,171) (35,238,696)
Proceeds on sale of and payments from mortgage loans held for sale 39,029,444 35,754,326 
Accounts and interest receivable (21,819) (13,312)
Other assets (19,457) (11,563)
Mortgage servicing rights (325,099) (324,903)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 437 7,845 
Accrued compensation and benefits (42,862) 61,016 
Income taxes (54,260) 20,469 
Contingent liability payments (27,507) (15,348)
Operating lease liabilities (18,839) (17,358)
Deferred compensation plan liability 6,494 34,044 
Real estate owned, net 171 494 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 680,459 (468,041)
Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (100,233) — 
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 178 35 
Purchases of property and equipment (4,605) (8,233)
Payments made on behalf of affiliate — (9,827)

Net cash used in investing activities (104,660) (18,025)
Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings on warehouse lines of credit 38,002,230 34,429,145 
Repayments on warehouse lines of credit (38,650,452) (33,587,967)
Borrowings on MSR notes payable 108,500 67,000 
Repayments on MSR notes payable (4,250) (139,250)
Contingent liability payments — (6,336)
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Net change in notes payable (2,308) (1,967)
Payment of offering costs — (4,495)
Contribution from non-controlling interest 25 — 
Dividends paid (121,057) (37,166)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (667,312) 718,964 

(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (91,513) 232,898 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 339,633 106,735 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year $ 248,120 $ 339,633 

Supplemental information

Cash paid for interest, net $ 46,326 $ 46,082 

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $ 120,748 $ 49,508 

Non-cash disclosures (See Note 20)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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GUILD HOLDINGS COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands, except as otherwise indicated)

NOTE 1 - BUSINESS, BASIS OF PRESENTATION, AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

Guild Holdings Company (the “Company”, and together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Guild”, “we”, “us”, “our”) was incorporated in
Delaware on August 11, 2020 for the purpose of facilitating an initial public offering (“IPO”) of its Class A common stock and other related transactions
in order to carry on the business of Guild Mortgage Company LLC (“GMC”) and its wholly owned subsidiaries. GMC was incorporated in California on
August 10, 1960 and in October of 2020 was converted to a California limited liability company. On October 21, 2020 Guild completed its IPO.

The Company originates, sells, and services residential mortgage loans. The Company operates approximately 260 branches with licenses in 49
states and the District of Columbia. The Company’s residential mortgage originations are generated in 49 states from two channels of business: retail
and correspondent. For the year ended December 31, 2021 the channel production was as follows: retail 97.1% and correspondent 2.9%. For the year
ended December 31, 2020, the channel production was as follows: retail 97.4%, and correspondent 2.6%.

The Company is certified with the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) and the Department of Veterans
Affairs (“VA”) and operates as a Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”) non-supervised lender. In addition, the Company is an approved issuer with
the Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA”), as well as an approved seller and servicer with the Federal National Mortgage Association
(“FNMA” or "Fannie Mae"), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC” or "Freddie Mac") and the United States Department of Agriculture
Rural Development (“USDA”).

Properties securing the mortgage loans in the Company’s servicing portfolio are geographically dispersed throughout the United States;
however, at December 31, 2021, approximately 13.9% of such properties were located in California, 10.9% were located in Washington, and 10.3%
were located in Texas. At December 31, 2020, approximately 15.1% of such properties were located in California, 11.4% were located in Washington,
and 10.1% were located in Texas. Similarly, loan production in California, Washington and Oregon represented 15.6%, 13.4%, and 8.8%, respectively,
of the Company’s total loan production in 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2020, California, Washington and Oregon represented 18.2%,
15.5%, and 9.9%, respectively, of the Company’s total loan production.

Principles of Consolidation

The Company's consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, GMC and their consolidated subsidiaries and those
variable interest entities ("VIE") where the Company is the primary beneficiary.

Generally, a VIE is a legal entity in which the equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or lack sufficient
equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support. In determining whether we are the primary
beneficiary of a VIE, we consider qualitative and quantitative factors, including, but not limited to: which activities most significantly impact the VIE’s
economic performance and which party controls such activities; the amount and characteristics of our investment; the obligation or likelihood for us or
other investors to provide financial support; and the similarity with and significance to our business activities and the business activities of the other
investors.

The Company consolidates one VIE. At December 31, 2021, the VIE had minimal assets and liabilities.

All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Although management is not currently aware of any factors that would
significantly change its estimates and assumptions, actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

Beginning in early 2020 and continuing through 2021, the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic, including the emergence of new variants and
strains of COVID-19, has presented a substantial public health challenge throughout the United States. The Company remains fully functional in both
its origination and servicing operations. The Company continues to monitor guidance published by the World Health Organization, Centers for Disease
Control and Prevention, local and federal government agencies and the Mortgage Bankers Association and is in continual communication with its
investors regarding the developments in the mortgage industry.
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Revenue Recognition

Loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net — loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net includes all components related to the
origination and sale of mortgage loans, including (1) net gain on sale of loans, which represents the premium the Company receives in excess of the
loan principal amount and certain fees charged by investors upon sale of loans into the secondary market, (2) loan origination fees (credits), points
and certain costs, (3) provision for or benefit from investor reserves, (4) the change in fair value of interest rate locks and mortgage loans held for
sale, (5) the gain or loss on forward commitments hedging loans held for sale and interest rate lock commitments (“IRLCs”), and (6) the fair value of
originated mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”). An estimate of the gain on sale of loans, net is recognized at the time an IRLC is issued, net of a pull-
through factor. Subsequent changes in the fair value of IRLCs and mortgage loans held for sale are recognized in current period earnings. When the
mortgage loan is sold into the secondary market, any difference between the proceeds received and the current fair value of the loan is recognized in
current period earnings. Included in gain on sale of loans, net is the fair value of originated MSRs, which represents the estimated fair value of MSRs
related to loans which we have sold and retained the right to service. See Note 1 sections; Mortgage Loans Held for Sale, Mortgage Servicing Rights
and Derivative Instruments, for more information related to fair value measurements of mortgage loans held for sale, the gain/(loss) on changes in the
fair value of MSRs and the gain/(loss) on changes in the fair value of IRLCs, respectively. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, loan origination fees and
gain on sale of loans were net of direct expenses of $252,302 and $266,451, respectively.

Loan servicing and other fees — Loan servicing fees represent fees earned for servicing loans for various investors. The servicing fees are
based on a contractual percentage of the outstanding principal balance and recognized into revenue as the related mortgage payments are received.
Loan servicing expenses are charged to operations as incurred.

Valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights — In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 860-50, the Company
records MSRs as an asset, at fair value. The change in fair value is recorded within the Consolidated Statements of Income on a monthly basis. See
Note 1, Mortgage Servicing Rights, for information related to the gain/(loss) on changes in the fair value of MSRs.

Interest income — interest income includes interest earned on mortgage loans held for sale

Interest expense — interest expense includes interest paid to the Company’s loan funding facilities and MSR facilities.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

For cash flow purposes, the Company considers cash and temporary investments with original maturities of three months or less, to be cash
and cash equivalents. The Company typically maintains cash in financial institutions in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits. The
Company evaluates the creditworthiness of these financial institutions in determining the risk associated with these cash balances. The Company
maintains cash balances that are restricted under the terms of its warehouse lines of credit.

The following table summarizes the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents $ 243,108 $ 334,623 
Restricted cash 5,012 5,010 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows $ 248,120 $ 339,633 

Mortgage Loans Held for Sale

The Company measures newly originated prime residential Mortgage Loans Held for Sale (“MLHS”) at fair value in accordance with ASC 825,
Financial Instruments. Included in mortgage loans held for sale are loans originated as held for sale that are expected to be sold into the secondary
market and loans that have been previously sold and repurchased from investors that management intends to resell into the secondary market, which
are recorded at fair value.

The Company estimates fair value by evaluating a variety of market indicators, including recent trades and outstanding commitments,
calculated on an individual loan basis and aggregated (see Note 2 — Fair Value Measurements). Changes in the fair value of mortgage loans are
recognized in current period income and are included in loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net. Fair value for mortgage loans covered by
investor commitments is based on commitment prices. Fair value for uncommitted loans is based on current delivery prices. The Company is not
permitted to defer the loan origination fees, net of direct loan origination costs associated with these loans.
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Loans are considered sold when the Company surrenders control over the financial assets. Control is considered to have been surrendered
when the transferred assets have been isolated from the Company, beyond the reach of the Company and its creditors; the purchaser obtains the right
(free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets; and the Company does not
maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an agreement that both entitles and obligates the Company to repurchase or redeem the
transferred assets before their maturity. The Company typically considers the above criteria to have been met upon acceptance and receipt of sales
proceeds from the purchaser.

Ginnie Mae Loans Subject to Repurchase Right

In accordance with ASC 860-50, Transfers and Servicing — Servicing Assets and Liabilities (“ASC 860-50”), certain loans, as defined by the
servicer guidelines, serviced by the Company on behalf of GNMA are recognized as an asset, and carried at the unpaid principal balance (“UPB”) of the
loans. The Company has a right to repurchase any loans serviced on behalf of GNMA that are three or more consecutive payments delinquent (“GNMA
Loan Inventory”). The Company recognizes a corresponding liability (“GNMA Loan Payable”) which is recorded at the unpaid principal balance, for loans
in which the Company has not exercised the right to repurchase the loans. If the loan goes through foreclosure and is an FHA loan, HUD acts as the
insurer for GNMA and reimburses the servicer for the UPB plus allowable interest and foreclosure fees. The Company reserves for unreimbursed
interest and fees as part of the general foreclosure reserve. If the loan goes through foreclosure and is a VA loan, the VA acts as the insurer and
reimburses the Company based on the net value of the underlying property. At the amount determined by the VA, the Company accounts for any loss
on VA loans in its foreclosure loss reserve to a certain threshold with any excess charged to its investor reserves. If a foreclosure sale has been held on
an FHA loan, the deed is transferred to the Company and the loan becomes a GNMA real estate owned (“REO”). These are foreclosed real estate
properties securing GNMA loans. Both principal and interest for government insured/guaranteed loans secured by the foreclosed real estate properties
are collectible because the loans are insured by the FHA or guaranteed by the VA. The GNMA Loan Inventory and real estate owned is equal, and
offsetting, to the GNMA Loan Payable.

Mortgage Servicing Rights

Mortgage servicing rights are recognized as assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when loans are sold, and the associated servicing rights
are retained. The Company maintains one class of MSR asset and has elected the fair value option. To determine the fair value of the servicing right
when created, the Company uses a valuation model that calculates the present value of future cash flows. The valuation model incorporates
assumptions that market participants would use in estimating future net servicing income, including estimates of contractual service fees, ancillary
income and late fees, the cost of servicing, the discount rate, float value, the inflation rate, estimated prepayment speeds, and default rates.

Derivative Instruments

The Company enters into IRLCs, forward commitments to sell mortgage loans and to be announced trades which are considered derivative
financial instruments. These items are accounted for as free-standing derivatives and are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value.
The Company treats all of its derivative instruments as economic hedges; therefore, none of its derivative instruments qualify for designation as
accounting hedges.

The Company enters into IRLCs to originate residential mortgage loans at specified interest rates and within a specified period of time, with
customers who have applied for a loan and meet certain credit and underwriting criteria. IRLCs on mortgage loans in process that have not closed, but
are intended to be sold, are considered to be derivatives and changes in fair value are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income as part of
Loan Origination Fees and Gain on Sale of Loans, net. Fair value is based upon changes in the fair value of the underlying mortgages, estimated to be
realizable upon sale into the secondary market, net of estimated incentive compensation expenses. Fair value estimates also consider loan
commitments not expected to be exercised by customers for unforeseen reasons, commonly referred to as fallout.

IRLCs and uncommitted mortgage loans held for sale expose the Company to the risk that the value of the mortgage loans held and mortgage
loans underlying the commitments may decline due to increases in mortgage interest rates during the life of the commitments. To protect against this
risk the Company enters into derivative loan instruments such as forward loan sales commitments, mandatory delivery commitments, options and
futures contracts. Management expects the changes in the fair value of these derivatives to have a negative correlation to the changes in fair value of
the derivative loan commitments and mortgage loans held for sale, thereby reducing earnings volatility. The changes in fair value are recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Income as part of Loan Origination Fees and Gain on Sale of Loans, net. The Company considers various factors and
strategies in determining the portion of the mortgage pipeline and loans held for sale it wants to economically hedge.
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Forward commitments include To-Be-Announced mortgage-backed securities that have been aggregated at the counterparty level for
presentation and disclosure purposes. Counterparty agreements contain a legal right to offset amounts due to and from the same counterparty under
legally enforceable master netting agreements to settle with the same counterparty, on a net basis, as well as the right to obtain cash collateral.
Forward commitments also include commitments to sell loans to counterparties and to purchase loans from counterparties at determined prices. See
Notes 2 and 6 for additional information.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset, usually
three years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the term of the related lease or the estimated
useful life.

The Company recognizes internal-use software within property and equipment which consists of both internal and external costs incurred in the
development, testing and implementation directly related to the new software. The internal-use software is amortized over a three-year period and
begins amortization upon the “go-live” date of the software. The Company determines the “go-live” date as the date in which the software is readily
available to be used companywide.

Acquisitions

When making an acquisition, the Company recognizes separately from goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at their
acquisition date fair values under ASC 805, Business Combinations ("ASC 805"). Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of
consideration transferred and the net of the acquisition date fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The Company uses its best
estimates and assumptions to accurately value assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. The Company’s estimates are inherently
uncertain and actual results may differ from expectations. The Company may record measurement period adjustments during the measurement period
(one year from the acquisition date) that result from obtaining additional information about the facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. If this additional information had been known, it would have affected the accounting for the business combination as of the acquisition
date.

Accounting for business combinations requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition
date with respect to mortgage servicing rights and contingent considerations. Although the Company believes the assumptions and estimates it has
made in the past have been reasonable and appropriate, they are based in part on historical experience and information obtained from the
management of the acquired companies and are inherently uncertain.

Intangible Assets

Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives in a manner that best reflects their
economic benefit. All intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of such
assets may not be recoverable.

Goodwill

Goodwill is recorded at fair value and is tested for potential impairment at least annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The Company’s goodwill is allocated by reporting unit and is evaluated for impairment by first performing a qualitative assessment to determine
whether a quantitative goodwill test is necessary. Qualitative factors include, among other things, macroeconomic conditions, industry and market
considerations, financial performance of the respective reporting unit and other relevant entity and reporting-unit specific considerations. If it is
determined, based on qualitative factors, that the fair value of the reporting unit may be more likely than not less than the carrying amount, or if
significant adverse changes in our future financial performance occur that could materially impact fair value, a quantitative goodwill impairment test
would be required.

The fair value of goodwill is determined by assigning the fair value of the reporting unit to all the assets and liabilities of that unit as if the
reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination. If the fair value is less than the carrying value, the amount of impairment expense is equal
to the difference between the reporting unit’s fair value and the reporting unit’s carrying value. See Note 10 – Goodwill and Intangibles for further
information.

Contingent Liabilities due to Acquisitions

The Company may be required to pay future consideration to the former shareholders of acquired companies, depending upon the terms of the
applicable purchase agreement, which is contingent upon the achievement of certain financial and operating targets. The Company determines the fair
value for its contingent consideration obligations using an income approach whereby the Company forecasts the cash outflows related to
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the earn-outs, which are based on a percentage of net income specified in the purchase agreements. The Company then discounts these expected
payment amounts to calculate the fair value as of the valuation date. The Company’s management evaluates the underlying projections used in
determining fair value each period and makes updates to these underlying projections when there have been significant changes in management’s
expectations of the future business performance.

The principal significant unobservable input used in the valuations of the Company’s contingent consideration obligations is a risk-adjusted
discount rate. Whereas management’s underlying projections adjust for market penetration and other economic expectations, the discount rate is risk-
adjusted for key factors such as uncertainty in the mortgage banking industry due to its reliance on external influences (interest rates, regulatory
changes, etc.), upfront payments, and credit risk. An increase in the discount rate will result in a decrease in the fair value of contingent consideration.
Conversely, a decrease in the discount rate will result in an increase in the fair value of contingent consideration.

At each reporting date, or whenever there are significant changes in underlying key assumptions, a review of these assumptions is performed
and the contingent consideration liability is updated to its estimated fair value. If there are no significant changes in the assumptions, the quarterly
determination of the fair value of contingent consideration reflects the implied interest for the passage of time. Changes in the estimated fair value of
the contingent consideration obligations may result from changes in the terms of the contingent payments, changes in discount periods and rates and
changes in probability assumptions with respect to the timing and likelihood of achieving the certain financial targets. Actual progress toward achieving
the financial targets for the remaining measurement periods may be different than the Company’s expectations of future performance. The change in
the estimated fair value of contingent consideration is included in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Leases

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification 842, Leases, (Topic 842), using the optional transition method to
the modified retrospective approach, which eliminated the requirement to restate the prior period financial statements.

The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception, which is the date on which the terms of the contract are agreed
to and the agreement creates enforceable rights and obligations. The Company also considers whether its service arrangements include the right to
control the use of an asset.

The Company elected the “package of practical expedients”, which permitted the Company to retain lease classification and initial direct costs
for any identified leases that exist prior to adoption of Topic 842. Under this transition guidance, the Company also has not reassessed whether any
existing contracts at January 1, 2020 are or contain leases and has carried forward its initial determination under legacy lease guidance. The Company
has not elected to adopt the “hindsight” practical expedient, and therefore measured the right-of-use ("ROU") asset and lease liability using the
remaining portion of the lease term at adoption on January 1, 2020.  

The Company made an accounting policy election available under the new lease standard to not recognize lease assets and lease liabilities for
leases with a term of 12 months or less. For all other leases, the initial measurement of the ROU asset and lease liability is based on the present value
of future lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date of the lease (or January 1, 2020 for existing leases upon the adoption of
Topic 842). Lease payments may include fixed rent escalation clauses or payments that depend on an index or a rate (such as the consumer price
index) measured using the index or applicable rate at lease commencement. Subsequent changes in the index or rate and any other variable
payments, such as market-rate base rent adjustments, are recognized as variable lease expense in the period incurred. To determine the present
value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate, as the leases generally do not have a readily determinable implicit discount
rate. The Company applies judgement in assessing factors such as Company-specific credit risk, lease term, nature and quality of the underlying
collateral and the economic environment in determining the lease-specific incremental borrowing rate. The ROU assets are also adjusted for any initial
direct costs incurred and lease payments made at or before the commencement date and are reduced by lease incentives.  

The Company’s leases generally include a non-lease component representing additional services transferred to the Company, such as common
area maintenance for real estate. The Company has made an accounting policy election to account for lease and non-lease components in its contacts
as a single lease component for all asset classes. The non-lease components are usually variable in nature and recorded in variable lease expense in
the period incurred.

The Company recognizes lease expense on a straight-line basis excluding short-term and variable lease payments which are recognized as
incurred. Short-term lease cost represents payments for leases with a lease term of twelve months or less, excluding leases with a term of one month
or less.

Real Estate Owned
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There are two types of REO properties held by the Company. The first is considered a traditional REO where the Company owns, markets, and
sells the property. At the time of foreclosure, other real estate owned is recorded at the asset’s fair value less selling costs, which becomes the
property’s new basis. After foreclosure, these assets are carried at the lower of their new cost basis or fair value less selling costs. Costs incurred in
maintaining foreclosed real estate and subsequent write-downs to reflect declines in the fair value of the property are expensed as incurred. At
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $0.2 million of traditional REOs.

The second type is foreclosed real estate securing GNMA loans in process of conveyance to HUD but insured by the FHA, where the Company is
the controller of the deed for a period of time. For GNMA loans, the property becomes REO if not sold to a third party at its foreclosure sale. Both
principal and debenture rate interest for government insured loans secured by the foreclosed real estate are collectible because the loans are insured
by the FHA. This is valued at the UPB of the loan, which is considered to be fair value, as HUD reimburses the Company for the UPB plus debenture
rate interest and fees. The Company reserves for unreimbursed interest in excess of the debenture rate and fees as part of the foreclosure loss
reserve. The total REO property that will be conveyed to HUD was valued at $0.3 million and $1.2 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Investor Reserves

The Company has exposure to potential mortgage loan repurchases and indemnifications in its capacity as a loan originator and servicer. The
estimation of the liability for probable losses related to the repurchase and indemnification obligation considers an estimate of probable future
repurchase or indemnification obligations from breaches of representations and warranties. The liability related to specific non-performing loans is
based on a loan-level analysis considering the current collateral value, estimated sales proceeds and selling costs. The liability related to probable
future repurchase or indemnification obligations is segregated by year of origination and considers the amount of unresolved repurchase and
indemnification requests, as well as an estimate of future repurchase demands. Future repurchase demands are estimated based upon recent and
historical repurchase and indemnification experience, as well as the success rate in appealing repurchase requests and an estimated loss severity,
based on current loss rates for similar loans. The Company also has exposure to early payment defaults (“EPD”) and/or early payoff fees (“EPO”).
When the Company sells a loan to an investor and the loan either pays off or goes into default within a certain timeframe, the Company could be
exposed to EPD and/or EPO fees in accordance with each investor’s contract. The Company reserves for these fees by estimating early payment
defaults and fees based on prior loan activity and current loan origination volume.

Foreclosure Loss Reserve and Provision for Foreclosure Losses

The Company has exposure for losses associated with government loans in foreclosure related to nonrefundable interest and foreclosure
servicing costs. The Company maintains a reserve for government loans currently in foreclosure based on historical loss experience. The Company also
accrues for any additional known losses above the current loss per loan; for example, losses due to servicer delays.

Advertising

Advertising is expensed as incurred and amounted to $12.9 million and $11.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, and is included within general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The fair value of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) is based on
the value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur and reverses previously
recognized expense for the unvested portion of the forfeited shares. Stock-based compensation is included in salaries, incentive compensation and
benefits. See Note 16 for additional information.

Earnings Per Share

The Company determines earnings per share in accordance with the authoritative guidance in ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share. Basic
earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income available to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period using the two-class method. Diluted earnings per share is computed in the same manner as basic
earnings per share, except that the number of shares is increased to assume the issuance of potentially dilutive shares using the treasury stock
method, unless the effect of such increase would be anti-dilutive. Under the treasury stock method, the average amount of compensation cost for
future service that the Company has not yet recognized is assumed to be used to repurchase shares. 
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Common Stock Cash Dividend

The Company declared and paid dividends of $2.00 per share on its Class A and Class B common stock during 2021 totaling $121.1 million.

Non-vested RSUs under the 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan have rights to dividends, which entitle holders to the same dividend value per share
as holders of shares of Class A common stock in the form of dividend equivalent units ("DEUs"). DEUs will be credited as additional RSUs on the
dividend payment date and will vest on the same date as the underlying RSUs and are forfeited if the underlying RSUs forfeit prior to vesting. The
number of additional RSUs credited will equal (1) the per share cash dividend amount, multiplied by (2) the number of RSUs, divided by (3) the fair
market value of a share of Class A common stock on the last trading day before the date of the dividend payment, rounded up to the nearest whole
number of RSUs.

In conjunction with the payment of Guild's dividends, Guild issued 193,130 DEUs to holders of RSUs. Since the DEUs are forfeitable, the value
of the DEUs was recorded as a reduction to retained earnings and a credit to additional paid-in capital.

Offering Costs

The Company complies with the requirements of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 5A — “Expenses of Offering.” Offering costs consist
principally of professional and registration fees incurred through the balance sheet date that are related to our IPO and were charged to stockholders’
equity upon the completion. Accordingly, offering costs totaling $4.5 million were charged to stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2020.    

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company recognizes the effect of income
tax positions only if those positions are more-likely than-not to be sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that
is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment
occurs. The Company records interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and records penalties as a component of income taxes.

Escrow and Fiduciary Funds

As a loan servicer, the Company maintains segregated bank accounts in trust for investors and escrow balances for mortgagors, which are
excluded from the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. These accounts totaled $1.1 billion and $1.7 billion at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Risks and Uncertainties

In the normal course of business, companies in the mortgage banking industry encounter certain economic, liquidity, and regulatory risks.

Economic risk includes interest rate risk and credit risk.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s mortgage loans held for sale, commitments to originate loans, and mortgage servicing rights are subject to interest rate risk.
For mortgage loans held for sale and commitments to originate loans, to the extent that a rising interest rate environment exists, the Company may
experience a decrease in loan production and decreases in value, which may negatively impact the Company’s operations. To mitigate this risk the
Company uses hedging strategies designed to ensure any fluctuations in rates would not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position.
For the Company’s mortgage servicing rights, to the extent that a declining interest rate environment exists, the Company may experience decreases
in the fair value of the portfolio, which may negatively impact the Company’s financial position. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
Company experienced a decline in the valuation of its MSR portfolio. Since the Company also has a large origination platform the Company believes it
was able to mitigate this risk by recapturing a significant portion of the runoff through refinances.

Credit risk
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Credit risk is the risk of default that may result from borrowers’ inability or unwillingness to make contractually required payments during the
period in which loans are being held for sale. The Company considers credit risk associated with these loans to be insignificant as it holds the loans for
a short period of time, typically less than a month, and historically the Company has not experienced any material losses due to credit risk on loans
held for sale.

The Company sells loans to investors without recourse. As such, the investors have assumed the risk of loss or default by the borrower.
However, the Company is usually required by these investors to make certain standard representations and warranties relating to credit information,
loan documentation and collateral. To the extent that the Company does not comply with such representations, or there are early payment defaults,
the Company may be required to repurchase the loans or indemnify these investors for any losses from borrower defaults, defects in the collateral or
errors made in the credit decision.

The Company is also subject to counterparty credit risk in the event of contractual nonperformance by its trading counterparties to its various
over-the-counter derivative financial instruments. The Company manages this credit risk by selecting only counterparties that it believes to be
financially strong, spreading the credit risk among many such counterparties, placing contractual limits on the amount of unsecured credit extended to
any single counterparty, and entering into netting agreements with the counterparties as appropriate. The master netting agreements contain a legal
right to offset amounts due to and from the same counterparty. Derivative assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets represent derivative contracts in
a gain position net of loss positions with the same counterparty and, therefore, also represent the Company’s maximum counterparty credit risk. The
Company incurred no credit losses due to nonperformance of any of its counterparties during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Liquidity risk

The Company encounters liquidity risk as the business requires substantial cash to support its operating activities. As a result, the Company is
dependent on its lines of credit, and other financing facilities in order to finance its continued operations. If the Company’s principal lenders decided to
terminate or not to renew these credit facilities with the Company, the loss of borrowing capacity could have an adverse impact on the Company’s
financial statements unless the Company found a suitable alternative source. To mitigate this risk, the Company has multiple financing facilities with
different lenders and varied maturity dates. Historically, the Company has not had a line of credit involuntarily terminated by a lender. The Company
assesses market conditions and closely monitors and projects cash flows over multiple time periods to anticipate and mitigate liquidity risk.

Regulatory risk

The Company is subject to extensive and comprehensive regulation under federal, state and local laws in the United States. These laws and
regulations significantly affect the way in which the Company does business and can restrict the scope of the Company’s existing business and limit the
Company’s ability to expand product offerings or pursue acquisitions, or can make costs to service or originate loans higher, which could impact
financial results. The Company continually monitors its regulatory environment for any changes that could have a significant impact on operations.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740). This update provides amendments to simplify and reduce
complexity when accounting for income taxes as well as eliminating certain exceptions. The Company adopted ASU 2019-12 on January 1, 2021 and
the adoption did not have a material impact on its financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40). This update provides
guidance on accounting for a cloud computing arrangement that includes a license to internal-use software. This generally means that an intangible
asset is recognized for the software license and, to the extent that the payments attributable to the software license are made over time, a liability also
is recognized. If a cloud computing arrangement does not include a software license, the entity should account for the arrangement as a service
contract which would generally mean to expense the service as incurred. The Company adopted ASU 2018-15 on January 1, 2021 on a prospective
basis and the adoption did not have a material impact on its financial statements.

Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-4, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on
Financial Reporting, which provides temporary optional expedients and exceptions to the US GAAP guidance on contract modifications and hedge
accounting to ease the financial reporting burdens of the expected market transition from the London Interbank Offered Rate (" LIBOR") and
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other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates. ASU 2020-04 generally considers contract modifications related to reference rate reform to
be an event that does not require contract remeasurement at the modification date nor a reassessment of a previous accounting determination. In
January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope, which clarifies that the practical expedients in ASU 2020-04
apply to derivatives impacted by changes in the interest rate used for margining, discounting, or contract price alignment. The guidance in ASU 2020-
04 is optional and may be elected over time, through December 31, 2022, as reference rate reform activities occur. Once ASU 2020-04 is elected, the
guidance must be applied prospectively for all eligible contract modifications. The Company is in the process of transitioning its funding facilities and
financing facilities that utilize LIBOR as the reference rate. For contracts to which ASC Topic 470, Debt applies, we have applied the optional
expedients available from ASU 2020-04 and accounted for the contract modifications related to reference rate reform prospectively. Of the contracts
that have been adjusted for the new reference rate, there has not been a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. We expect to
amend the remaining borrowings before the July 1, 2023 LIBOR cessation date.

NOTE 2 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or
most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Inputs used to
measure fair value are prioritized within a three-level fair value hierarchy. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The categorization of assets and liabilities measured at fair value within the valuation hierarchy is based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

• Level One - Level One inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the
ability to access at the measurement date.

• Level Two - Level Two inputs are observable for that asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and include quoted prices for similar
assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, observable
inputs for the asset or liability other than quoted prices and inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by
correlation or other means. If the asset or liability has a specified contractual term, the inputs must be observable for substantially the full
term of the asset or liability.

• Level Three - Level Three inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability that reflect the Company’s assessment of the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk, and are developed based
on the best information available.

The Company updates the valuation of each instrument recorded at fair value on a monthly or quarterly basis, evaluating all available
observable information which may include current market prices or bids, recent trade activity, changes in the levels of market activity and
benchmarking of industry data. The assessment also includes consideration of identifying the valuation approach that would be used currently by
market participants. If it is determined that a change in valuation technique or its application is appropriate, or if there are other changes in availability
of observable data or market activity, the current methodology will be analyzed to determine if a transfer between levels of the valuation hierarchy is
appropriate. Such reclassifications are reported as transfers into or out of a level as of the beginning of the quarter that the change occurs.

Fair value is based on quoted market prices, when available. If quoted prices are not available, fair value is estimated based upon other
observable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used when observable inputs are not available and are based upon judgments and assumptions, which are
the Company’s assessment of the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. These inputs may include assumptions
about risk, counterparty credit quality, the Company’s creditworthiness and liquidity and are developed based on the best information available. When
a determination is made to classify an asset or liability within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy, the determination is based upon the significance
of the unobservable factors to the overall fair value measurement of the asset or liability. The fair value of assets and liabilities classified within Level
Three of the valuation hierarchy also typically includes observable factors and the realized or unrealized gain or loss recorded from the valuation of
these instruments would also include amounts determined by observable factors.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s fair value measurements are evaluated within the fair value hierarchy, based on the nature of the inputs used to determine the
fair value at the measurement date. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had the following assets and liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis:

Trading Securities — Trading securities are classified within Level One of the valuation hierarchy. Valuation is based upon quoted prices for
identical instruments traded in active markets. Level One
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trading securities include securities traded on active exchange markets, such as the New York Stock Exchange. Trading securities are included
within prepaid expenses and other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Derivative Instruments — Derivative instruments are classified within Level Two and Level Three of the valuation hierarchy, and include the
following:

Interest Rate Lock Commitments — IRLCs are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy. IRLCs represent an agreement to extend
credit to a mortgage loan applicant, or an agreement to purchase a loan from a third-party originator, whereby the interest rate on the loan is
set prior to funding. The fair value of IRLCs is based upon the estimated fair value of the underlying mortgage loan, including the expected net
future cash flows related to servicing the mortgage loan, net of estimated incentive compensation expenses, and adjusted for: (i) estimated
costs to complete and originate the loan and (ii) an adjustment to reflect the estimated percentage of IRLCs that will result in a closed mortgage
loan under the original terms of the agreement (pull-through rate). The pull-through rate is considered a significant unobservable input and is
estimated based on changes in pricing and actual borrower behavior using a historical analysis of loan closing and fallout data. The average pull-
through rate used to calculate the fair value of IRLCs as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, was 91.5% and 87.8%, respectively. On a quarterly
basis, actual loan pull-through rates are compared to the modeled estimates to confirm the assumptions are reflective of current trends.
Generally, a change in interest rates is accompanied by a directionally opposite change in the assumption used for the pull-through percentage,
and the impact to fair value of a change in pull-through would be partially offset by the related change in price.

Forward Delivery Commitments — Forward delivery commitments are classified within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy. Forward delivery
commitments fix the forward sales price that will be realized upon the sale of mortgage loans into the secondary market. The fair value of
forward delivery commitments is primarily based upon the current agency mortgage-backed security market to-be-announced pricing specific to
the loan program, delivery coupon and delivery date of the trade. Best efforts sales commitments are also entered into for certain loans at the
time the borrower commitment is made. These best-efforts sales commitments are valued using the committed price to the counterparty against
the current market price of the IRLC or mortgage loan held for sale.

Option contracts are a type of forward commitment that represents the rights to buy or sell mortgage-backed securities at specified prices in the
future. Their value is based upon the underlying current to-be-announced pricing of the agency mortgage-backed security market, and market-
based volatility. See Note 6 for additional information on the derivative instruments.

Mortgage Loans Held for Sale — MLHS are carried at fair value. The fair value of MLHS is based on secondary market pricing for loans with
similar characteristics, and as such, is classified as a Level Two measurement. For Level Two MLHS, fair value is estimated through a market
approach by using either: (i) the fair value of securities backed by similar mortgage loans, adjusted for certain factors to approximate the fair
value of a whole mortgage loan, including the value attributable to servicing rights and credit risk, (ii) current commitments to purchase loans or
(iii) recent observable market trades for similar loans, adjusted for credit risk and other individual loan characteristics. The agency mortgage-
backed security market is a highly liquid and active secondary market for conforming conventional loans whereby quoted prices exist for
securities at the pass-through level and are published on a regular basis. The Company has the ability to access this market and it is the market
into which conforming mortgage loans are typically sold.

Mortgage Servicing Rights — MSRs are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy due to the use of significant unobservable
inputs and the lack of an active market for such assets. The fair value of MSRs is estimated based upon projections of expected future cash
flows considering prepayment estimates, the Company’s historical prepayment rates, portfolio characteristics, interest rates based on interest
rate yield curves, implied volatility, costs to service and other economic factors. The Company obtains valuations from an independent third
party on a monthly basis, and records an adjustment based on this third-party valuation. See Note 7 for additional information on our MSRs.

Contingent Liabilities due to acquisitions — Contingent liabilities represent future obligations of the Company to make payments to the
former owners of its acquired companies. The Company determines the fair value of its contingent liabilities using a discounted cash flow
approach whereby the Company forecasts the cash outflows related to the future payments, which are based on a percentage of net income
specified in the purchase agreements. The Company then discounts these expected payment amounts to calculate the present value, or fair
value, as of the valuation date. The Company’s management evaluates the underlying projections used in determining fair value each period and
makes updates to these underlying projections.

The Company uses a risk-adjusted discount rate to value the contingent liabilities which is considered a significant unobservable input, and as
such, the liabilities are classified as a Level Three measurement.
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Management’s underlying projections adjust for market penetration and other economic expectations, and the discount rate is risk-adjusted for
key factors such as uncertainty in the mortgage banking industry due to its reliance on external influences (interest rates, regulatory changes,
etc.), upfront payments, and credit risk. An increase in the discount rate will result in a decrease in the fair value of the contingent liabilities.
Conversely, a decrease in the discount rate will result in an increase in the fair value of the contingent liabilities. At December 31, 2021 and
2020, the range of the risk adjusted discount rate was 15.0%% - 19.5%%, with a median of 19.1%%, and 15.0%% - 20.0%%, with a median
of 15.0%%, respectively. Adjustments to the fair value of the contingent liabilities (other than payments) are recorded as a gain or loss and are
included within general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The following table summarizes the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2021:

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:

Trading securities $ 107 $ — $ — $ 107 
Derivative

Forward delivery commitments — 5,842 — 5,842 
Interest rate lock commitments — — 22,119 22,119 

Mortgage loans held for sale — 2,204,216 — 2,204,216 
Mortgage servicing rights — — 675,340 675,340 

Total assets at fair value $ 107 $ 2,210,058 $ 697,459 $ 2,907,624 

Liabilities:
Derivative

Forward delivery commitments $ — $ 2,079 $ — $ 2,079 
Contingent liabilities due to acquisitions — — 59,500 59,500 

Total liabilities at fair value $ — $ 2,079 $ 59,500 $ 61,579 

The following table summarizes the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2020:

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Trading securities $ 78 $ — $ — $ 78 
Derivative

Interest rate lock commitments — — 130,338 130,338 
Mortgage loans held for sale — 2,368,777 — 2,368,777 
Mortgage servicing rights — — 446,998 446,998 

Total assets at fair value $ 78 $ 2,368,777 $ 577,336 $ 2,946,191 

Liabilities:
Derivative

Forward delivery commitments $ — $ 38,270 $ — $ 38,270 
Contingent liabilities due to acquisitions — — 18,094 18,094 

Total liabilities at fair value $ — $ 38,270 $ 18,094 $ 56,364 
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The table below presents a reconciliation of certain Level Three assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the years
ended:

 IRLCs
Contingent
Liabilities

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 19,922 $ 8,073 
Net transfers and revaluation gains 110,416 — 
Payments — (21,684)
Valuation adjustments — 31,705 
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 130,338 $ 18,094 

Net transfers and revaluation losses (108,219) —
Payments — (27,507)
Additions — 63,956 
Valuation adjustments — 4,957 
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 22,119 $ 59,500 

Changes in the availability of observable inputs may result in reclassifications of certain assets or liabilities. Such reclassifications are reported
as transfers in or out of Level Three as of the beginning of the period that the change occurs. There were no transfers between fair value levels during
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets and liabilities that are not typically measured at fair value on a recurring basis may be subject to fair value measurement
requirements under certain circumstances. These adjustments to fair value usually result from write-downs of individual assets. At December 31, 2021
and 2020, the Company had the following financial asset measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis:

Ginnie Mae Loans subject to Repurchase Right — GNMA securitization programs allow servicers to buy back individual delinquent mortgage
loans from the securitized loan pool once certain conditions are met. If a borrower makes no payment for three consecutive months, the
servicer has the option to repurchase the delinquent loan for an amount equal to 100% of the loan’s remaining principal balance. Under ASC
860, Transfers and Servicing, this buy-back option is considered a conditional option until the delinquency criteria are met, at which time the
option becomes unconditional. The Company records these assets and liabilities at their fair value, which is determined to be the remaining
unpaid principal balance. The Company’s future expected realizable cash flows are the cash payments of the remaining unpaid principal balance
whether paid by the borrower or reimbursed through a claim filed with HUD. The Company considers the fair value of these assets and liabilities
to fall into the Level Two bucket in the valuation hierarchy due to the assets and liabilities having specified contractual terms and the inputs are
observable for substantially the full term of the assets' and liabilities' lives.

The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2021:

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Ginnie Mae loans subject to repurchase right $ — $ 728,978 $ — $ 728,978 

Total assets at fair value $ — $ 728,978 $ — $ 728,978 

Liabilities:
Ginnie Mae loans subject to repurchase right $ — $ 729,260 $ — $ 729,260 

Total liabilities at fair value $ — $ 729,260 $ — $ 729,260 
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The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2020:

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Ginnie Mae loans subject to repurchase right $ — $ 1,275,842 $ — $ 1,275,842 

Total assets at fair value $ — $ 1,275,842 $ — $ 1,275,842 

Liabilities:
Ginnie Mae loans subject to repurchase right $ — $ 1,277,026 $ — $ 1,277,026 

Total liabilities at fair value $ — $ 1,277,026 $ — $ 1,277,026 

Fair Value Option

The following is the estimated fair value and unpaid principal balance of MLHS that have contractual principal amounts and for which the
Company has elected the fair value option. The fair value option was elected for MLHS as the Company believes fair value best reflects their expected
future economic performance:

Fair Value

Principal
Amount Due

Upon
Maturity Difference

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 2,204,216 $ 2,184,326 $ 19,890 
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 2,368,777 $ 2,293,895 $ 74,882 

_______________________________
Represents the amount of gains included in loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net due to changes in fair value of items accounted
for using the fair value option.

NOTE 3 - ACQUISITION

On July 1, 2021, the Company completed the previously announced acquisition of Residential Mortgage Services Holdings, Inc. ("RMS"). RMS is
an independent retail mortgage lender focused in the Northeast. This strategic acquisition expanded Guild’s presence in this region and added
experienced loan officers to Guild’s sales force.

The acquisition was accounted for in accordance with ASC 805, whereby the purchase price paid was allocated to the tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed from RMS based on their estimated fair values as of the closing date. Certain amounts are
provisional and are subject to change, including final working capital adjustments and goodwill.

Total consideration for the acquisition was approximately $265.0 million. The acquisition was financed with a combination of $185.8 million in
cash and the issuance of 996,644 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. Additionally, RMS shareholders are entitled to contingent
consideration based on net income from RMS branch locations for three years following June 1, 2021. These contingent consideration payments will be
calculated and paid based on rolling 12-month periods commencing as of June 1, 2021 and ending on the first anniversary of such date, and thereafter
on consecutive 12-month periods.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payments on the acquisition date was $64.0 million and was determined utilizing a Monte Carlo
model based on estimated future revenues and volatility factors, among other variables and estimates, and has no maximum payment. The contingent
consideration payments to the RMS shareholders are not capped; therefore there is no predetermined upper bound to the undiscounted range and an
estimate of the range of outcomes cannot be estimated.

The purchase price allocation provided in the table below reflects the preliminary determination of the fair value of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in the acquisition of RMS, with the excess of total consideration over total identifiable net assets recorded as goodwill. Goodwill in
the amount of $112.3 million is primarily attributable to the assembled workforce and future growth expected after the acquisition date and will not be
deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill recognized was assigned to our Origination segment. Transaction costs associated with the RMS
acquisition were approximately $5.2 million and were expensed as incurred within general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements
of Income.

The following summarizes the estimated fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date. These
estimates of fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are preliminary, pending completion of the final purchase price allocation,
primarily in the area of accounting for income taxes and therefore are subject to revisions that may result in adjustments to the values presented
below:

(1)

(1)
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Purchase price:
Cash paid at closing of the transaction $ 185,786 
Fair value of Class A common stock issued  15,289 
Estimated fair value of contingent consideration 63,956 

Total purchase price 265,031 

Fair value of assets acquired:
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 85,559 
Mortgage loans held for sale 465,020 
Acquired intangible assets 45,000 
Right-of-use assets 11,855 
Other 35,213 

Total assets acquired 642,647 

Fair value of liabilities assumed:
Warehouse lines of credit 431,175 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 26,960 
Operating lease liabilities 12,959 
Deferred taxes 16,231 
Other 2,601 

Total liabilities assumed 489,926 

Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired 152,721 

Goodwill $ 112,310 

The fair value of the Company's Class A common stock issued was determined based on the closing market price on June 30, 2021, the last
trading day prior to the close of the acquisition.

The identifiable intangible assets of $45.0 million are subject to amortization. The following table summarizes the major classes of acquired
intangible assets and their respective estimated fair values and estimated useful lives:

Estimated Fair Value
Estimated Useful Life

(Years)
Acquired intangible assets:  
Referral network $ 42,300 6
Non-compete agreements 2,700 3

Total acquired intangible assets $ 45,000 

The amount of RMS' net revenue and net income since the July 1, 2021 acquisition date, included in our Consolidated Statement of Income for
the year ended December 31, 2021 were as follows:

Net revenue $ 104,557 
Net income $ 12,804 

The following table presents the unaudited pro forma information assuming the acquisition of RMS occurred on January 1, 2020. The unaudited
pro forma results reflect after-tax adjustments for amortization of acquired intangible assets and other immaterial adjustments for the effects of
purchase accounting. The unaudited pro forma information is presented for information purposes only, and is not necessarily indicative of future
operations or results had the acquisition been completed as of January 1, 2020:

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020

Net revenues $ 1,721,597 $ 1,961,288 
Net income $ 307,854 $ 467,121 
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The Company did not have any material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the
reported pro forma net revenues and net income.

NOTE 4 - ACCOUNTS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLE

Accounts and interest receivable consisted of the following at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

 2021 2020

Trust advances $ 43,660 $ 36,241 
Foreclosure advances, net 19,311 2,894 
Receivables related to loan sales 3,043 2,707 
Other 2,345 1,548 

Total accounts and interest receivable $ 68,359 $ 43,390 

Management has established a foreclosure reserve for estimated uncollectible balances of the foreclosure and trust advances. Management
believes that substantially all other accounts and interest receivable amounts are collectible and, accordingly, no allowance for doubtful accounts is
necessary.

The activity of the foreclosure loss reserve was as follows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

 2021 2020

Balance — beginning of year $ 12,402 $ 7,869 
Utilization of foreclosure reserve (1,529) (3,167)
(Relief) provision for foreclosure losses (518) 7,700 

Balance — end of year $ 10,355 $ 12,402 

NOTE 5 - OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Prepaid expenses $ 32,900 $ 16,652 
Company owned life insurance 38,824 29,910 
Property and equipment, net 15,834 14,773 
Right-of-use assets 86,484 87,508 
Income tax receivable 39,295 — 
Real estate owned 471 1,354 
Land 146 — 
Trading securities 107 78 

Total other assets $ 214,061 $ 150,275 

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Computer equipment $ 30,355 $ 22,946 
Furniture and equipment 25,833 18,301 
Leasehold improvements 16,214 12,307 
Internal-use software in production 1,548 1,716 
Internal-use software 8,557 5,639 

Property and equipment, gross 82,507 60,909 
Accumulated depreciation (66,673) (46,136)

Property and equipment, net $ 15,834 $ 14,773 

Depreciation and amortization expense for fixed assets was $7.5 million for the years ending December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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NOTE 6 - DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company uses forward commitments in hedging the interest rate risk exposure on its fixed and adjustable rate commitments. The
Company’s derivative instruments are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes; therefore, changes in fair value are recognized
in current period earnings. Realized and unrealized gains and losses from the Company's non-designated derivative instruments are included in loan
origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Changes in the fair value of the Company's derivative financial instruments are as follows for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Unrealized loss (gain) $ (82,668) $ 77,009 

Notional and Fair Value

The notional and fair value of derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging instruments were as follows at December 31, 2021
and 2020:

Fair Value
Notional

Value
Derivative

Asset
Derivative
Liability

Balance at December 31, 2021
IRLCs $ 2,388,097 $ 22,119 $ — 
Forward commitments $ 3,217,162 $ 5,842 $ 2,079 
Balance at December 31, 2020
IRLCs $ 5,151,179 $ 130,338 $ — 
Forward commitments $ 5,480,491 $ — $ 38,270 

The Company had an additional $654.0 million and $895.2 million of outstanding forward contracts and mandatory sell commitments,
comprised of closed loans with equal and offsetting unpaid principal balance ("UPB") amounts allocated to them, at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The Company also had $767.5 million and $908.0 million in closed instruments not yet settled at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. See Note 2 for fair value disclosure of the derivative instruments.

The following table presents the quantitative information about IRLCs and the fair value measurements as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Unobservable Input Range (Weighted Average)
Loan funding probability (“pull-through”) 0% -100% (91.5%) 0% - 100% (87.8%)

Counterparty agreements for forward commitments contain master netting agreements. The master netting agreements contain a legal right to
offset amounts due to and from the same counterparty. The Company incurred no credit losses due to nonperformance of any of its counterparties
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The table below represents financial assets and liabilities that are subject to master netting arrangements categorized by financial instrument.
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Gross
Amounts of

Recognized Assets
(Liabilities)

Gross
Amounts

Offset in the
Balance
Sheet

Net
Amounts of
Recognized

Assets (Liabilities) in
the Balance

Sheet
December 31, 2021
Forward delivery commitments $ 7,541 $ (1,699) $ 5,842 

Total assets $ 7,541 $ (1,699) $ 5,842 

Forward delivery commitments $ 1,575 $ (2,710) $ (1,135)
Best efforts sales commitments (944) — (944)

Total liabilities $ 631 $ (2,710) $ (2,079)

December 31, 2020
Forward delivery commitments $ (54,419) $ 4,825 $ (49,594)
Best efforts sales commitments (3,656) — (3,656)
Margin calls 14,980 — 14,980 

Total liabilities $ (43,095) $ 4,825 $ (38,270)

NOTE 7 - MORTGAGE SERVICING RIGHTS

The activity of mortgage servicing rights was as follows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Balance — beginning of year $ 446,998 $ 418,402 

MSRs originated and acquired through acquisitions 337,273 324,903 
Sale of subserviced portfolio (7,359) — 
Changes in fair value:

Due to collection/realization of cash flows (150,954) (124,742)
Due to changes in valuation model inputs or assumptions 49,382 (171,565)

Balance — end of year $ 675,340 $ 446,998 

The following table presents the weighted average discount rate, prepayment speed and cost to service assumptions used to determine the fair
value of MSRs as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Unobservable Input Range (Weighted Average)
Discount rate 9.3% - 15.5% (9.9%) 9.2% - 15.5% (10.0%)
Prepayment rate 7.3% - 29.5% (13.6%) 10.0% - 38.8% (18.2%)
Cost to service (per loan) $71.9 - $247.6 ($91.4) $71.0 - $409.4 ($92.5)

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the MSRs had a weighted average life of approximately 5.9 years and 5.1 years, respectively. See Note 2 for
additional information regarding the valuation of MSRs.

Actual revenue generated from servicing activities included contractually specified servicing fees, as well as late fees and other ancillary
servicing revenue, which were recorded within loan servicing and other fees as follows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Servicing fees from servicing portfolio $ 189,097 $ 155,362 
Late fees 5,429 5,229 
Other ancillary servicing revenue 233 (354)

Total loan servicing and other fees $ 194,759 $ 160,237 
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At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans serviced totaled $70.9 billion and $60.8 billion, respectively.
Conforming conventional loans serviced by the Company are sold to FNMA FHLMC programs on a nonrecourse basis, whereby foreclosure losses are
generally the responsibility of FNMA and FHLMC and not the Company. Similarly, certain loans serviced by the Company are secured through GNMA
programs, whereby the Company is insured against loss by the FHA or partially guaranteed against loss by the VA.

The key assumptions used to estimate the fair value of MSRs are prepayment speeds, the discount rate and costs to service. Increases in
prepayment speeds generally have an adverse effect on the value of MSRs as the underlying loans prepay faster. In a declining interest rate
environment, the fair value of MSRs generally decreases as prepayments increase and therefore, the estimated life of the MSRs and related cash flows
decrease. Decreases in prepayment speeds generally have a positive effect on the value of MSRs as the underlying loans prepay less frequently. In a
rising interest rate environment, the fair value of MSRs generally increases as prepayments decrease and therefore, the estimated life of the MSRs and
related cash flows increase. Increases in the discount rate generally have an adverse effect on the value of the MSRs. The discount rate is risk
adjusted for key factors such as uncertainty in the mortgage banking industry due to its reliance on external influences (interest rates, regulatory
changes, etc.), premium for market liquidity, and credit risk. A higher discount rate would indicate higher uncertainty of the future cash
flows. Conversely, decreases in the discount rate generally have a positive effect on the value of the MSRs. Increases in the costs to service generally
have an adverse effect on the value of the MSRs as an increase in costs to service would reduce the Company’s future net cash inflows from servicing
a loan. Conversely, decreases in the costs to service generally have a positive effect on the value of the MSRs. MSR uncertainties are hypothetical and
do not always have a direct correlation with each assumption. Changes in one assumption may result in changes to another assumption, which might
magnify or counteract the uncertainties.

The following table illustrates the impact of adverse changes on the prepayment speeds, discount rate and cost to service at two different data
points at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively:

Prepayment Speeds Discount Rate Cost to Service (per loan)
10% Adverse

Change
20% Adverse

Change
10% Adverse

Change
20% Adverse

Change
10% Adverse

Change
20% Adverse

Change
December 31, 2021

Mortgage servicing rights $ (35,704) $ (69,207) $ (23,135) $ (45,139) $ (7,875) $ (16,288)
December 31, 2020

Mortgage servicing rights $ (36,117) $ (66,419) $ (18,638) $ (32,312) $ (10,334) $ (16,700)

NOTE 8 - MORTGAGE LOANS HELD FOR SALE

The Company sells substantially all of its originated mortgage loans into the secondary market. The Company may retain the right to service
some of these loans upon sale through ownership of servicing rights. A reconciliation of the changes in mortgage loans held for sale to the amounts
presented in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 is set forth below:

2021 2020
Balance at the beginning of period $ 2,368,777 $ 1,504,842 
Origination of mortgage loans held for sale 37,178,171 35,238,696 
Proceeds on sale of payments from mortgage loans held for sale (39,029,444) (35,754,326)
Mortgage loans acquired (see Note 3) 465,020 — 
Gain on sale of mortgage loans excluding fair value of other financial instruments, net 1,289,465 1,323,482 
Valuation adjustment of mortgage loans held for sale (67,773) 56,083 

Balance at the end of period $ 2,204,216 $ 2,368,777 

At December 31, 2021, mortgage loans held for sale included unpaid principal balances of the underlying loans of $2.2 billion and had a fair
value of $2.2 billion. At December 31, 2020, mortgage loans held for sale included unpaid principal balances of the underlying loans of $2.3 billion and
had a fair value of $2.4 billion.

NOTE 9 - LEASES

The Company leases office space under operating lease agreements that have initial terms ranging from 1 to 12 years. Some leases include
one or more options to exercise renewal terms, generally at our sole discretion, that can extend the lease term. Certain leases contain rights to
terminate whereby those termination options are held by either the Company, the lessor, or both parties. These options to extend or terminate a
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lease are included in the lease term only when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. The Company’s leases generally do
not contain any material restrictive covenants.

All leases recognized in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are classified as operating leases, which include
leases related to the asset classes reflected in the table below. ROU assets are included in Other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

2021 2020
Office leases $ 86,231 $ 87,063 
Equipment 253 445 
Total right-of-use assets $ 86,484 $ 87,508 

Office leases $ 97,551 $ 94,410 
Equipment 285 481 
Total lease liability $ 97,836 $ 94,891 

The following table summarizes the components of our gross operating lease costs incurred during the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020:

(in thousands) 2021 2020
Operating lease cost $ 25,311 $ 25,806 
Short-term lease cost 2,334 1,974 
Variable lease cost 3,821 3,105 
Total lease cost $ 31,466 $ 30,885 

Our weighted-average lease term and discount rate used are as follows:

December 31,
2021 2020

Weighted-average lease term (years) 6.1 6.7
Weighted-average discount rate 3.8 % 3.8 %

The following table summarizes supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases:  

2021 2020
Cash paid for operating leases $ 21,705 $ 24,565 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations $ 18,839 $ 33,401 

Minimum future commitments by year for our long-term operating leases as of December 31, 2021 are presented in the table below. Such
commitments are reflected at undiscounted values and are reconciled to the discounted present value recognized in the balance sheet as follows:

Amount
2022 $ 26,092 
2023 20,704 
2024 14,784 
2025 10,520 
2026 8,309 
Thereafter 29,160 
Total future minimum lease payments $ 109,569 
Less: imputed interest (11,733)
Total lease liabilities $ 97,836 

NOTE 10 - GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are presented in the following table:
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Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 62,834 
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 62,834 

Goodwill acquired (see Note 3) 112,310 
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 175,144 

The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test during the fourth quarter of 2021 and determined that goodwill was not impaired.
No impairment charge was recorded in 2020.

Intangible Assets

The following table presents our intangible assets, net as of December 31, 2021:

 Gross Intangibles
Accumulated
Amortization Net Intangibles

Weighted Average Amortization
Period (Years)

Referral network $ 42,300 $ 3,525 $ 38,775 5.2
Non-compete agreements 2,700 450 2,250 0.2

 $ 45,000 $ 3,975 $ 41,025 5.3

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, expected amortization expense for the unamortized acquired intangible assets for the next five years and thereafter
is as follows:

Amount
2022 $ 7,950 
2023 7,950 
2024 7,500 
2025 7,050 
2026 7,050 
Thereafter 3,525 

$ 41,025 

NOTE 11 - INVESTOR RESERVES

The Company’s estimate of the investor reserves considers the current macro-economic environment and recent repurchase trends; however,
if the Company experiences a prolonged period of higher repurchase and indemnification activity, then the realized losses from loan repurchases and
indemnifications may ultimately be in excess of the liability. The maximum exposure under the Company’s representations and warranties would be the
outstanding principal balance and any premium received on all loans ever sold by the Company, less any loans that have already been paid in full by
the mortgagee, that have defaulted without a breach of representations and warranties, that have been indemnified via settlement or make-whole, or
that have been repurchased. Additionally, the Company may receive relief of certain representations and warranty obligations on loans sold to FNMA or
FHLMC on or after January 1, 2013 if FNMA or FHLMC satisfactorily concludes a quality control loan file review or if the borrower meets certain
acceptable payment history requirements within 12 or 36 months after the loan is sold to FNMA or FHLMC.

The activity of the investor reserves was as follows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Balance — beginning of year 14,535 16,521 

Benefit from investor reserves (7,694) (9,077)
Investor reserves acquired from RMS 1,507 — 
Provision for investor reserves charged to operations 10,089 7,091 

Balance — end of year 18,437 14,535 

NOTE 12 - WAREHOUSE LINES OF CREDIT

83



Table of Contents

Warehouse lines of credit consisted of the following at December 31, 2021 and 2020. Changes subsequent to December 31, 2021 have been
described in the notes referenced with the below table.

Maturity as of December 31,
2021 2021 2020

$800 million master repurchase facility agreement January 2023 $ 472,646 $ 442,593 
$250 million master repurchase facility agreement August 2022 147,750 148,011 
$500 million master repurchase facility agreement February 2022 295,444 541,074 
$200 million master repurchase facility agreement June 2022 146,182 187,214 
$300 million master repurchase facility agreement September 2022 133,772 232,272 
$500 million master repurchase facility agreement July 2022 377,416 464,355 
$200 million master repurchase facility agreement April 2022 117,935 104,880 
$250 million master repurchase facility agreement N/A 136,173 — 
$75 million master repurchase facility agreement March 2025 33,452 25,185 
$200 million master repurchase facility agreement January 2022 26,947 — 
$110 million master repurchase facility agreement N/A 35,099 — 
$75 million master repurchase facility agreement March 2022 5,727 — 

1,928,543 2,145,584 
Prepaid commitment fees (1,065) (2,141)

Net warehouse lines of credit $ 1,927,478 $ 2,143,443 

______________________________
The variable interest rate is calculated using a base rate tied to LIBOR, the Eurodollar, or an alternative base rate with a floor of 0.75%, plus the
applicable interest rate margin. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, this facility was amended to calculate the variable interest rate using a base
rate tied to Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"), with no floor, and reduce the facility size to $600.0 million.

The variable interest rate is calculated using a base rate tied to LIBOR, plus the applicable interest rate margin. This line of credit requires a
minimum deposit of $1.25 million.

The variable interest rate is calculated using a base rate tied to LIBOR, plus the applicable interest rate margin. This facility requires a minimum
deposit to $2.5 million. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, this facility was extended to March 2022 and is anticipated to undergo a full renewal
at that time.

The variable interest rate is calculated using a base rate plus LIBOR, with a floor of 0.375% plus the applicable interest rate margin. This line of
credit requires a minimum deposit of $750,000.

The variable interest rate is calculated using a base rate tied to SOFR with a floor of 0.40%, plus the applicable interest rate margin.

The variable interest rate is calculated using a base rate tied to LIBOR with a floor of 0.50%, plus the applicable interest rate margin.

The variable interest rate is calculated using a base rate tied to LIBOR with a floor of 1.0%, plus the applicable interest rate margin.

This facility agreement was effective January 2021. The variable interest rate is calculated using a base rate tied to LIBOR, plus the applicable
interest rate margin. This facility's maturity date is 30 days from written notice by either the financial institution or the Company.

The interest rate on this facility is 3.375%. This facility was opened in 2019 and is used for GNMA delinquent buyouts. Each buyout represents a
separate transaction that can remain on the facility for up to four years.

The variable interest rate is calculated as the greater of LIBOR or 0.75% LIBOR floor plus the applicable interest rate margin. Subsequent to
December 31, 2021, this facility matured and was not renewed.

This facility agreement is due on demand and the variable interest rate is calculated using a base rate tied to LIBOR plus the applicable interest
rate margin. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, this facility was increased to $300.0 million with a variable interest rate calculated using a base
rate SOFR with a floor of 0.75%.

The variable interest rate is calculated as the greater of LIBOR or 0.75% LIBOR plus the applicable interest rate margin. Subsequent to
December 31, 2021, this facility was terminated.
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The weighted average interest rate for warehouse lines of credit was 2.4% and 2.5% at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. All
warehouse lines of credit are collateralized by underlying mortgages and related documents. Existing balances on warehouse lines are repaid through
the sale proceeds from the collateralized loans held for sale. The Company intends to renew existing warehouse lines prior to expiration. If those lines
are not renewed or replaced, that could have a negative impact on the Company’s ability to continue funding new loans. The Company had cash
balances of $46.7 million and $15.6 million in its warehouse buy down accounts as offsets to certain lines of credit at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

The agreements governing the Company’s warehouse lines of credit contain covenants that include certain financial requirements, including
maintenance of maximum adjusted leverage ratio, minimum net worth, minimum tangible net worth, minimum current ratio, minimum liquidity,
positive quarterly income and limitations on additional indebtedness, dividends, sale of assets, and decline in the mortgage loan servicing portfolio’s
fair value. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company believes it was in compliance with all debt covenants.

The Company has an optional short-term financing agreement between FNMA and the lender described as “As Soon As Pooled” (ASAP). The
Company can elect to assign FNMA Mortgage Backed Security ("MBS") trades to FNMA in advance of settlement and enter into a financing transaction
and revenue related to the assignment is deferred until the final pool settlement date. The Company determines utilization based on warehouse
availability and cash needs. There was no outstanding balance as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

NOTE 13 - NOTES PAYABLE

Revolving Notes

In January 2014, the Company entered into an agreement for a revolving note from one of its warehouse banks, which it can draw upon as
needed and has renewed on an annual basis. Borrowings on the revolving note are collateralized by the Company’s GNMA MSRs. Monthly interest on
the outstanding balance is calculated using a base rate tied to the LIBOR rate plus the applicable margin, with a floor of 4.50%. The revolving note also
has an unused facility fee on the average unused balance, which is also paid quarterly. The unused facility fee is waived if the average outstanding
balance exceeds 70% of the available facility. In June 2020, the Company amended and restated the agreement and the revolving note was increased
to a maximum committed amount of $135.0 million. The agreement also allows for the Company to increase the committed amount up to $200.0
million. The revolving note is currently scheduled to expire in June 2022. The Company has the option to convert the outstanding balance of the
revolving note into a term note at its discretion. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $60.0 million and $45.0 million, respectively, in
outstanding borrowings on this credit facility.

In July 2017, the Company entered into an agreement for a revolving note of up to $25.0 million from one of its warehouse banks, which it can
draw upon as needed and has renewed on an annual basis. In July 2020, the Company amended the agreement by extending the expiration date to
July 2021 and increasing the revolving note up to $65.0 million. In July 2021, the Company amended the agreement by extending the expiration date
to July 2022. Borrowings on the revolving note are collateralized by the Company’s FHLMC MSRs. Monthly interest on the outstanding balance is
calculated using a base rate tied to the LIBOR rate with a floor of 0.50% plus the applicable margin. The revolving note also has an unused facility fee
on the average unused balance, which is also paid quarterly. The unused facility fee is waived if the average outstanding balance exceeds 50% of the
available combined warehouse and MSR facility. The lender has the option to convert the outstanding balance of the revolving note into a term note at
its discretion. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $65.0 million and $20.0 million, respectively, in outstanding borrowings on this credit
facility.

Term Note

In January 2014, the Company entered into a term note agreement with one of its warehouse banks collateralized by the Company’s FNMA
MSRs. In March 2021, the term note was amended and restated, at which time there was an outstanding amount of $76.5 million. The outstanding
amount of $76.5 million was rolled into a new term note with a commitment of $125.0 million. The note allows for the committed amount to be
increased to a maximum of $175.0 million. The Company could draw on the committed amount through March 2022 and the note matures on March
25, 2024. Interest on the principal is paid monthly and is based upon a margin plus the highest of the (i) Prime Rate, (ii) Federal Funds Rate plus
0.5%, or (iii) the Eurodollar Base Rate plus 1.0%. Principal payments of 5% of the outstanding balance as of March 31, 2022 are due quarterly
beginning April 15, 2022, with the remaining principal balance due upon maturity. The term note also has an unused facility fee on the average unused
balance, which is also paid quarterly. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had an outstanding balance of $125.0 million and $80.8 million,
respectively, on this facility. 

The minimum calendar year payments of the Company’s term note as of December 31, 2021 are as follows:
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2022 $ 18,750 
2023 25,000 
2024 81,250 
Total $ 125,000 

NOTE 14 - INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax expense were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Current tax expense:

Federal $ 48,368 $ 98,187 
State 13,346 22,214 

$ 61,714 $ 120,401 

Deferred tax expense:
Federal $ 31,568 $ 2,190 
State 9,867 902 

41,435 3,092 
Income tax expense $ 103,149 $ 123,493 

The following table presents a reconciliation of the recorded income tax expense of continuing operations to the amount of taxes computed by
applying the applicable federal statutory tax rate of 21.0% to income from continuing operations before income taxes, as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively:

2021 2020
Amount Percent Amount Percent

Income tax expense at federal statutory rate $ 81,254 21.0 % $ 103,755 21.0 %
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 19,449 5.0 % 19,904 4.0 %
Nondeductible compensation 2,092 0.5 % 7,115 1.4 %
Permanent items 789 0.2 % 1,887 0.4 %
Federal and state tax credits, net of federal tax benefit (648) (0.2) % (536) (0.1) %
Deferred compensation adjustment — — % (8,834) (1.8) %
Other, net 213 0.2 % 202 — %

$ 103,149 26.7 % $ 123,493 25.0 %
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The tax effects of significant temporary differences which gave rise to the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows at
December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets:

Investor reserves $ 8,979 $ 7,955 
Intangible assets — 7,494 
Accrued compensation and benefits 3,249 3,705 
Deferred compensation 16,522 13,277 
Lease liability 24,727 23,440 
Other accrued liabilities 195 1,240 

Total deferred tax assets $ 53,672 $ 57,111 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Mortgage servicing rights $ (160,966) $ (98,660)
Intangible assets (3,537) — 
Trading securities (27) (19)
Derivatives, net (6,542) (22,743)
Right-of-use assets (22,642) (23,127)
Property and equipment (2,203) (1,932)

Total deferred tax liabilities (195,917) (146,481)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (142,245) $ (89,370)

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities
including the impact of available carryback and carryforward periods and projected future taxable income. Based upon the level of historical taxable
income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more
likely than not that the Company will realize the benefits of these deductible differences. There are no valuation allowances on deferred tax assets as
of December 31, 2021 or 2020.

At December 31, 2021 the Company had no federal or state net operating loss carryforwards or tax credit carryforwards.

The Company records interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and records penalties as a component of income taxes.
There are no unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2021 or 2020, and there were no changes in unrecognized tax benefits during the year.
The Company is required to analyze all open years, as defined by the statutes of limitations, for all major jurisdictions, which includes federal and state
jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to federal examinations prior to 2018 tax year or for state examinations prior to 2017 tax year.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted. The CARES Act introduced a number of
tax law changes intended to assist taxpayers impacted by COVID-19. On December 27, 2020, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 ("CAA,
2021") was enacted. Lastly, on March 11, 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act ("ARPA") was enacted. The CAA 2021 and ARPA continued to provide tax
benefits and relief to taxpayers impacted by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The Company examined the tax impacts from all three Acts and
determined there is no material impact to the financial statements at December 31, 2021.

NOTE 15 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

Prior to its initial public offering ("IPO") in October 2020, the Guild Mortgage Company LLC membership structure included several different
types of LLC interests including ownership interests and profits interests. The Company analyzed the calculation of earnings per unit for periods prior to
the IPO using the two-class method and determined that it resulted in values that would not be meaningful to the user of these consolidated financial
statements. Therefore, earnings per share information has not been presented for periods prior to October 22, 2020. The basic and diluted earnings
per share for fiscal year 2020 only represent the period from October 22, 2020 to December 31, 2020.

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of Class A and Class B shares outstanding during the
period using the two-class method. Diluted earnings per share is
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computed based on the weighted average number of shares plus the effect of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using
the treasury stock method. Dilutive potential common shares include RSUs for Class A common stock.

The following table sets forth the components of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020

Net income attributable to Guild $ 283,773 $ 370,577 

Weighted-average shares outstanding, Class A Common Stock 20,178 19,387 
Weighted-average shares outstanding, Class B Common Stock 40,333 40,613 

Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic 60,511 60,000 

Add dilutive effects of non-vested shares of restricted stock - Class A 314 56 

Weighted-average shares outstanding - diluted 60,825 60,056 

Basic earnings per share:
Class A and Class B Common Stock $ 4.69 $ 6.18 

Diluted earnings per share:
Class A and Class B Common Stock $ 4.67 $ 6.17 

No shares were excluded from the calculation of earnings per share as a result of being anti-dilutive.

Capital Stock

The Company has two classes of common stock:  Class A and Class B. Class A common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol “GHLD.” There is no public market for the Company’s Class B common stock. However, under the terms of the Company’s Articles of
Incorporation, the holder of Class B common stock may convert any portion or all of the holder’s shares of Class B common stock into an equal
number of shares of Class A common stock at any time.

The holders of the Class A common stock and Class B common stock are entitled to dividends when and if declared by the Company’s Board of
Directors out of legally available funds. Any stock dividend must be paid in shares of Class A common stock with respect to Class A common stock and
in shares of Class B common stock with respect to Class B common stock.

The voting powers, preferences and relative rights of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical in all respects, except that
the holders of Class A common stock have one vote per share and the holders of Class B common stock have ten votes per share.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company issues RSUs, which represent the right to receive, upon vesting, one share of the Company’s common stock.  The number of
potentially dilutive shares related to RSUs is based on the number of shares, if any, that would be issuable at the end of the respective reporting
period, assuming that date was the end of the vesting period.

NOTE 16 - STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Incentive Plan

In October 2020, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”), which is administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The 2020 Plan reserves for issuance a total of 5.5 million shares of common stock to our officers,
directors, employees or consultants eligible to receive awards under the 2020 Plan.

The 2020 Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards, restricted stock unit awards or a combination of the foregoing, to employees, directors or consultants, provided that only employees may be
granted incentive stock options.

As of December 31, 2021, there were approximately 3.9 million shares of common stock available to be granted under the 2020 Plan. The
2020 Plan will terminate ten years after its adoption, unless terminated earlier by the Company’s Board of Directors.
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Restricted Stock Units

RSUs were granted to employees and directors in connection with the IPO in October 2020. The RSUs granted to employees vest ratably over
two to four years and the RSUs granted to directors vest on the first anniversary of the grant.

The following table shows a summary of the unvested restricted stock under the 2020 Plan as of December 31, 2021 as well as activity during
the year:

Weighted Average
Number of

Shares
Grant Date
Fair Value

Restricted stock awards, unvested, December 31, 2020 1,440,334 $ 15.00 
Granted 95,501 14.25 
Dividend equivalent units granted 193,130 — 
Vested (60,287) 15.00 
Forfeited (82,731) 15.00 

Restricted stock awards, unvested, December 31, 2021 1,585,947 $ 14.95 

Compensation costs recognized for these restricted stock grants were approximately $6.0 million and $1.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The income tax benefit recognized related to this expense was approximately $1.0 million and $0.2 million
for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, there was approximately $14.8 million of unrecognized
compensation costs related to these restricted stock grants which we expect to recognize over the next 2.8 years.

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a 401(k) profit sharing plan covering substantially all employees. Employees may contribute amounts subject to certain
Internal Revenue Service and plan limitations. The Company may make discretionary matching and nonelective contributions. Upon completion of the
RMS acquisition on July 1, 2021, employees of RMS were eligible to participate in the Company's 401(k) plan or continue participating in RMS’ plan
with the future intent of merging into the Company's plan. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company contributed $10.2 million
and $7.6 million, respectively, for 401(k) contributions and related administrative expenses.

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company has a deferred compensation plan for executives which was frozen effective December 31, 2007. Distribution of a participant’s
vested balance is payable in a single lump sum upon death or disability; termination of employment; retirement after attaining age 65 (55 for
participants who had an account balance in the plan as of May 1, 2001); or upon termination of the plan.

In 2017, the Company commenced a Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan for certain highly compensated executives and employees
that allows the participants to defer a portion of their earnings. Distribution of a participant’s vested balance is payable in a single lump sum upon
death or disability; termination of employment; retirement; or upon termination of the plan.

Guild Equity Appreciation Rights Plan

In 2017, the Company established a new GEARs Plan for certain executives compensated with GEARs that will ultimately be settled in cash at
maturity. Maturity is the earlier of (i) a change of control; (ii) the participant’s retirement; (iii) the participant’s death; (iv) the determination that the
participant has suffered a disability; or (v) the involuntary termination of the participant’s employment with the Company and its subsidiaries without
cause. The awards vest immediately, and compensation related to these GEARs awards is recognized over the participant’s service period based on the
change in the fair value of the award.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized $2.6 million as expense, which is included within salaries, incentive
compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income. In connection with the Company’s IPO, the GEARs Plans were terminated and
frozen. The remaining liability under these plans was $3.5 million and recorded in accrued compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet at December 31, 2020. The liability was settled in October 2021 and the participants were paid in full.
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NOTE 17 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments to Extend Credit

The Company enters into IRLCs with customers who have applied for residential mortgage loans and meet certain credit and underwriting
criteria. These commitments expose the Company to market risk if interest rates change and the loan is not economically hedged or committed to an
investor. The Company is also exposed to credit loss if the loan is originated and not sold to an investor and the customer does not perform. The
collateral upon extension of credit typically consists of a first deed of trust in the mortgagor’s residential property. Commitments to originate loans do
not necessarily reflect future cash requirements as some commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon. Total commitments to
originate loans at December 31, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $2.4 billion and $5.2 billion, respectively.

The Company manages the interest rate price risk associated with its outstanding interest rate lock commitments and loans held for sale by
entering into derivative loan instruments such as forward loan sales commitments, mandatory delivery commitments, options and futures contracts.
Total commitments related to these derivatives at December 31, 2021 and 2020 were approximately $3.2 billion and $5.5 billion, respectively.

Legal

The Company is involved in various lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business. While the ultimate results of these lawsuits cannot be
predicted with certainty, management does not expect that these matters will have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or
results of operations of the Company.

U.S. ex rel. Dougherty v. Guild Mortgage Company, No. 16-cv-2909 (S.D. Cal.)

On May 18, 2016, the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”), on behalf of HUD (together, the “government”), filed a Complaint-in-Intervention
(“Intervention Complaint”) in a pending qui tam action against the Company under the False Claims Act (“FCA”), 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733. The
Intervention Complaint, filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, alleges FCA violations in connection with the underwriting and
origination of certain residential mortgage loans that the Company endorsed for FHA insurance. The Intervention Complaint alleges violations of
Sections 3729 (a)(l)(A) and (B) of the FCA, breach of common law fiduciary duty, and breach of contract. The government’s claims arise from the
Company’s origination of residential mortgage loans, which the Company subsequently endorsed for FHA insurance between January 1, 2006, and
December 31, 2011.

On August 10, 2016, the Company filed motions to dismiss the government’s Intervention Complaint and the Relator’s Third Amended
Complaint. In March 2018, the Court stayed the case pending the Ninth Circuit’s determination of the appeal in Rose v Stephens Institute (No. 17-
15111). On August 24, 2018, the ruling in the Rose case was issued and the Court lifted its self-imposed stay. On March 4, 2019, the government filed
an amended complaint which Guild responded to on March 22, 2019 reasserting that the claims were without merit. Guild’s motion to dismiss was
denied by the court in September 2019. Discovery began in December 2019.

On October 20, 2020, a settlement agreement with respect to this lawsuit was executed and, pursuant to the terms of the settlement
agreement, the Company made a cash payment in the aggregate amount of $24.9 million to the government. In March 2021, we received $1.9 million
from our insurance provider related to this settlement agreement.

NOTE 18 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On January 1, 2019, one of GMC’s executives retired, which triggered a repurchase of the executive’s membership interest in Guild
Management, LLC, and a one-time payout of $2.0 million of deferred compensation. GMC’s former parent, Guild Investors, LLC, sold 13.7038 shares of
GMC to the executive in exchange for the executive’s membership interest in Guild Management, LLC. The executive in turn sold the shares back to
GMC in exchange for a promissory note of $8.0 million, which is payable over 16 quarters. During 2021 and 2020, the Company made payments of
$2.1 million and $2.1 million, respectively, to the executive, and $2.6 million remained unpaid as of December 31, 2021.

NOTE 19 - MINIMUM NET WORTH REQUIREMENTS

Certain secondary market investors and state regulators require the Company to maintain minimum net worth and capital requirements. To the
extent that these requirements are not met, secondary market investors and/or the state regulators may utilize a range of remedies including
sanctions, and/or suspension or termination of selling and servicing agreements, which may prohibit the Company from originating, securitizing or
servicing these specific types of mortgage loans.
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The Company is subject to the following minimum net worth, minimum capital ratio and minimum liquidity requirements established by the
Federal Housing Finance Agency for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Seller/Servicers, and Ginnie Mae for single family issuers.

Minimum Net Worth

The minimum net worth requirement for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac is defined as follows:

• Base of $2,500 plus 25 basis points of outstanding UPB for total loans serviced.

• Adjusted/Tangible Net Worth comprises of total equity less goodwill, intangible assets, affiliate receivables and certain pledged assets.

The minimum net worth requirement for Ginnie Mae is defined as follows:

• Base of $2,500 plus 35 basis points of the issuer’s total single-family effective outstanding obligations.

• Adjusted/Tangible Net Worth comprises of total equity less goodwill, intangible assets, affiliate receivables and certain pledged assets.

Minimum Capital Ratio

• For Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae the Company is also required to hold a ratio of Adjusted/Tangible Net Worth to Total Assets
greater than 6%.

Minimum Liquidity

The minimum liquidity requirement for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac is defined as follows:

• 3.5 basis points of total Agency servicing.

• Incremental 200 basis points of total nonperforming Agency, measured as 90 plus day delinquencies, servicing in excess of 6% of the
total Agency servicing UPB.

• Allowable assets for liquidity may include: cash and cash equivalents (unrestricted); available for sale or held for trading investment
grade securities (e.g., Agency MBS, Obligations of GSEs, US Treasury Obligations); and unused/available portion of committed servicing
advance lines.

The minimum liquidity requirement for Ginnie Mae is defined as follows:

• Maintain liquid assets equal to the greater of $1,000 or 10 basis points of our outstanding single-family MBS.

The most restrictive of the minimum net worth and capital requirements require the Company to maintain a minimum adjusted net worth
balance of $84,482 and $78,064 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company was in
compliance with this requirement.

NOTE 20 - ADDITIONAL NON-CASH DISCLOSURES

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had the following non-cash transactions that are not included in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

2021 2020
GNMA inventory obtained due to delinquent status of GNMA serviced loans $ 419,820 $ 1,073,852 
GNMA inventory removed from delinquent status (752,534) (137,843)
GNMA real estate owned resolved through finalized foreclosure sale (conveyed to HUD) (1,183) (7,984)
Reduction in GNMA inventory due to loan removal from pool (213,869) (63,489)
Net (decrease) increase of GNMA payable due to receipt or resolution of GNMA inventory and GNMA real estate

owned $ (547,766) $ 864,536 

GNMA real estate owned obtained through foreclosure sale of GNMA serviced loans $ 282 $ 1,022 

NOTE 21 - SEGMENTS

ASC 280, Segment Reporting, establishes the standards for reporting information about segments in financial statements. In applying the
criteria set forth in that guidance, the Company has determined that it has two reportable segments — Origination and Servicing.
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Origination — The Company operates its loan origination business throughout the United States. Its licensed sales professionals and support
staff cultivate deep relationships with referral partners and clients and provide a customized approach to the loan transaction whether it is a purchase
or refinance. The origination segment is primarily responsible for loan origination, acquisition and sale activities.

Servicing — The Company services loans out of its corporate office in San Diego, California. Properties of the loans serviced by the Company
are disbursed throughout the United States and as of December 31, 2021 the Company serviced at least one loan in forty-nine different states. The
servicing segment provides a steady stream of cash flow to support the origination segment and more importantly it allows for the Company to build
longstanding client relationships that drive repeat and referral business back to the origination segment to recapture the client’s next mortgage
transaction. The servicing segment is primarily responsible for the servicing activities of all loans in the Company’s servicing portfolio which includes,
but is not limited to, collection and remittance of loan payments, managing borrower’s impound accounts for taxes and insurance, loan payoffs, loss
mitigation and foreclosure activities.

The Company does not allocate assets to its reportable segments as they are not included in the review performed by the Chief Operating
Decision Maker for purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources. The balance sheet is managed on a consolidated basis and is
not used in the context of segment reporting. The Company also does not allocate certain corporate expenses, which are represented by All Other in
the tables below.

The following table presents the financial performance and results by segment for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Origination Servicing
Total

Segments All Other Total
Revenue

Loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net $ 1,468,465 $ 12,051 $ 1,480,516 $ — $ 1,480,516 
Loan servicing and other fees — 194,759 194,759 — 194,759 
Valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights — (101,572) (101,572) — (101,572)
Interest income (expense) 16,582 (7,882) 8,700 (6,180) 2,520 
Other income, net (4) 110 106 (19) 87 

Net revenue 1,485,043 97,466 1,582,509 (6,199) 1,576,310 
Expenses

Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits 953,772 27,697 981,469 38,321 1,019,790 
General and administrative 71,480 9,722 81,202 10,089 91,291 
Occupancy, equipment and communication 57,718 4,196 61,914 5,414 67,328 
Depreciation and amortization 9,319 742 10,061 1,427 11,488 
Provision for foreclosure losses — (518) (518) — (518)
Income tax expense — — — 103,149 103,149 

Net income (loss) $ 392,754 $ 55,627 $ 448,381 $ (164,599) $ 283,782 

92



Table of Contents

The following table presents the financial performance and results by segment for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Origination Servicing
Total

Segments All Other Total
Revenue

Loan origination fees and gain on sale of loans, net $ 1,753,517 $ 6,354 $ 1,759,871 $ — $ 1,759,871 
Loan servicing and other fees — 160,237 160,237 — 160,237 
Valuation adjustment of mortgage servicing rights — (296,307) (296,307) — (296,307)
Interest income (expense) 13,993 (8,068) 5,925 (8,444) (2,519)
Other income, net 25 133 158 607 765 

Net revenue 1,767,535 (137,651) 1,629,884 (7,837) 1,622,047 
Expenses

Salaries, incentive compensation and benefits 864,322 25,075 889,397 64,361 953,758 
General and administrative 84,999 9,270 94,269 7,679 101,948 
Occupancy, equipment and communication 48,233 3,524 51,757 5,313 57,070 
Depreciation and amortization 4,644 777 5,421 2,080 7,501 
Provision for foreclosure losses — 7,700 7,700 — 7,700 
Income tax expense — — — 123,493 123,493 

Net income (loss) $ 765,337 $ (183,997) $ 581,340 $ (210,763) $ 370,577 
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We are required to maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in
our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting
officer (“certifying officers”), as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, including our certifying officers,
does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud due to
inherent limitations of internal controls. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements will not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process.
Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

Our certifying officers, with the participation of our management, have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2021. Based on this
evaluation, and as described below under “Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,” management has identified material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)). Due to these material
weaknesses, our certifying officers have concluded that, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2021.
Notwithstanding the existence of these material weaknesses described below, management has concluded that the consolidated financial statements in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly present, in all material respects, the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows for all
periods and dates presented in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements. A “material weakness” is defined as a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

As of December 31, 2021, our management, including the certifying officers, under the oversight of our Board of Directors, evaluated the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework established in the Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, management concluded that the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2021, due to the material weaknesses in internal control over
financial reporting, described below.

The Company did not have a sufficient complement of personnel with requisite experience in the design and operation of controls and did not
perform an effective risk assessment, including risk of fraud. This resulted in ineffective general information technology controls over user access and
change management within the general ledger and loan systems. The deficiencies also contributed to ineffective monitoring of consistent operation of
internal control over financial reporting and ineffective evaluation of the reliability of information used in controls. As a consequence of the material
weaknesses described above, internal control deficiencies related to the design and operation of process-level controls and general information
technology controls were determined to exist throughout the Company’s financial reporting processes.

While these material weaknesses did not result in material misstatements of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2021, these material weaknesses create a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of account balances or
disclosures in annual or interim consolidated financial statements may not be prevented or detected in a timely manner. Accordingly, the
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Company concluded that the deficiencies represent material weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting and its internal control over
financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2021.

Effective July 1, 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Residential Mortgage Services, Inc. ("RMS") and management excluded RMS
from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. RMS represented
approximately 5% of the Company’s consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2021 and its revenues for the period from the acquisition through
December 31, 2021 represented approximately 7% of the Company’s consolidated net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, who audited the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, issued an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. KPMG LLP’s report appears in
Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Plan for Remediation of Material Weaknesses

We are in the continuous process of, and we are focused on, improving our internal control over financial reporting in an effort to eliminate the
material weaknesses described above through: (1) investing in and continuing to hire additional finance, accounting and IT resources with appropriate
knowledge and expertise to effectively operate financial reporting processes and internal controls, (2) enhancing risk assessment, including over source
systems to identify the appropriate complement of controls to address access and other information technology specific risks, (3) designing and
implementing controls to formalize roles and review responsibilities to align with our team’s skills and experience, including over segregation of duties
and information technology solutions and (4) implementing and monitoring our approach to remediation of control activities, and (5) reporting
regularly to the audit committee on the progress and results of the remediation plan, including the identification, status, and resolution of internal
control deficiencies. While these actions and planned actions are subject to ongoing management evaluation and will require validation and testing of
the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls over a sustained period of financial reporting cycles, we are committed to maintaining a
strong internal control environment and implementing measures designed to help ensure that control deficiencies contributing to the material
weaknesses are remediated as soon as possible. We have made progress towards remediation and will continue to implement our remediation plan for
the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described above and to diligently review our internal control over financial
reporting.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Exclusive of the steps taken as part of the remediation activities described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial
reporting identified during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2021 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our certifying officers, believes that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our
management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all
fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the
control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

95



Table of Contents

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Los Angeles, California, Auditor Firm ID: 185.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following are filed with this Annual Report:

(1) Financial Statements. See Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules. Not applicable

(3) Exhibits. See Exhibit Index listed in Item 15(b) hereof for a list of those exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated
by reference.

(b) Exhibits:

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description
2.1+# Merger Agreement, dated May 10, 2021, by and among Guild Mortgage Company LLC, Project Regal Merger Sub, Inc., Residential

Mortgage Services Holdings, Inc., RMS Shareholder Representative, LLC, and as to certain sections identified therein, Guild
Holdings Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
39645) filed on May 14, 2021)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Guild Holdings Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39645) filed on October 26, 2020)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Guild Holdings Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39645) filed on October 26, 2020)

4.1 Description of Registrant’s Securities (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-
K (File No. 001-39645 ), filed on March 24, 2021)

4.2+ Registration Rights Agreement by and among Guild Holdings Company and the other holders named therein (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39645) filed on May 14, 2021)

10.1 Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 21, 2020, by and among Guild Holdings Company and the holders listed on
Schedule I thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
39645) filed on October 26, 2020)

10.2 Guild Holdings Company 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-249225), filed on October 9, 2020)

10.3† Compensation Deferral Plan for Executives (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-249225), filed on October 9, 2020)

10.4† Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (File No. 333-249225), filed on October 1, 2020)

10.5† Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (File No. 333-249225), filed on October 1, 2020)

10.6† Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan Adoption Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-249225), filed on October 1, 2020)

10.7† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for IPO Grants to Employees under the Guild Holdings Company 2020 Omnibus Incentive
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-249225),
filed on October 1, 2020)

10.8† Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for IPO Grants to Non-Employee Directors under the Guild Holdings Company 2020
Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-249225), filed on October 1, 2020)

10.9†* Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement between Guild Mortgage Company LLC and Mary Ann McGarry,
effective as of January 1, 2021

10.10†* Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement between Guild Mortgage Company LLC and Terry Schmidt, effective as
of January 1, 2021

10.11†* Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement between Guild Mortgage Company LLC and Barry Horn, effective as of
January 1, 2021

10.12†* Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement between Guild Mortgage Company LLC and David Neylan, effective as
of January 1, 2021

10.13†* Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement between Guild Mortgage Company LLC and Amber Kramer, effective
as of January 1, 2021
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10.14†* Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement between Guild Mortgage Company LLC and Lisa Klika, effective as of
January 1, 2021

10.15†* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement to Employees under the Guild Holdings Company 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan
21.1* Subsidiaries of Registrant
23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated under the Securities and

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated under the Securities and Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended.
32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted by Section 906

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101 The following financial information from Guild's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 formatted in

Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) includes: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated
Statements of Income, (iii) the Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and
(v) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

*    Filed herewith.

**    The certifications attached hereto are not considered “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject
to the limitations of that section.

†    Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

+    Certain portions of this exhibit have been redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K. The omitted information is not material and
would likely cause competitive harm to the registrant if publicly disclosed. The Company agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted
schedule or exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon its request.

#    Certain schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish supplementally a
copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon its request.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant caused this Annual Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GUILD HOLDINGS COMPANY

Dated: March 11, 2022 By: /s/ Mary Ann McGarry
Name: Mary Ann McGarry
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Patrick J. Duffy Chairman of the Board of Directors March 11, 2022
Patrick J. Duffy

/s/ Mary Ann McGarry Chief Executive Officer March 11, 2022
Mary Ann McGarry (Principal Executive Officer) and Director

/s/ Desiree A. Kramer Chief Financial Officer March 11, 2022
Desiree A. Kramer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Terry L. Schmidt President and Director March 11, 2022
Terry L. Schmidt

/s/ Edward Bryant, Jr. Director March 11, 2022
Edward Bryant, Jr.

/s/ Martha E. Marcon Director March 11, 2022
Martha E. Marcon

/s/ Michael C. Meyer Director March 11, 2022
Michael C. Meyer
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Exhibit 10.9

AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into effective as of January 1, 2021 (the
“Effective Date”), by and between Guild Mortgage Company LLC, a California limited liability company (“Guild”), and Mary Ann McGarry
(“McGarry”), as follows:

1. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue until terminated as provided in Section 4
hereof (the “Term”).

2. Base Salary. During the Term, Guild shall pay to McGarry a base salary as determined annually by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors of Guild Holdings Company (the “Compensation Committee”) and communicated to McGarry from year
to year, which shall be subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee (the “Base Salary”). The Base
Salary for McGarry for calendar year 2021 shall be $600,000. The Base Salary shall be paid at least monthly at such times and in such manner
as is consistent with Guild’s regular payroll practices and policies and applicable law. Guild shall deduct and withhold all necessary Social
Security and withholding taxes and any other similar amounts required by law from any compensation paid to McGarry.

3. Annual Incentive Compensation. In addition to the Base Salary, McGarry will be eligible for certain annual incentive
compensation (“Incentive Compensation”) in accordance with Guild’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan and in an amount to be determined
annually by the Compensation Committee based on the achievement of individual and corporate performance goals set by the Compensation
Committee and communicated to McGarry from year to year, which shall be subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the
Compensation Committee. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, McGarry must be employed as of the last day of the
applicable calendar year in which the Incentive Compensation relates in order to earn and receive payment for the Incentive Compensation for
such applicable calendar year. The Incentive Compensation, if earned, shall be calculated and paid by no later than the 15th day of the third
month following the last day of the applicable calendar year to which the Incentive Compensation relates.

4. Payment/Withholding. Guild shall make all payments to McGarry hereunder from its general funds. To the extent required by
law in effect at the time payments are made, Guild shall withhold from payments made hereunder any taxes required to be withheld pursuant to
federal, state or local law. McGarry remains responsible for the payment of all federal, state or local taxes imposed on McGarry based on her
receipt of any Incentive Compensation hereunder.

5. Limit on Alienation. McGarry’s right to receive payments under this Agreement is not subject in any manner to anticipation,
alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, attachment or garnishment by creditors of McGarry or McGarry’s beneficiaries.

6. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated upon (a) the mutual written agreement of the parties to terminate this
Agreement; (b) the parties entering into a subsequent executive compensation agreement; or (c) the termination of McGarry’s employment
with Guild by Guild or McGarry at any time, for any reason, with or without cause. This Agreement will not confer on McGarry any right with
respect to continuing McGarry’s relationship as an at-will employee of Guild, nor will this Agreement interfere in any way with McGarry’s or
Guild’s right to terminate such relationship at any time, with or without cause, to the extent permitted by applicable law.
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7. Effect of Termination. Upon termination of McGarry’s employment for any reason, Guild shall pay to McGarry, at such time as
is required by the applicable policies, plans or law: (i) McGarry’s then-current Base Salary earned up to and including the last day of
McGarry’s employment, (ii) any Incentive Compensation earned by and payable to McGarry upon termination of employment, and (iii) any
other items earned by and owed to McGarry as of the termination of employment in accordance with the policies and plans of Guild and
applicable law. The termination of McGarry’s benefits shall be determined in accordance with Guild’s benefit plans or policies then in effect.

In addition to the payments described in the preceding paragraph, if McGarry’s at-will employment with Guild is terminated by Guild
for any reason, with or without cause (excluding termination due to McGarry’s commission of a crime) , or if ill health permanently prevents
McGarry from performing all her responsibilities as Chief Executive Officer, subject to McGarry’s execution, delivery to Guild, and non-
revocation of a separation agreement and general release of all claims (in a form to be provided by Guild) (the “Release”), Guild shall continue
to pay to McGarry as severance compensation the amount that McGarry would have been paid at McGarry’s then- current Base Salary as of
the effective date of McGarry’s termination (the “Severance Compensation”) for a period of one (1) year from the effective date of McGarry’s
termination of employment with Guild (the “Severance Period”). The Severance Compensation shall be paid, less applicable withholdings, in
installments in accordance with Guild’s normal payroll practices during the Severance Period; provided that, in the event McGarry does not
receive one or more installments of the Severance Compensation following the effective date of McGarry’s termination due to the condition of
the Release, the aggregate amount of any payments that otherwise would have been paid to McGarry before McGarry executed the Release
shall be paid to McGarry in a lump-sum on the date in which the first installment is to be received, and all remaining payments shall be paid on
their original schedule. Except as expressly stated in this Section, Guild shall have no other obligation to McGarry in the event of a termination
of McGarry’s employment.

8. Nonsolicitation. McGarry agrees that while McGarry is employed by Guild and for a period of one (1) year following the
termination of McGarry’s employment with Guild for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary, and regardless of cause,
McGarry shall not, other than on behalf of Guild in the performance of McGarry’s duties and responsibilities as authorized by Guild, directly or
indirectly, on McGarry’s own behalf or by aiding any other individual or entity, recruit or solicit for employment any individual (including any
branch manager or loan officer) who is an employee of Guild or any of its affiliates and with whom McGarry worked and had business contact
during the one (1) year period immediately prior to the termination of McGarry’s employment with Guild.

9. Compliance with Code Section 409A. In good faith, the Incentive Compensation, if any, will be designed and operated in such a
manner that they are either exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Code Section 409A. The grant of Incentive
Compensation, if any, is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A and will be construed and interpreted in accordance with
such intent, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee. To the extent that any portion of the
Incentive Compensation, or the settlement or deferral thereof, is subject to Code Section 409A the bonus will be granted, paid, settled or
deferred in a manner that will meet the requirements of Code Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be
subject to the additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A. In no event shall Guild, the Compensation Committee, or any
parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalty that may be imposed on McGarry or others for failure
to comply with Section 409A or any other section of the Code.

10. Miscellaneous. This Agreement comprises the entire agreement between McGarry and Guild relating to the subject matter
hereof, and shall supersede all other written and oral understandings or agreements relating to the subject matter hereof, including, but not
limited to, all
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prior Executive Compensation Agreements by and between Guild and McGarry. This Agreement and the rights, interest and obligations of
Guild hereunder shall be assignable to, and shall inure to the benefit of, any assignee of Guild, any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, or
any person, firm or corporation resulting from the reorganization of Guild or succeeding to the business or assets of Guild by purchase, merger,
consolidated or otherwise. This Agreement is not assignable by McGarry. Guild and McGarry have each participated in the negotiation and
drafting of this Agreement. Accordingly, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be
construed as if drafted jointly by Guild and McGarry and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring Guild or
McGarry by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed, and enforced
in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Guild and McGarry agree that any action by either party to enforce the terms of this
Agreement shall be exclusively brought by the other party an appropriate state or federal court in San Diego County, California and both
parties waive all objections based upon lack of jurisdiction or improper or inconvenient venue of any such court. Guild and McGarry intend
and agree that if a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the scope of any provision of this Agreement is too broad to be enforced as
written, the court should reform such provisions to such narrower scope as it determines to be enforceable. Guild and McGarry further agree
that if any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable for any reason, and such provision cannot be reformed by the court
as anticipated above, such provision shall be deemed separate and severable and the unenforceability of any such provisions shall not invalidate
or render unenforceable any of the remaining provisions hereof.

[Signature page to follow.]
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The parties have entered into this Agreement effective as of the date first written above.

GUILD MORTGAGE COMPANY LLC
a California limited liability company

By:     /s/Terry Schmidt         /s/Mary Ann McGarry     Terry Schmidt        Mary Ann McGarry
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Exhibit 10.10

AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into effective as of January 1, 2021
(the “Effective Date”), by and between Guild Mortgage Company LLC, a California limited liability company (“Guild”), and Terry Schmidt
(“Schmidt”), as follows:

1. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue until terminated as provided in Section 4
hereof (the “Term”).

2. Base Salary. During the Term, Guild shall pay to Schmidt a base salary as determined annually by the Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors of Guild Holdings Company (the “Compensation Committee”) and communicated to Schmidt from year to year,
which shall be subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee (the “Base Salary”). The Base Salary
for Schmidt for calendar year 2021 shall be $500,000. The Base Salary shall be paid at least monthly at such times and in such manner as is
consistent with Guild’s regular payroll practices and policies and applicable law. Guild shall deduct and withhold all necessary Social Security
and withholding taxes and any other similar amounts required by law from any compensation paid to Schmidt.

3. Annual Incentive Compensation. In addition to the Base Salary, Schmidt will be eligible for certain annual incentive
compensation (“Incentive Compensation”) in accordance with Guild’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan and in an amount to be determined
annually by the Compensation Committee based on the achievement of individual and corporate performance goals set by the Compensation
Committee and communicated to Schmidt from year to year, which shall be subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the
Compensation Committee. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Schmidt must be employed as of the last day of the
applicable calendar year in which the Incentive Compensation relates in order to earn and receive payment for the Incentive Compensation for
such applicable calendar year. The Incentive Compensation, if earned, shall be calculated and paid by no later than the 15th day of the third
month following the last day of the applicable calendar year to which the Incentive Compensation relates.

4. Payment/Withholding. Guild shall make all payments to Schmidt hereunder from its general funds. To the extent required by law
in effect at the time payments are made, Guild shall withhold from payments made hereunder any taxes required to be withheld pursuant to
federal, state or local law. Schmidt remains responsible for the payment of all federal, state or local taxes imposed on Schmidt based on her
receipt of any Incentive Compensation hereunder.

5. Limit on Alienation. Schmidt’s right to receive payments under this Agreement is not subject in any manner to anticipation,
alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, attachment or garnishment by creditors of Schmidt or Schmidt’s beneficiaries.

6. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated upon (a) the mutual written agreement of the parties to terminate this
Agreement; (b) the parties entering into a subsequent executive compensation agreement; or (c) the termination of Schmidt’s employment with
Guild by Guild or Schmidt at any time, for any reason, with or without cause. This Agreement will not confer on Schmidt any right with
respect to continuing Schmidt’s relationship as an at-will employee of Guild, nor will this Agreement interfere in any way with Schmidt’s or
Guild’s right to terminate such relationship at any time, with or without cause, to the extent permitted by applicable law.

7. Effect of Termination. Upon termination of Schmidt’s employment for any reason, Guild shall pay to Schmidt, at such time as is
required by the applicable policies, plans or law: (i) Schmidt’s then-current Base Salary earned up to and including the last day of Schmidt’s
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employment, (ii) any Incentive Compensation earned by and payable to Schmidt upon termination of employment, and (iii) any other items
earned by and owed to Schmidt as of the termination of employment in accordance with the policies and plans of Guild and applicable law.
The termination of Schmidt’s benefits shall be determined in accordance with Guild’s benefit plans or policies then in effect.

In addition to the payments described in the preceding paragraph, if Schmidt’s at-will employment with Guild is terminated by Guild
for any reason, with or without cause (excluding termination due to Schmidt’s commission of a crime), or if ill health permanently prevents
Schmidt from performing all her responsibilities as President, subject to Schmidt’s execution, delivery to Guild, and non-revocation of a
separation agreement and general release of all claims (in a form to be provided by Guild) (the “Release”), Guild shall continue to pay to
Schmidt as severance compensation the amount that Schmidt would have been paid at Schmidt’s then-current Base Salary as of the effective
date of Schmidt’s termination (the “Severance Compensation”) for a period of one (1) year from the effective date of Schmidt’s termination of
employment with Guild (the “Severance Period”). The Severance Compensation shall be paid, less applicable withholdings, in installments in
accordance with Guild’s normal payroll practices during the Severance Period; provided that, in the event Schmidt does not receive one or
more installments of the Severance Compensation following the effective date of Schmidt’s termination due to the condition of the Release,
the aggregate amount of any payments that otherwise would have been paid to Schmidt before Schmidt executed the Release shall be paid to
Schmidt in a lump-sum on the date in which the first installment is to be received, and all remaining payments shall be paid on their original
schedule. Except as expressly stated in this Section, Guild shall have no other obligation to Schmidt in the event of a termination of Schmidt’s
employment.

8. Nonsolicitation. Schmidt agrees that while Schmidt is employed by Guild and for a period of one (1) year following the
termination of Schmidt’s employment with Guild for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary, and regardless of cause,
Schmidt shall not, other than on behalf of Guild in the performance of Schmidt’s duties and responsibilities as authorized by Guild, directly or
indirectly, on Schmidt’s own behalf or by aiding any other individual or entity, recruit or solicit for employment any individual (including any
branch manager or loan officer) who is an employee of Guild or any of its affiliates and with whom Schmidt worked and had business contact
during the one (1) year period immediately prior to the termination of Schmidt’s employment with Guild.

9. Compliance with Code Section 409A. In good faith, the Incentive Compensation, if any, will be designed and operated in such a
manner that they are either exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Code Section 409A. The grant of Incentive
Compensation, if any, is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A and will be construed and interpreted in accordance with
such intent, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee. To the extent that any portion of the
Incentive Compensation, or the settlement or deferral thereof, is subject to Code Section 409A the bonus will be granted, paid, settled or
deferred in a manner that will meet the requirements of Code Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be
subject to the additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A. In no event shall Guild, the Compensation Committee, or any
parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalty that may be imposed on Schmidt or others for failure
to comply with Section 409A or any other section of the Code.

10. Miscellaneous. This Agreement comprises the entire agreement between Schmidt and Guild relating to the subject matter hereof,
and shall supersede all other written and oral understandings or agreements relating to the subject matter hereof, including, but not limited to,
all prior Executive Compensation Agreements by and between Guild and Schmidt. This Agreement and the rights, interest and obligations of
Guild hereunder shall be assignable to, and shall inure to the benefit of, any assignee of Guild, any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, or
any person, firm
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or corporation resulting from the reorganization of Guild or succeeding to the business or assets of Guild by purchase, merger, consolidated or
otherwise. This Agreement is not assignable by Schmidt. Guild and Schmidt have each participated in the negotiation and drafting of this
Agreement. Accordingly, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted
jointly by Guild and Schmidt and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring Guild or Schmidt by virtue of the
authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed, and enforced in accordance with the
laws of the State of California. Guild and Schmidt agree that any action by either party to enforce the terms of this Agreement shall be
exclusively brought by the other party in an appropriate state or federal court in San Diego County, California and both parties waive all
objections based upon lack of jurisdiction or improper or inconvenient venue of any such court. Guild and Schmidt intend and agree that if a
court of competent jurisdiction determines that the scope of any provision of this Agreement is too broad to be enforced as written, the court
should reform such provisions to such narrower scope as it determines to be enforceable. Guild and Schmidt further agree that if any provision
of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable for any reason, and such provision cannot be reformed by the court as anticipated above,
such provision shall be deemed separate and severable and the unenforceability of any such provisions shall not invalidate or render
unenforceable any of the remaining provisions hereof.

[Signature page to follow.]
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The parties have entered into this Agreement effective as of the date first written above.

GUILD MORTGAGE COMPANY LLC
a California limited liability company

By:     /s/Mary Ann McGarry         /s/Terry Schmidt     Mary Ann McGarry        Terry Schmidt
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Exhibit 10.11

AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into effective as of
January 1, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Guild Mortgage Company LLC, a California limited liability
company (“Guild”), and Barry Horn (“Horn”), as follows:

1. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue until terminated as
provided in Section 4 hereof (the “Term”).

2. Base Salary. During the Term, Guild shall pay to Horn a base salary as determined annually by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Guild Holdings Company (the “Compensation Committee”) and
communicated to Horn from year to year, which shall be subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the
Compensation Committee (the “Base Salary”). The Base Salary for Horn for calendar year 2021 shall be $500,000. The
Base Salary shall be paid at least monthly at such times and in such manner as is consistent with Guild’s regular payroll
practices and policies and applicable law. Guild shall deduct and withhold all necessary Social Security and withholding
taxes and any other similar amounts required by law from any compensation paid to Horn.

3. Annual Incentive Compensation. In addition to the Base Salary, Horn will be eligible for certain annual
incentive compensation (“Incentive Compensation”) in accordance with Guild’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan and in an
amount to be determined annually by the Compensation Committee based on the achievement of individual and corporate
performance goals set by the Compensation Committee and communicated to Horn from year to year, which shall be
subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained herein, Horn must be employed as of the last day of the applicable calendar year in which the Incentive
Compensation relates in order to earn and receive payment for the Incentive Compensation for such applicable calendar
year. The Incentive Compensation, if earned, shall be calculated and paid by no later than the 15th day of the third month
following the last day of the applicable calendar year to which the Incentive Compensation relates.

4. Payment/Withholding. Guild shall make all payments to Horn hereunder from its general funds. To the extent
required by law in effect at the time payments are made, Guild shall withhold from payments made hereunder any taxes
required to be withheld pursuant to federal, state or local law. Horn remains responsible for the payment of all federal, state
or local taxes imposed on Horn based on her receipt of any Incentive Compensation hereunder.

5. Limit on Alienation. Horn’s right to receive payments under this Agreement is not subject in any manner to
anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, attachment or garnishment by creditors of Horn or
Horn’s beneficiaries.

6. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated upon (a) the mutual written agreement of the parties to
terminate this Agreement; (b) the parties entering into a subsequent executive compensation agreement; or (c) the
termination of Horn’s employment with Guild by Guild or Horn at any time, for any reason, with or without cause. This
Agreement will not confer on Horn any right with respect to continuing Horn’s relationship as an at-will employee of
Guild, nor will this Agreement interfere in any way with Horn’s or Guild’s right to terminate such relationship at any time,
with or without cause, to the extent permitted by applicable law.

7. Effect of Termination. Upon termination of Horn’s employment for any reason, Guild shall pay to Horn, at
such time as is required by the applicable policies, plans or law: (i) Horn’s then- current Base Salary earned up to and
including the last day of Horn’s employment, (ii) any Incentive
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Compensation earned by and payable to Horn upon termination of employment, and (iii) any other items earned by and
owed to Horn as of the termination of employment in accordance with the policies and plans of Guild and applicable law.
The termination of Horn’s benefits shall be determined in accordance with Guild’s benefit plans or policies then in effect.

In addition to the payments described in the preceding paragraph, if Horn’s at-will employment with Guild is
terminated by Guild for any reason, with or without cause (excluding termination due to Horn’s commission of a crime), or
if ill health permanently prevents Horn from performing all his responsibilities as Executive Vice President and National
Production Manager, subject to Horn’s execution, delivery to Guild, and non-revocation of a separation agreement and
general release of all claims (in a form to be provided by Guild) (the “Release”), Guild shall continue to pay to Horn as
severance compensation the amount that Horn would have been paid at Horn’s then-current Base Salary as of the effective
date of Horn’s termination (the “Severance Compensation”) for a period of one (1) year from the effective date of Horn’s
termination of employment with Guild (the “Severance Period”). The Severance Compensation shall be paid, less
applicable withholdings, in installments in accordance with Guild’s normal payroll practices during the Severance Period;
provided that, in the event Horn does not receive one or more installments of the Severance Compensation following the
effective date of Horn’s termination due to the condition of the Release, the aggregate amount of any payments that
otherwise would have been paid to Horn before Horn executed the Release shall be paid to Horn in a lump-sum on the date
in which the first installment is to be received, and all remaining payments shall be paid on their original schedule. Except
as expressly stated in this Section, Guild shall have no other obligation to Horn in the event of a termination of Horn’s
employment.

8. Nonsolicitation. Horn agrees that while Horn is employed by Guild and for a period of one (1) year following
the termination of Horn’s employment with Guild for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary, and
regardless of cause, Horn shall not, other than on behalf of Guild in the performance of Horn’s duties and responsibilities
as authorized by Guild, directly or indirectly, on Horn’s own behalf or by aiding any other individual or entity, recruit or
solicit for employment any individual (including any branch manager or loan officer) who is an employee of Guild or any
of its affiliates and with whom Horn worked and had business contact during the one
(1) year period immediately prior to the termination of Horn’s employment with Guild.

9. Compliance with Code Section 409A. In good faith, the Incentive Compensation, if any, will be designed and
operated in such a manner that they are either exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Code
Section 409A. The grant of Incentive Compensation, if any, is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A
and will be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion
of the Compensation Committee. To the extent that any portion of the Incentive Compensation, or the settlement or
deferral thereof, is subject to Code Section 409A the bonus will be granted, paid, settled or deferred in a manner that will
meet the requirements of Code Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the
additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A. In no event shall Guild, the Compensation Committee, or
any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalty that may be imposed on
Horn or others for failure to comply with Section 409A or any other section of the Code.

10. Miscellaneous. This Agreement comprises the entire agreement between Horn and Guild relating to the subject
matter hereof, and shall supersede all other written and oral understandings or agreements relating to the subject matter
hereof, including, but not limited to, all prior Executive Compensation Agreements by and between Guild and Horn. This
Agreement and the rights, interest and obligations of Guild hereunder shall be assignable to, and shall inure to the benefit
of, any assignee of Guild, any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, or any person, firm or corporation resulting from the
reorganization of Guild or succeeding to the business or assets of Guild by purchase, merger, consolidated or otherwise.
This Agreement is not assignable by Horn. Guild and
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Horn have each participated in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. Accordingly, in the event an ambiguity or
question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by Guild and Horn and no
presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring Guild or Horn by virtue of the authorship of any of the
provisions of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed, and enforced in accordance with the laws
of the State of California. Guild and Horn agree that any action by either party to enforce the terms of this Agreement shall
be exclusively brought by the other party in an appropriate state or federal court in San Diego County, California and both
parties waive all objections based upon lack of jurisdiction or improper or inconvenient venue of any such court. Guild and
Horn intend and agree that if a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the scope of any provision of this
Agreement is too broad to be enforced as written, the court should reform such provisions to such narrower scope as it
determines to be enforceable. Guild and Horn further agree that if any provision of this Agreement is determined to be
unenforceable for any reason, and such provision cannot be reformed by the court as anticipated above, such provision
shall be deemed separate and severable and the unenforceability of any such provisions shall not invalidate or render
unenforceable any of the remaining provisions hereof.

[Signature page to follow.]
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The parties have entered into this Agreement effective as of the date first written above.

GUILD MORTGAGE COMPANY LLC
a California limited liability company

By:     /s/Mary Ann McGarry         /s/Barry Horn     Mary Ann McGarry        Barry Horn
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Exhibit 10.12

AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into effective as of
January 1, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Guild Mortgage Company LLC, a California limited liability
company (“Guild”), and David Neylan (“Neylan”), as follows:

1. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue until terminated as
provided in Section 4 hereof (the “Term”).

2. Base Salary. During the Term, Guild shall pay to Neylan a base salary as determined annually by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Guild Holdings Company (the “Compensation Committee”) and
communicated to Neylan from year to year, which shall be subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the
Compensation Committee (the “Base Salary”). The Base Salary for Neylan for calendar year 2021 shall be $450,000. The
Base Salary shall be paid at least monthly at such times and in such manner as is consistent with Guild’s regular payroll
practices and policies and applicable law. Guild shall deduct and withhold all necessary Social Security and withholding
taxes and any other similar amounts required by law from any compensation paid to Neylan.

3. Annual Incentive Compensation. In addition to the Base Salary, Neylan will be eligible for certain annual
incentive compensation (“Incentive Compensation”) in accordance with Guild’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan and in an
amount to be determined annually by the Compensation Committee based on the achievement of individual and corporate
performance goals set by the Compensation Committee and communicated to Neylan from year to year, which shall be
subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained herein, Neylan must be employed as of the last day of the applicable calendar year in which the
Incentive Compensation relates in order to earn and receive payment for the Incentive Compensation for such applicable
calendar year. The Incentive Compensation, if earned, shall be calculated and paid by no later than the 15th day of the
third month following the last day of the applicable calendar year to which the Incentive Compensation relates.

4. Payment/Withholding. Guild shall make all payments to Neylan hereunder from its general funds. To the extent
required by law in effect at the time payments are made, Guild shall withhold from payments made hereunder any taxes
required to be withheld pursuant to federal, state or local law. Neylan remains responsible for the payment of all federal,
state or local taxes imposed on Neylan based on her receipt of any Incentive Compensation hereunder.

5. Limit on Alienation. Neylan’s right to receive payments under this Agreement is not subject in any manner to
anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, attachment or garnishment by creditors of Neylan
or Neylan’s beneficiaries.

6. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated upon (a) the mutual written agreement of the parties to
terminate this Agreement; (b) the parties entering into a subsequent executive compensation agreement; or (c) the
termination of Neylan’s employment with Guild by Guild or Neylan at any time, for any reason, with or without cause.
This Agreement will not confer on Neylan any right with respect to continuing Neylan’s relationship as an at-will
employee of Guild, nor will this Agreement interfere in any way with Neylan’s or Guild’s right to terminate such
relationship at any time, with or without cause, to the extent permitted by applicable law.

7. Effect of Termination. Upon termination of Neylan’s employment for any reason, Guild shall pay to Neylan, at
such time as is required by the applicable policies, plans or law: (i) Neylan’s then-current Base Salary earned up to and
including the last day of Neylan’s employment,
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(ii) any Incentive Compensation earned by and payable to Neylan upon termination of employment, and (iii) any other
items earned by and owed to Neylan as of the termination of employment in accordance with the policies and plans of
Guild and applicable law. The termination of Neylan’s benefits shall be determined in accordance with Guild’s benefit
plans or policies then in effect.

In addition to the payments described in the preceding paragraph, if Neylan’s at-will employment with Guild is
terminated by Guild for any reason, with or without cause (excluding termination due to Neylan’s commission of a crime),
or if ill health permanently prevents Neylan from performing all his responsibilities as Chief Operating Officer, subject to
Neylan’s execution, delivery to Guild, and non-revocation of a separation agreement and general release of all claims (in a
form to be provided by Guild) (the “Release”), Guild shall continue to pay to Neylan as severance compensation the
amount that Neylan would have been paid at Neylan’s then-current Base Salary as of the effective date of Neylan’s
termination (the “Severance Compensation”) for a period of one (1) year from the effective date of Neylan’s termination
of employment with Guild (the “Severance Period”). The Severance Compensation shall be paid, less applicable
withholdings, in installments in accordance with Guild’s normal payroll practices during the Severance Period; provided
that, in the event Neylan does not receive one or more installments of the Severance Compensation following the effective
date of Neylan’s termination due to the condition of the Release, the aggregate amount of any payments that otherwise
would have been paid to Neylan before Neylan executed the Release shall be paid to Neylan in a lump-sum on the date in
which the first installment is to be received, and all remaining payments shall be paid on their original schedule. Except as
expressly stated in this Section, Guild shall have no other obligation to Neylan in the event of a termination of Neylan’s
employment.

8. Nonsolicitation. Neylan agrees that while Neylan is employed by Guild and for a period of one (1) year
following the termination of Neylan’s employment with Guild for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or
involuntary, and regardless of cause, Neylan shall not, other than on behalf of Guild in the performance of Neylan’s duties
and responsibilities as authorized by Guild, directly or indirectly, on Neylan’s own behalf or by aiding any other individual
or entity, recruit or solicit for employment any individual (including any branch manager or loan officer) who is an
employee of Guild or any of its affiliates and with whom Neylan worked and had business contact during the one (1) year
period immediately prior to the termination of Neylan’s employment with Guild.

9. Compliance with Code Section 409A. In good faith, the Incentive Compensation, if any, will be designed and
operated in such a manner that they are either exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Code
Section 409A. The grant of Incentive Compensation, if any, is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A
and will be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion
of the Compensation Committee. To the extent that any portion of the Incentive Compensation, or the settlement or
deferral thereof, is subject to Code Section 409A the bonus will be granted, paid, settled or deferred in a manner that will
meet the requirements of Code Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the
additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A. In no event shall Guild, the Compensation Committee, or
any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalty that may be imposed on
Neylan or others for failure to comply with Section 409A or any other section of the Code.

10. Miscellaneous. This Agreement comprises the entire agreement between Neylan and Guild relating to the
subject matter hereof, and shall supersede all other written and oral understandings or agreements relating to the subject
matter hereof, including, but not limited to, all prior Executive Compensation Agreements by and between Guild and
Neylan. This Agreement and the rights, interest and obligations of Guild hereunder shall be assignable to, and shall inure to
the benefit of, any assignee of Guild, any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, or any person, firm or corporation
resulting from the reorganization of Guild or succeeding to the business or assets of Guild by purchase, merger,
consolidated or otherwise. This Agreement is not assignable by Neylan. Guild and Neylan have each participated in the
negotiation and drafting of this Agreement.
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Accordingly, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if
drafted jointly by Guild and Neylan and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring Guild or
Neylan by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be governed by,
construed, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Guild and Neylan agree that any action by
either party to enforce the terms of this Agreement shall be exclusively brought by the other party in an appropriate state or
federal court in San Diego County, California and both parties waive all objections based upon lack of jurisdiction or
improper or inconvenient venue of any such court. Guild and Neylan intend and agree that if a court of competent
jurisdiction determines that the scope of any provision of this Agreement is too broad to be enforced as written, the court
should reform such provisions to such narrower scope as it determines to be enforceable. Guild and Neylan further agree
that if any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable for any reason, and such provision cannot be
reformed by the court as anticipated above, such provision shall be deemed separate and severable and the unenforceability
of any such provisions shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any of the remaining provisions hereof.

[Signature page to follow.]
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The parties have entered into this Agreement effective as of the date first written above.

GUILD MORTGAGE COMPANY LLC
a California limited liability company

By:     /s/Mary Ann McGarry         /s/David Neylan     Mary Ann McGarry        David Neylan
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Exhibit 10.13

AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into effective as of
January 1, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Guild Mortgage Company LLC, a California limited liability
company (“Guild”), and Amber Kramer (formerly Amber Elwell) (“Kramer”), as follows:

1. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue until terminated as
provided in Section 4 hereof (the “Term”).

2. Base Salary. During the Term, Guild shall pay to Kramer a base salary as determined annually by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Guild Holdings Company (the “Compensation Committee”) and
communicated to Kramer from year to year, which shall be subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the
Compensation Committee (the “Base Salary”). The Base Salary for Kramer for calendar year 2021 shall be $375,000. The
Base Salary shall be paid at least monthly at such times and in such manner as is consistent with Guild’s regular payroll
practices and policies and applicable law. Guild shall deduct and withhold all necessary Social Security and withholding
taxes and any other similar amounts required by law from any compensation paid to Kramer.

3. Annual Incentive Compensation. In addition to the Base Salary, Kramer will be eligible for certain annual
incentive compensation (“Incentive Compensation”) in accordance with Guild’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan and in an
amount to be determined annually by the Compensation Committee based on the achievement of individual and corporate
performance goals set by the Compensation Committee and communicated to Kramer from year to year, which shall be
subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained herein, Kramer must be employed as of the last day of the applicable calendar year in which the
Incentive Compensation relates in order to earn and receive payment for the Incentive Compensation for such applicable
calendar year. The Incentive Compensation, if earned, shall be calculated and paid by no later than the 15th day of the
third month following the last day of the applicable calendar year to which the Incentive Compensation relates.

4. Payment/Withholding. Guild shall make all payments to Kramer hereunder from its general funds. To the
extent required by law in effect at the time payments are made, Guild shall withhold from payments made hereunder any
taxes required to be withheld pursuant to federal, state or local law. Kramer remains responsible for the payment of all
federal, state or local taxes imposed on Kramer based on her receipt of any Incentive Compensation hereunder.

5. Limit on Alienation. Kramer’s right to receive payments under this Agreement is not subject in any manner to
anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, attachment or garnishment by creditors of Kramer
or Kramer’s beneficiaries.

6. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated upon (a) the mutual written agreement of the parties to
terminate this Agreement; (b) the parties entering into a subsequent executive compensation agreement; or (c) the
termination of Kramer’s employment with Guild by Guild or Kramer at any time, for any reason, with or without cause.
This Agreement will not confer on Kramer any right with respect to continuing Kramer’s relationship as an at-will
employee of Guild, nor will this Agreement interfere in any way with Kramer’s or Guild’s right to terminate such
relationship at any time, with or without cause, to the extent permitted by applicable law.

7. Effect of Termination. Upon termination of Kramer’s employment for any reason, Guild shall pay to Kramer, at
such time as is required by the applicable policies, plans or law: (i) Kramer’s then-current Base Salary earned up to and
including the last day of Kramer’s employment,
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(ii) any Incentive Compensation earned by and payable to Kramer upon termination of employment, and (iii) any other
items earned by and owed to Kramer as of the termination of employment in accordance with the policies and plans of
Guild and applicable law. The termination of Kramer’s benefits shall be determined in accordance with Guild’s benefit
plans or policies then in effect.

In addition to the payments described in the preceding paragraph, if Kramer’s at-will employment with Guild is
terminated by Guild for any reason, with or without cause (excluding termination due to Kramer’s commission of a crime),
or if ill health permanently prevents Kramer from performing all her responsibilities as Chief Financial Officer, subject to
Kramer’s execution, delivery to Guild, and non-revocation of a separation agreement and general release of all claims (in a
form to be provided by Guild) (the “Release”), Guild shall continue to pay to Kramer as severance compensation the
amount that Kramer would have been paid at Kramer’s then-current Base Salary as of the effective date of Kramer’s
termination (the “Severance Compensation”) for a period of one (1) year from the effective date of Kramer’s termination
of employment with Guild (the “Severance Period”). The Severance Compensation shall be paid, less applicable
withholdings, in installments in accordance with Guild’s normal payroll practices during the Severance Period; provided
that, in the event Kramer does not receive one or more installments of the Severance Compensation following the effective
date of Kramer’s termination due to the condition of the Release, the aggregate amount of any payments that otherwise
would have been paid to Kramer before Kramer executed the Release shall be paid to Kramer in a lump-sum on the date in
which the first installment is to be received, and all remaining payments shall be paid on their original schedule. Except as
expressly stated in this Section, Guild shall have no other obligation to Kramer in the event of a termination of Kramer’s
employment.

8. Nonsolicitation. Kramer agrees that while Kramer is employed by Guild and for a period of one (1) year
following the termination of Kramer’s employment with Guild for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or
involuntary, and regardless of cause, Kramer shall not, other than on behalf of Guild in the performance of Kramer’s duties
and responsibilities as authorized by Guild, directly or indirectly, on Kramer’s own behalf or by aiding any other individual
or entity, recruit or solicit for employment any individual (including any branch manager or loan officer) who is an
employee of Guild or any of its affiliates and with whom Kramer worked and had business contact during the one (1) year
period immediately prior to the termination of Kramer’s employment with Guild.

9. Compliance with Code Section 409A. In good faith, the Incentive Compensation, if any, will be designed and
operated in such a manner that they are either exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Code
Section 409A. The grant of Incentive Compensation, if any, is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A
and will be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion
of the Compensation Committee. To the extent that any portion of the Incentive Compensation, or the settlement or
deferral thereof, is subject to Code Section 409A the bonus will be granted, paid, settled or deferred in a manner that will
meet the requirements of Code Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the
additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A. In no event shall Guild, the Compensation Committee, or
any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalty that may be imposed on
Kramer or others for failure to comply with Section 409A or any other section of the Code.

10. Miscellaneous. This Agreement comprises the entire agreement between Kramer and Guild relating to the
subject matter hereof, and shall supersede all other written and oral understandings or agreements relating to the subject
matter hereof, including, but not limited to, all prior Executive Compensation Agreements by and between Guild and
Kramer. This Agreement and the rights, interest and obligations of Guild hereunder shall be assignable to, and shall inure
to the benefit of, any assignee of Guild, any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, or any person, firm or corporation
resulting from the reorganization of Guild or succeeding to the business or assets of Guild by purchase, merger,
consolidated or otherwise. This Agreement is not assignable by Kramer. Guild and Kramer have each participated in the
negotiation and drafting of this Agreement.
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Accordingly, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if
drafted jointly by Guild and Kramer and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring Guild or
Kramer by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be governed by,
construed, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Guild and Kramer agree that any action by
either party to enforce the terms of this Agreement shall be exclusively brought by the other party in an appropriate state or
federal court in San Diego County, California and both parties waive all objections based upon lack of jurisdiction or
improper or inconvenient venue of any such court. Guild and Kramer intend and agree that if a court of competent
jurisdiction determines that the scope of any provision of this Agreement is too broad to be enforced as written, the court
should reform such provisions to such narrower scope as it determines to be enforceable. Guild and Kramer further agree
that if any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable for any reason, and such provision cannot be
reformed by the court as anticipated above, such provision shall be deemed separate and severable and the unenforceability
of any such provisions shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any of the remaining provisions hereof.

[Signature page to follow.]
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The parties have entered into this Agreement effective as of the date first written above.

GUILD MORTGAGE COMPANY LLC
a California limited liability company

By:     /s/Mary Ann McGarry         /s/Amber Kramer     Mary Ann McGarry        Amber Kramer
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Exhibit 10.14
AMENDED AND RESTATED EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Executive Compensation Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into effective as of January 1, 2021
(the “Effective Date”), by and between Guild Mortgage Company LLC, a California limited liability company (“Guild”), and Lisa Klika
(“Klika”), as follows:

1. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue until terminated as provided in Section 4
hereof (the “Term”).

2. Base Salary. During the Term, Guild shall pay to Klika a base salary as determined annually by the Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors of Guild Holdings Company (the “Compensation Committee”) and communicated to Klika from year to year, which
shall be subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee (the “Base Salary”). The Base Salary for Klika
for calendar year 2021 shall be $350,000. The Base Salary shall be paid at least monthly at such times and in such manner as is consistent with
Guild’s regular payroll practices and policies and applicable law. Guild shall deduct and withhold all necessary Social Security and
withholding taxes and any other similar amounts required by law from any compensation paid to Klika.

3. Annual Incentive Compensation. In addition to the Base Salary, Klika will be eligible for certain annual incentive compensation
(“Incentive Compensation”) in accordance with Guild’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan and in an amount to be determined annually by the
Compensation Committee based on the achievement of individual and corporate performance goals set by the Compensation Committee and
communicated to Klika from year to year, which shall be subject to review and adjustment at the sole discretion of the Compensation
Committee. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Klika must be employed as of the last day of the applicable calendar
year in which the Incentive Compensation relates in order to earn and receive payment for the Incentive Compensation for such applicable
calendar year. The Incentive Compensation, if earned, shall be calculated and paid by no later than the 15th day of the third month following
the last day of the applicable calendar year to which the Incentive Compensation relates.

4. Payment/Withholding. Guild shall make all payments to Klika hereunder from its general funds. To the extent required by law in
effect at the time payments are made, Guild shall withhold from payments made hereunder any taxes required to be withheld pursuant to
federal, state or local law. Klika remains responsible for the payment of all federal, state or local taxes imposed on Klika based on her receipt
of any Incentive Compensation hereunder.

5. Limit on Alienation. Klika’s right to receive payments under this Agreement is not subject in any manner to anticipation,
alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, attachment or garnishment by creditors of Klika or Klika’s beneficiaries.

6. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated upon (a) the mutual written agreement of the parties to terminate this
Agreement; (b) the parties entering into a subsequent executive compensation agreement; or (c) the termination of Klika’s employment with
Guild by Guild or Klika at any time, for any reason, with or without cause. This Agreement will not confer on Klika any right with respect to
continuing Klika’s relationship as an at-will employee of Guild, nor will this Agreement interfere in any way with Klika’s or Guild’s right to
terminate such relationship at any time, with or without cause, to the extent permitted by applicable law.

7. Effect of Termination. Upon termination of Klika’s employment for any reason, Guild shall pay to Klika, at such time as is
required by the applicable policies, plans or law: (i) Klika’s then- current Base Salary earned up to and including the last day of Klika’s
employment, (ii) any Incentive Compensation earned by and payable to Klika upon termination of employment, and (iii)
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any other items earned by and owed to Klika as of the termination of employment in accordance with the policies and plans of Guild and
applicable law. The termination of Klika’s benefits shall be determined in accordance with Guild’s benefit plans or policies then in effect.

In addition to the payments described in the preceding paragraph, if Klika’s at-will employment with Guild is terminated by Guild for
any reason, with or without cause (excluding termination due to Klika’s commission of a crime), or if ill health permanently prevents Klika
from performing all her responsibilities as Chief Compliance Officer, subject to Klika’s execution, delivery to Guild, and non-revocation of a
separation agreement and general release of all claims (in a form to be provided by Guild) (the “Release”), Guild shall continue to pay to Klika
as severance compensation the amount that Klik would have been paid at Klika’s then-current Base Salary as of the effective date of Klika’s
termination (the “Severance Compensation”) for a period of one (1) year from the effective date of Klika’s termination of employment with
Guild (the “Severance Period”). The Severance Compensation shall be paid, less applicable withholdings, in installments in accordance with
Guild’s normal payroll practices during the Severance Period; provided that, in the event Klika does not receive one or more installments of
the Severance Compensation following the effective date of Klika’s termination due to the condition of the Release, the aggregate amount of
any payments that otherwise would have been paid to Klika before Klika executed the Release shall be paid to Klika in a lump-sum on the
date in which the first installment is to be received, and all remaining payments shall be paid on their original schedule. Except as expressly
stated in this Section, Guild shall have no other obligation to Klika in the event of a termination of Klika’s employment.

8. Nonsolicitation. Klika agrees that while Klika is employed by Guild and for a period of one (1) year following the termination
of Klika’s employment with Guild for any reason whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary, and regardless of cause, Klika shall not, other
than on behalf of Guild in the performance of Klika’s duties and responsibilities as authorized by Guild, directly or indirectly, on Klika’s own
behalf or by aiding any other individual or entity, recruit or solicit for employment any individual (including any branch manager or loan
officer) who is an employee of Guild or any of its affiliates and with whom Kilka worked and had business contact during the one
(1) year period immediately prior to the termination of Kilka’s employment with Guild.

9. Compliance with Code Section 409A. In good faith, the Incentive Compensation, if any, will be designed and operated in such a
manner that they are either exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Code Section 409A. The grant of Incentive
Compensation, if any, is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 409A and will be construed and interpreted in accordance with
such intent, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee. To the extent that any portion of the
Incentive Compensation, or the settlement or deferral thereof, is subject to Code Section 409A the bonus will be granted, paid, settled or
deferred in a manner that will meet the requirements of Code Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be
subject to the additional tax or interest applicable under Code Section 409A. In no event shall Guild, the Compensation Committee, or any
parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalty that may be imposed on Klika or others for failure to
comply with Section 409A or any other section of the Code.

10. Miscellaneous. This Agreement comprises the entire agreement between Klika and Guild relating to the subject matter hereof,
and shall supersede all other written and oral understandings or agreements relating to the subject matter hereof, including, but not limited to,
all prior Executive Compensation Agreements by and between Guild and Klika. This Agreement and the rights, interest and obligations of
Guild hereunder shall be assignable to, and shall inure to the benefit of, any assignee of Guild, any parent, subsidiary or affiliate of Guild, or
any person, firm or corporation resulting from the reorganization of Guild or succeeding to the business or assets of Guild by purchase, merger,
consolidated or otherwise. This Agreement is not assignable by Klika.
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Guild and Klika have each participated in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. Accordingly, in the event an ambiguity or question
of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by Guild and Klika and no presumption or burden of
proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring Guild or Klika by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. This Agreement
shall be governed by, construed, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Guild and Klika agree that any action by
either party to enforce the terms of this Agreement shall be exclusively brought by the other party in an appropriate state or federal court in
San Diego County, California and both parties waive all objections based upon lack of jurisdiction or improper or inconvenient venue of any
such court. Guild and Klika intend and agree that if a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the scope of any provision of this
Agreement is too broad to be enforced as written, the court should reform such provisions to such narrower scope as it determines to be
enforceable. Guild and Klika further agree that if any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable for any reason, and such
provision cannot be reformed by the court as anticipated above, such provision shall be deemed separate and severable and the
unenforceability of any such provisions shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any of the remaining provisions hereof.

[Signature page to follow.]
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The parties have entered into this Agreement effective as of the date first written above.

GUILD MORTGAGE COMPANY LLC
a California limited liability company

By:     /s/Mary Ann McGarry         /s/Lisa Klika     Mary Ann McGarry        Lisa Klika
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Exhibit 10.15
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

TO EMPLOYEES

This Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of [DATE] (the “Grant Date”), is made between Guild Holdings
Company (the “Company”), and [NAME] (the “Participant”).

W I T N E S S E T H

The Guild Holdings Company 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) (any and all capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan) provides for the grant of Restricted Stock Units. In consideration of the
mutual promises and covenants made herein and the mutual benefits to be derived herefrom, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Grant and Vesting of Restricted Stock Units.

(a) Grant of Restricted Stock Units. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the restricted stock unit grant notice (“Grant
Notice”), in this Agreement, and in the Plan, the Company hereby grants to the Participant, as of the Grant Date, [NUMBER] restricted
stock units (the “Restricted Stock Units”), each with respect to one Share. The Restricted Stock Units shall vest in accordance with Section
1(b) of this Agreement. As a condition to receiving the Restricted Stock Units, the Participant hereby agrees to comply with the restrictive
covenants set forth in Annex A to this Agreement (the “Restrictive Covenants”).

(b) Vesting Schedule. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the provisions of the Plan, the Restricted Stock
Units shall vest (such period during which a Restricted Stock Unit is unvested, the “Vesting Period” with respect to such unit) as provided in
the Grant Notice.

(c) Termination of Service. Except as otherwise provided in Section 1(c)(i) or Section 1(c)(ii), in the event that the Participant
incurs a Termination of Service during the Vesting Period for any reason, all unvested Restricted Stock Units shall be forfeited by the
Participant effective immediately upon such Termination of Service and shall cease to be eligible for vesting hereunder.

(i) In the event that the Participant incurs a Termination of Service during the Vesting Period due to the Participant’s death
or Disability, all remaining outstanding and unvested Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder shall immediately vest.

(ii) In the event of a Change in Control, the provisions of Section 10 of the Plan shall apply to the Restricted Stock Units.
For purposes of applying Section 10(d) of the



Plan to the Restricted Stock Units, the Participant’s Termination from Service due to a resignation for Good Reason that occurs within 24
months following a Change in Control shall have the same effect as a Termination of Service without Cause (excluding a Termination of
Service due to the Participant’s death or Disability) that occurs within 24 months following a Change in Control, as described in Section 10(d)
of the Plan. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” means the occurrence of any of the following without the Participant’s prior
written consent: (A) a material diminution in the Participant’s position, authority, duties or responsibilities from those in effect immediately
prior to the Change in Control, (B) a reduction in the Participant’s annual base salary from that in effect immediately prior to the Change in
Control, (C) a material reduction in the Participant’s target annual cash incentive compensation opportunity from that in effect immediately
prior to the Change in Control, (D) a material reduction in the Participant’s annual long-term incentive compensation opportunity (excluding
IPO-related awards) from that in effect immediately prior to the Change in Control, or (E) a change in the geographic location of the
Participant’s principal place of employment of more than 50 miles from the geographic location of the Participant’s principal place of
employment as of immediately prior to the Change in Control. In order to invoke a resignation for Good Reason, the Participant shall provide
written notice to the Company of the existence of one or more of the conditions described in clauses (A) through (E) within 90 days of the
initial existence of such condition or conditions, specifying in reasonable detail the conditions constituting Good Reason, and the Company
shall have 30 days following receipt of such written notice (the “Cure Period”) during which it may remedy the condition. In the event that the
Company fails to remedy the condition constituting Good Reason during the applicable Cure Period, then in order for the Participant’s
termination of employment to constitute a resignation for Good Reason, it must occur, if at all, within 30 days following the earlier of (i) the
end of the Cure Period or (ii) the date the Company provides written notice to the Participant that it does not intend to cure such condition.

(d) Forfeiture and Clawback.

(i) Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, in the event that the Participant violates any of the Restrictive Covenants
or any other restrictive covenants set forth in any other agreement between the Participant and the Company, the Restricted Stock Units, to
the extent unvested, shall be immediately forfeited. Such forfeiture is in addition to, and not in lieu of, the other remedies available to the
Company as described in Annex A (or any other agreement between the Participant and the Company that contains the applicable restrictive
covenants).

(ii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, (A) in the event that the Participant violates any of the
Restrictive Covenants or any other restrictive covenants set forth in any other agreement between the Participant and the Company or (B) to
the extent permitted or required by applicable law and Applicable Exchange rules or by any applicable Company policy or arrangement as in
effect from time to time, the Company may (or to the extent required, shall) (1) cause the Restricted Stock Units, to the extent unvested, to be
immediately forfeited and/or (2) require the Participant to deliver to the Company the Shares previously issued to the Participant upon
settlement of the Restricted Stock Units (or, if such Shares have been sold, pay to the Company the after-tax cash proceeds realized by the
Participant upon such sale). By accepting the Restricted Stock Units, the Participant agrees that



the Participant is subject to any clawback policies of the Company in effect from time to time.

2. Settlement of Units.

As soon as practicable after any Restricted Stock Unit has vested, the Company shall, subject to Section 6 of this Agreement, cause the
Restricted Stock Units to be settled in Shares. The obligation of the Company to deliver Shares hereunder shall be subject to all applicable
laws, rules, and regulations and such approvals by governmental agencies as may be deemed appropriate by the Committee, including such
actions as Company counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate to comply with relevant securities laws and regulations. The Company may
require that the Participant represent that the Participant is acquiring Shares for the Participant’s own account, or such other representation as
the Committee deems appropriate.

3. Nontransferability.

The Restricted Stock Units shall not be transferable by the Participant by means of sale, assignment, exchange, encumbrance, pledge,
hedge or otherwise.

4. Grant Subject to Plan Provisions.

This grant is made pursuant to the Plan, the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference, and in all respects shall be
interpreted in accordance with the Plan. This grant is subject to the provisions of the Plan and to interpretations, regulations and
determinations concerning the Plan established from time to time by the Committee in accordance with the provisions of the Plan, including,
but not limited to, provisions pertaining to (a) rights and obligations with respect to withholding taxes, (b) the registration, qualification or
listing of the Shares, (c) capital or other changes of the Company and (d) other requirements of applicable law. The Committee shall have
the authority to interpret and construe this Agreement pursuant to the terms of the Plan, and its decisions shall be conclusive as to any
questions arising hereunder. In the event of any conflict between this Agreement and the terms of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall
control.

5. No Shareholder Rights.

The Participant shall not be entitled to any rights of a stockholder with respect to the Restricted Stock Units (including, without
limitation, any voting rights or rights with respect to dividends). Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the Company’s payment of an ordinary
cash dividend with respect to Shares, the number of Restricted Stock Units shall be increased by dividing the amount of dividend the
Participant would have received had the Participant owned a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Restricted Stock
Units then credited to the Participant’s account by the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the last trading day before the date
of the dividend payment. The units so credited will be subject to the same restrictions applicable to the underlying Restricted Stock Units and
the other terms and conditions applicable to the underlying Restricted Stock Units and will be settled in Shares at the time that the underlying
Restricted Stock Units are settled, if at all.



6. Taxes and Withholding.

No later than the date as of which an amount first becomes includible in the gross income of the Participant for federal, state, local or
foreign income tax purposes with respect to any Restricted Stock Units, the Participant shall pay to the Company, or make arrangements
satisfactory to the Company regarding the payment of, any federal, state, local and foreign taxes that are required by applicable laws and
regulations to be withheld with respect to such amount. The obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall be conditioned on
compliance by the Participant with this Section 6, and the Company shall, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to deduct any such
taxes from any payment otherwise due to the Participant, including deducting such amount from the delivery of shares or cash issued upon
settlement of the Restricted Stock Units that gives rise to the withholding requirement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Participant is an
individual covered under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, at the time that a taxable event occurs, then, unless
otherwise determined by the Committee in advance of the taxable event, the Company’s withholding obligations with respect to such taxable
event will be satisfied by the Company deducting Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units having a Fair Market Value on the date of
deduction equal to the amount required to be withheld for tax purposes (calculated using the minimum statutory withholding rate, except as
otherwise approved by the Committee).

7. Effect of Agreement.

The rights and interests of the Participant under this Agreement may not be sold, assigned, encumbered or otherwise transferred
except, in the event of the death of the Participant, by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. The rights and protections of the
Company hereunder shall extend to any successors or assigns of the Company and to the Company’s parents, subsidiaries, and affiliates. This
Agreement may be assigned by the Company without the Participant’s consent. Except as otherwise provided hereunder, this Agreement shall
be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of any successor or successors of the Company. The invalidity or enforceability of any provision
of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement or the
Plan shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the employ or service of the Company or any of its affiliates or interfere in any
way with the right of the Company or any such affiliates to terminate the Participant’s employment or service at any time.

8. Governing Law; Captions.

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard
to the principles of conflicts of law thereof. The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or
effect.

9. Signature in Counterparts.

This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto
and hereto were upon the same instrument. The parties hereto confirm that any facsimile copy of another party’s executed counterpart of
this Agreement (or its signature page thereof) will be deemed to be an executed original thereof.



[Signature Page Follows.]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, as of the date first above written, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by
a duly authorized officer, and the Participant has hereunto set the Participant’s hand.

GUILD HOLDINGS COMPANY

By:         Name:
Title:

[PARTICIPANT NAME]

[Signature Page to Restricted Stock Unit Agreement ]



Annex A

Restrictive Covenants

As used in this Annex A, the “Company” refers to Guild Holdings Company collectively with its affiliates and subsidiaries.

1. Nondisclosure of Confidential Information.

(a) Definition of Confidential Information. As used herein, the term “Confidential Information” means the Company’s confidential
and proprietary information, which includes, without limitation, information about the Company’s products and services, customers and
prospective customers, the buying patterns and needs of customers and prospective customers, vendors and suppliers, pricing, quoting,
costing systems, billing and collection procedures, proprietary software and the source code thereof, financial and accounting data, data
processing and communications, technical data, marketing concepts and strategies, business plans, mergers and acquisitions, research and
development of new or improved products and services, and general know-how regarding the business of the Company and its products and
services. The Participant expressly acknowledges and agrees that Confidential Information may include, without limitation, confidential and
proprietary information belonging to various third parties, such as the Company’s affiliates, vendors, agents or customers, but which has been
and will be entrusted to the Company for use by the Company to conduct its business. The failure to mark or designate information as
“confidential” or “proprietary” shall not prevent information that has been or will be accessed by or disclosed to the Participant from being
deemed Confidential Information under this Agreement.

(b) Access. The Participant acknowledges that the Participant’s employment with the Company as a key employee necessarily has
involved and/or will involve, exposure to and familiarity with, the Confidential Information.

(c) Participant’s Obligations. The Participant further acknowledges that the Confidential Information is a valuable, special and
unique asset of the Company, such that the unauthorized disclosure or use by the Participant, or persons or entities outside the Company,
would cause irreparable damage to the business of the Company. Accordingly, the Participant agrees that, during and after the Participant’s
employment with the Company, the Participant shall not directly or indirectly disclose to any person or entity or use for any purpose or
permit the exploitation, copying or summarizing of any Confidential Information of the Company, except as specifically required in the
proper performance of the Participant’s duties for the Company. The Participant represents and warrants that no such disclosure or use has
occurred prior to the date hereof.

(d) Trade Secret Status. The Company considers much of its Confidential Information to constitute trade secrets of the Company
(“Trade Secrets”) which have independent value, provide the Company with a competitive advantage over its competitors who do not know
the Trade Secrets, and are protected from unauthorized disclosure under applicable law. However, whether or not the Confidential
Information constitutes Trade Secrets, the Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Confidential Information is protected from



unauthorized disclosure or use due to the Participant’s covenants under this Agreement and the Participant’s fiduciary duties as an employee
of the Company.

(f) Protections. The Participant acknowledges that the Company has instituted, and will continue to institute, update, and amend
policies and procedures designed to protect the confidentiality and security of the Company’s Confidential Information, including, but not
limited to, policies and procedures designed by the Company to protect the status of the Company’s Trade Secrets. The Participant agrees to
take all appropriate action, whether by instruction, agreement or otherwise, to ensure the protection, confidentiality and security of the
Company’s Confidential Information, to protect the status of the Company’s Trade Secrets, and to satisfy the Participant’s obligations under
this Agreement.

(g) Return of Documents. The Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Confidential Information is and at all times shall
remain the sole and exclusive property of the Company. Upon the termination of the Participant’s employment with the Company or upon
request by the Company at any time, the Participant will promptly return to the Company in good condition all of the Company property,
including, without limitation, all documents, data and records of any kind, whether in hard copy or electronic form, that contain any
Confidential Information or that were prepared based on Confidential Information, including any and all copies thereof, as well as all
materials furnished to or acquired by the Participant during the course of the Participant’s employment with the Company. The Participant
shall keep no Confidential Information in any form or medium.

2. Nonsolicitation of Customers. In order to prevent the improper use of Confidential Information and the resulting unfair competition
and misappropriation of goodwill and other proprietary interests, the Participant agrees that while the Participant is employed by the Company
and for a period of eighteen (18) months following the termination of the Participant’s employment for any reason whatsoever, whether such
termination is voluntary or involuntary, and regardless of cause, the Participant will not, directly or indirectly, on the Participant’s own behalf
or by aiding any other individual or entity, use the Company’s Trade Secrets and Confidential Information, including, without limitation, the
identity of the Company’s customers, or prospective customers, the identity of the Company’s employees, contractors or consultants, special
needs, job orders, preferences, transaction histories, contacts, characteristics, agreements and prices, to call on, solicit, divert, serve, accept or
receive business from any of the Company’s customers (with whom the Participant had personal contact and did business during the twelve-
(12) month period immediately prior to the termination of the Participant’s employment) for the purpose of providing said customers with
products and/or services of the type or character typically provided to such customers by the Company.

3. Nonsolicitation of Employees. In order to prevent the improper use of Confidential Information and the resulting unfair competition
and misappropriation of goodwill and other proprietary interests, the Participant agrees that while the Participant is employed by the
Company and for a period of eighteen (18) months following the termination of the Participant’s employment for any reason whatsoever,
whether such termination is voluntary or involuntary, and regardless of cause, the Participant will not, directly or indirectly, on the
Participant’s own behalf or by aiding any other individual or entity, employ or solicit for employment any employee of the Company with
whom employee worked and had personal contact while



employed by the Company, except to the extent such employment or solicitation for employment is for a business that is not competitive with
the business, products or services offered or provided by the Company and cannot adversely affect the Company’s relationship or volume of
business with its customers.

4. Noncompetition. In order to prevent the improper use of Confidential Information and the resulting unfair competition and
misappropriation of goodwill and other proprietary interests, the Participant agrees that while the Participant is employed by the Company, the
Participant shall not, directly or indirectly, be involved in, or prepare to be involved in, any business activity that is directly or indirectly in
competition with any business activity of the Company or any product or service offered, sold or solicited by the Company.

5. Reasonable Restrictions.

(a) Applicable to any Status. The Participant acknowledges and agrees that the post- employment obligations of this Agreement
shall be applicable to the Participant regardless of whether the Participant engages in the restricted activity as an individual or as a sole
proprietor, stockholder, partner, member, officer, director, employee, agent, consultant, or independent contractor of any other entity.

(b) Reasonable Restrictions. In signing this Agreement, the Participant is fully aware of the restrictions that this Agreement places
upon the Participant’s future employment or contractual opportunities with someone other than the Company. However, the Participant
understands and agrees that the Participant’s employment by the Company, the Participant’s privileged position with the Company, and the
Participant’s access to Confidential Information make such restrictions both necessary and reasonable. The Participant acknowledges and
agrees that the restrictions hereby imposed constitute reasonable protections of the legitimate business interests of the Company and that they
will not unduly restrict the Participant’s opportunity to earn a reasonable living following the termination of the Participant’s employment.

7. Enforcement. The Participant acknowledges and agrees that, by reason of the sensitive nature of the Confidential Information and
Trade Secrets referred to in this Agreement, a breach of any of the promises or agreements contained herein will result in irreparable and
continuing damage to the Company for which there may not be an adequate remedy at law. If the Participant violates any of the terms of this
Agreement, all the Company obligations under this Agreement shall cease without relieving the Participant of his or her continuing obligations
hereunder. The Participant acknowledges and agrees that, in addition to the recovery of damages and any other legal relief to which the
Company may be entitled in the event of the Participant’s violation of this Agreement, the Company shall also be entitled to equitable relief,
including such injunctive relief as may be necessary to protect the interests of the Company in such Confidential Information and Trade
Secrets, and as may be necessary to specifically enforce this Agreement.

8. Reformation and Severability. The Participant and the Company intend and agree that if a court of competent jurisdiction determines
that the scope of any provision set forth in this Annex A is too broad to be enforced as written, the court should reform such provision(s) to
such narrower scope as it determines to be enforceable. The Participant and the Company further agree that if any provision of this Agreement
is determined to be unenforceable for any reason,



and such provision cannot be reformed by the court as anticipated above, such provision shall be deemed separate and severable and the
unenforceability of any such provision shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any of the remaining provisions hereof.



Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The registrant has the following subsidiaries:

Name of Subsidiary                    State of Organization

Guild Mortgage Company LLC                California
Guild Financial Express, Inc.                California
Guild Administration Corp.                California
Guild Mortgage Co SPE W40, LLC            Delaware
Mission Village Insurance Agency            California
Residential Mortgage Services Holdings, Inc.        Delaware
Residential Mortgage Services, Inc.            Maine
Blue Granite Mortgage, LLC                Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-249225 and 333-261855) on Form S-1 and (No. 333-249681)
on Form S-8 of our reports dated March 11, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Guild Holdings Company and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 11, 2022



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mary Ann McGarry, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Guild Holdings Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2022 By: /s/ Mary Ann McGarry
Mary Ann McGarry

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Desiree A. Kramer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Guild Holdings Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2022 By: /s/ Desiree A. Kramer
Desiree A. Kramer

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Guild Holdings Company (the “Company”) for the period ending December 31, 2021, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 11, 2022 By: /s/ Mary Ann McGarry
Mary Ann McGarry

Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 11, 2022 By: /s/ Desiree A. Kramer
Desiree A. Kramer

Chief Executive Officer


